

Investigating Service Users' and Therapists' Beliefs and Attitudes Regarding Evidence-Based Practice and Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Ian Johnson

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Doctor of Clinical Psychology at the University of Sheffield

The results, discussions and conclusions presented herein are identical to those in the printed version. This electronic version of the thesis has been edited solely to ensure conformance with copyright legislation and all excisions are noted in the text. The final, awarded and examined version is available for consultation via the University Library. Appendices I and J, the Toronto Empathy Scale and the Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale – Short Form, have been removed from the research report section of

the thesis.

Clinical Psychology Unit Department of Psychology The University of Sheffield

Submitted May 2020

This page intentionally left blank

Declaration

I declare that this work has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Sheffield or any other institution. This thesis is my own original work and all other sources have been referenced accordingly.

Word Count

Literature Review

Excluding references and tables	6, 701	
Including references and tables	13, 624	

Research Report

Excluding references and tables	7, 997
Including references and tables	12, 187

Total

Excluding references and tables	15, 549
Including references and tables	26, 751

Overall Abstract

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) is a widely used psychotherapy. CBT has a large evidence base indicating its effectiveness for a range of psychological difficulties. However, research has indicated that CBT is frequently not offered to service users who might benefit from it. Furthermore, CBT that is offered is often of poor quality, with therapists failing to use evidence-based techniques. It has been suggested that research into therapists' beliefs about Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) and CBT might provide insight into the under-provision of high-quality CBT. Additionally, research into service users' beliefs about CBT could provide insight into whether these beliefs are similar or different to therapists' beliefs. The similarity of service users' and therapists' beliefs has implications as to whether service users' preferences for therapy are understood and acknowledged by therapists. This thesis aimed to contribute to research in this area by investigating service users' and therapists' beliefs and attitudes regarding EBP and CBT.

The first part of the thesis reports a systematic literature review and metaanalyses. These explored the link between therapists' beliefs and attitudes regarding EBP and therapists' usage of EBP CBT. Nineteen studies were included within the systematic review and seven studies were included within each of two meta-analyses. Results indicated associations between therapists' attitudes or beliefs towards EBP and therapists' use of EBP CBT in most studies. Effect sizes varied from small to large, although the majority were small. Associations were found for both positive and negative attitudes and beliefs. Associations were found for attitudes towards EBP overall, as well as beliefs regarding specific EBP CBT techniques. Meta-analyses found a significant association between therapist openness to EBP and EBP CBT use, but not between intuitive appeal of EBP and EBP CBT use.

vii

The second part of the thesis reports a quantitative research study. This study explored the beliefs of therapists and service users on the importance of alliance and adherence to techniques across three stages of CBT. Therapists were also asked to predict service users' beliefs regarding alliance and adherence importance. Results indicated that therapists view adherence and alliance as more important than service users do, with the largest discrepancy found over alliance in early therapy. Therapists were also found to accurately predict service users' beliefs about the alliance. However, therapists underestimated the importance of adherence to service users. Personal characteristics and experiences of CBT were found to be associated with therapists' and service users' beliefs, respectively.

Taken together, both parts of the thesis suggest that therapists' beliefs about EBP and CBT can impact their delivery of CBT. Furthermore, therapists might hold different beliefs about CBT than service users. Therapists might also make incorrect assumptions regarding the nature of service users' beliefs about therapy. These differences in beliefs and incorrect assumptions could have important clinical implications, as therapists' beliefs might be influencing them to deliver therapy that is incongruent with service users' preferences.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank everyone who has helped promote or participate in this research project. I am grateful for your time and input.

I am also grateful to all my colleagues who have supported me through the research process, including Tony Whiting, Jenny Richards, Victoria Owen, Dave Saxon and Filippo Varese. Special thanks to my supervisor Professor Glenn Waller, whose expertise, guidance and assistance have been invaluable.

Additional thanks to my fellow trainees for their help and friendship, particularly Amber Dugdale and Jess Furlong-Silva.

Finally, thank you to all my friends and family for their support and encouragement, particularly Sally, James, Hannah and my parents.

Contents

Access to Thesis Formiii		
Declaration	V	
Word Count	vi	
Literature Review	vi	
Research Report	vi	
Total	vi	
Overall Abstract	vii	
Acknowledgements	ix	
Contents	Х	

rt One: Literature Review1
There an Association between Therapists' Attitudes Towards and Use of
idence-Based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A Review and Meta-Analyses 1
stract2
roduction4
ns6
ethod7
Search Strategy7
Planned Analysis11
Quality Assessment

Results14
Search Results14
Study Characteristics16
Measures Used21
Results of Quality Assessment21
Interrater Reliability21
Final Quality Ratings22
Data Extraction25
Narrative Summary35
Meta-Analyses
Primary Meta-Analyses37
Publication Bias Assessment41
Secondary Sensitivity Analyses43
Discussion47
Comparison of Results to Previous Research47
Contribution of Results to Psychological Theory48
Limitations
Directions of Future Research51
Clinical Implications
Conclusion54
References
Appendix A – PROSPERO Protocol71

Appendix B – Search Strategy	83
Appendix C - Downs and Black Quality Assessment Checklist	86
Appendix D – Evidence-Based Practice Attitudes / Belief Measures	89
Appendix E – Evidence-Based Practice Usage / Adherence Measures	.93

Part Two: Research Report95	
An Investigation into the Perceived Importance of Alliance and Adherence within	
Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A Comparison of Service Users' and Therapists'	
Beliefs95	
Abstract96	
Introduction	
How Important is the Therapeutic Alliance?	
Alliance, Early Symptom Change and Outcomes in Cognitive Behavioural	
Therapy	
The Role of Adherence in CBT	
The Importance of Therapists' Beliefs and Their Impact on Therapy101	
Which Therapists Are More Likely to Engage in Therapist Drift and Why?	
Are Therapists Making Incorrect Assumptions Regarding Service Users'	
Beliefs?103	
The Need for Further Research	
Aims and Hypotheses105	
Method	

Ethics106
Design
Participants108
Procedure111
Measures112
CBT Component Importance Questionnaires112
Empathy
Intolerance of Uncertainty113
Demographic Data and CBT Experience114
Data Analysis114
Aim One
Aim Two
Aim Three115
Results
Aim One117
Hypothesis One117
Hypothesis Two117
Aim Two
Hypothesis Three119
Hypothesis Four119
Aim Three
Hypothesis Five124

Hypothesis Six127
Discussion130
Comparison of Results to Previous Research130
Current Results and their Relation to Psychological Theory
Why Do Therapists View Adherence and Alliance as More Important Than
Service Users Do?132
Why Do Therapists and Service Users Disagree About Early Alliance? .133
Why Do Therapists Underestimate the Importance of Adherence to Service
Users?
Why are Therapists' Characteristics and Service Users' Experiences of
CBT Associated with Beliefs About Alliance and Adherence Importance? 134
Limitations
Future Research137
Clinical Implications138
Conclusion139
References
Appendix A: Ethical Approval Letter155
Appendix B: Information Sheets156
Appendix C: Online Consent Form165
Appendix D: Debrief Information168
Appendix E: Study Advertisements170
Appendix F: Screening Questionnaires174

Appendix G: CBT Component Importance Questionnaire for Service Users175
Appendix H: CBT Component Importance Questionnaire for Therapists180
Appendix I: The Toronto Empathy Questionnaire189
Appendix J: The Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale – Short Form190
Appendix K: Demographic and CBT Improvement Questions191
Appendix L: Normality Data and Plots for Aims One and Two193
Appendix M: Multicollinearity, Variance, Homoscedacity, Linearity, Residual
Normality and Outlier Data and Plots for Aim Three204
Appendix N: Research Contract

Part One: Literature Review

Is There an Association between Therapists' Attitudes Towards and Use of Evidence-Based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A Review and Meta-Analyses

Abstract

Objective: Delivery of Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) is an important aim for healthcare services, including providers of psychological therapy. EBP therapies, such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), are often under-used. One factor theorised to influence therapists' use of EBP is therapists' attitudes and beliefs about EBP. The current systematic review and meta-analyses sought to investigate whether there is an association between therapists' attitudes and beliefs regarding EBP and their use of EBP within the context of CBT.

Method: Systematic literature searches were conducted using Psychinfo, Medline and Scopus databases. Search terms were variations on attitude or belief, CBT, EBP and therapist. Studies were included if they reported quantitative data on the association between therapists' attitudes or beliefs regarding EBP and therapists' reported use of EBP CBT. All eligible studies were assessed for quality. A narrative synthesis was completed. Random effects meta-analyses were also conducted on studies associating Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS) Openness and Appeal subscales with EBP CBT use.

Results: Nineteen eligible studies were included within the review, with seven studies in each of the meta-analyses. The narrative synthesis found an association between therapist attitudes or beliefs towards EBP and use of EBP in approximately two-thirds of the studies. Effect sizes varied from small to large, although the majority of effects were small. Associations were found for both positive and negative attitudes or beliefs. A notable subset of papers found consistent associations between therapists' beliefs relating to exposure in CBT and therapists' use of exposure. Meta-analyses found a significant association between EBPAS Openness to EBP and EBP CBT use (r = 0.24 [CI 0.09 – 0.39]), but not between EBPAS Appeal of EBP and EBP CBT use.

Meta-analyses were limited by high heterogeneity and small number of included studies.

Conclusion: Results supported the theory that therapists' attitudes and beliefs about EBP are associated with therapists' use of EBP, within the context of CBT. Specifically, openness to EBP and beliefs about specific techniques, such as exposure, were more consistently associated with EBP CBT use. This has clinical implications for the promotion of EBP CBT within services. However, these results should be interpreted in light of the review limitations, such as the variable quality of included studies and high heterogeneity of meta-analyses.

Practitioner Points:

- Fostering positive attitudes and beliefs regarding EBP approaches and techniques (such as openness) and challenging negative attitudes and beliefs regarding EBP approaches and techniques might be associated with increased EBP CBT use.
- The association between EBP attitudes or beliefs and EBP use might vary in strength and consistency. Clinicians are encouraged to consider how other factors might influence this association (such as interpersonal, social and workplace contexts).

Introduction

The process of Evidence-Based Practice (EBP) has been described by Sackett, Rosenberg, Gray, Haynes, and Richardson (1996) as "the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions about the care of individual patients". This definition was later expanded by Sackett et al. (2000) to include three key components for optimal clinical decision-making. These components were the incorporation of patient choice, clinician expertise and the best available research evidence.

Although originating within the context of Evidence-Based Medicine (Sackett et al., 1996), pursuit of EBP has become an important driver across a range of healthcare settings. Widespread adoption of EBP as a goal is due to the intended benefits of EBP for healthcare stakeholders. For example, EBP aims to improve quality and accountability of healthcare services by offering interventions with the highest chance of a successful outcome, rather than less effective interventions based on clinician preference (Spring, 2007). Promotion of the most effective interventions also aims to improve efficiency of healthcare costs, a key consideration for the United Kingdom's publicly funded National Health Service (McCartney & Finnikin, 2019).

The intended benefits of EBP make its pursuit an important consideration for all healthcare services, including those delivering psychological therapies. The value of EBP was recognised by the American Psychological Association (APA) in 2005, when they adopted the three-component model of EBP as official policy (APA, 2005). Within Britain, EBP has also been endorsed by the British Psychological Society (2017), the British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (2017) and the British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy (2018). Cognitive Behavioural Therapy is a noteworthy example of a widely endorsed evidence-based psychological therapy. CBT is a recommended treatment for a range of mental health problems, supported by numerous research trials indicating its effectiveness (David et al., 2018; Hofmann et al., 2012). Despite this, CBT is frequently not delivered to service users in routine care, even when this intervention is supported by the evidence base (Shafran et al., 2009). Furthermore, the CBT that is delivered is often of poor quality, for example, consisting of fewer sessions than the number indicated as effective by research (Kessler et al., 2007). Additionally, when therapists do deliver CBT in name, they can frequently deviate from protocols and techniques supported by the evidence base (Waller, 2009; Waller & Turner, 2016).

In order to provide high-quality EBPs such as CBT, the factors influencing delivery of EBP must be understood. Where there are barriers to provision of EBP, these should be investigated and addressed. Beliefs and attitudes of clinicians towards EBP have been suggested as an important influencing factor (Shafran et al., 2009; Waller & Turner, 2016). A central idea within CBT is the notion that beliefs and emotions can influence behaviour (Beck, 2011). Therefore, clinicians' negative beliefs and attitudes towards EBP, the likes of which have been noted and challenged in the research (Lilienfeld et al., 2013; Weisz et al., 2005), might play a role in the lack of EBP delivery. Conversely, positive beliefs and attitudes towards EBP might be associated with increased usage of EBP.

However, links between beliefs, attitudes and behaviour cannot be assumed without investigation. For example, clinicians might hold internal negative beliefs and attitudes about EBP but feel pressured into using EBPs by external factors. Alternatively, clinicians might hold positive beliefs and attitudes about EBP but other factors, such as practical constraints, might prevent clinicians from using EBPs. In a

5

meta-analytic review, Kraus (1995) established a substantial relationship between attitudes and related future behaviour. However, he also cautioned against considering attitudes and behaviour to be synonymous, noting the role of other factors in moderating the relationship. The Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB; Ajzen, 1991), which has received empirical support (Armitage & Conner, 2001), also establishes the role of beliefs and attitudes in influencing behaviour. However, the TPB additionally recognises the role of other factors in shaping behaviour, such as subjective norms and the degree to which individuals perceive they have control over their actions.

The purpose of the current review is to investigate the link between attitudes, beliefs, and action, specifically within the context of EBP CBT. This investigation will provide information on the role and importance of EBP-related beliefs and attitudes, when considering EBP CBT use and adherence. Therefore, the findings of this review will have clinical implications for the importance of encouraging or challenging cognitive behavioural therapists' attitudes and beliefs, in order to promote EBP CBT delivery.

Aims

The specific aims of this review are:

- To investigate whether there is an association between CBT therapists' self-reported attitudes or beliefs regarding the nature of EBP and their usage of EBP CBT.
- To investigate whether there are differences in the associations between attitudes/beliefs and EBP CBT use, depending on the type of attitude/belief or EBP CBT use measured.

• To determine the strength of the associations between attitudes/beliefs and EBP CBT use via meta-analytic techniques.

Method

Search Strategy

Prior to the search, a protocol for the review was written and submitted to the review database PROSPERO (Booth et al., 2012). See Appendix A for PROSPERO protocol.

The PsycINFO, Medline and Scopus databases were searched on the 1st of November 2019. No start date was specified, although Medline covers articles from 1946 and PsycINFO from 1806. Scopus retrieved articles from 1805 onwards. Search terms related to beliefs and attitudes, CBT, EBP and therapists are detailed in Table 1. Terms were searched within the article abstract, title or key words. See Appendix B for full search strategy. Additional papers were identified through 'fingertip searches' of relevant studies' reference lists. Identified papers were then hierarchically screened against the exclusion and inclusion criteria detailed in Table 2, according to title, abstract and then full text. Papers were included if they met all inclusion criteria and excluded if they met any exclusion criteria.

Table 1

Search terms employed during literature search

	Search terms relating to	Search terms relating to CBT	Search terms relating to EBP	Search terms relating to
	attitudes and beliefs			therapists
1	Cognition*	• CBT	 "Evidence-Base*" 	 Psychologist*
	• Thought*	 "Cognitive Behavio* 	• Evidence	• "*therapist*"
	• Belie*	*Therap*"	• EBT	Practitioner*
	• Prefer*	• "Behavio* *Therap*"	• EBP	• "Mental Health
	• Attitude*		• "Empirically-supported	Worker*"
~~			treatment*"	Clinician*
h Oł			• "Empirically supported	
l wit			treatment*"	
oinec			• EST	
Coml	Combined with AND			

Table 2

Inclusion and exclusion criteria for articles

permitted. No limitation on length or type of therapy training is

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
• Published studies.	• The grey literature (e.g dissertation abstracts).
• Articles in English.	• Articles not in English.
• Studies must include a quantitative measure of therapists' attitudes or	• Qualitative research.
subjective beliefs towards EBP in general, a specific EBP (e.g. Trauma	• Studies published after 01/11/19 (date of search).
Focused CBT) or an element of EBP (e.g. use of exposure within CBT)	• Studies with EBP attitude/belief measures focusing solely
• EBP attitude/belief measures must focus on therapists' appraisal of EB	Ps on therapists' objective knowledge about EBPs and their
and their subjective qualities (e.g. their importance, suitability, pros and	d components (e.g. whether various approaches are
cons of use, qualities of the EBP that are facilitators or barriers to	evidence-based or not) or beliefs about their own ability or
implementation etc.).	competency to apply EBPs.
• Within studies, therapists must be recruited from professional contexts	• Studies with implementation, adherence or utilisation
involving regular work with individuals with mental health difficulties	measures focusing solely on alternatives to EBP.
(e.g. private practice, community mental health teams, mental health	
clinicians within schools). Self-identified therapists from different	
professional backgrounds (e.g. clinical psychologist, nurse etc.) are	

specified.

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
 Inclusion criteria Studies must include a quantitative measure of therapists' reported use of or adherence to an evidence-based Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (e.g. a type of evidence-based CBT or specific evidence-based CBT technique(s)). Reported use of or adherence to CBT must refer to actual clinical practice within an evidence-based context (e.g. use of CBT for anxiety in adults). Studies must report quantitative data linking therapists' EBP attitudes or beliefs to their reported use of, or adherence to, EBP (e.g. correlations, prediction of group membership etc.) For the meta-analysis, studies will be included if they report data on Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS) 'Openness' and 'Appeal' subscales. 	 Exclusion criteria Reported use of or adherence to CBT is not contextualised in relation to a specific client group and/or target problem/diagnosis (e.g. 'CBT in general practice') Implementation, adherence or utilisation measures refer solely to reported intention to implement EBP or hypothetical adoption of EBP. For example, in response to a vignette or simulated practice via role-play, rather than actual clinical practice. Multiple EBPs, including non-CBT EBPs, are reported on but not separated within the analysis. Therefore, the available data linking EBP attitudes or beliefs to their usage does not refer solely to CBT EBPs. For the meta-analysis, studies will be excluded if they do not report data allowing effect sizes to be converted into the r family, thus preventing comparisons between studies.

Planned Analysis

A preliminary scoping search revealed several different measures of therapists' attitudes and beliefs regarding EBP. There was also a preponderance of studies using the Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS; Aarons, 2004). It was decided that non-EBPAS results would be summarised via a narrative synthesis. Meta-analyses would also be conducted on EBPAS studies, specifically focusing on EBPAS Openness and Acceptance subscales. The Openness subscale measures individuals' openness to using new EBPs. The Appeal subscale measures the intuitive appeal individuals feel towards EBPs. Thus, these subscales represent intrinsic attitudes regarding the nature of EBP and are particularly relevant to the aims of this review. EBPAS Requirements and Divergence subscales were not included in meta-analyses. These subscales incorporate responses to external factors, such as current practice, service structures and requirements, rather than focusing solely on intrinsic attitudes towards the nature of EBP itself. They are therefore less relevant to the aims of this review.

The meta-analysis was performed using the online software 'Meta-Essentials' (Suurmond et al., 2017). A random effects model was used, as there was variation across study characteristics and therefore no single underlying true effect size could be assumed (Borenstein et al., 2009). Where statistical associations between EBPAS Appeal or Openness scores and EBP usage were reported, these were extracted and included in the meta-analyses. As data were taken from multiple regression models, meta-analyses on partial correlational data were performed, in order to partial out the effects of other variables within the regression models (Aloe, 2014). For studies to be included in the meta-analyses they were required to report sample size, number of predictors within a regression model, and the partial correlation and/or standardised beta weight of the predictor of interest. As the distributional behaviours of Fisher's transformed

11

values of partial correlations are not well known, Fisher's z transformation was not performed (Van Rhee, Suurmond, & Hak 2015).

The degree of heterogeneity between studies included in the meta-analyses was estimated using the Q-statistic and I² value. The Q-statistic is the weighted sum of squared differences between observed effects and the weighted average effect. Significance of the Q statistic indicates heterogeneity, which can be further investigated with reference to I². I² estimates the proportion of observed variance reflecting true differences in effect size, expressed as a percentage (Borenstein et al., 2009). As suggested by Higgins, Thompson, Deeks, and Altman (2003), I² values of 25%, 50% and 75% were considered to represent low, moderate and high heterogeneity respectively. Publication bias was assessed using funnel plots and Egger's regression test, assessing funnel plot symmetry (Egger et al., 1997).

Quality Assessment

A scoping search revealed studies that primarily employed explorative survey methods, measuring clinicians' views on EBP and therapeutic practices at a single time point. Protogerou and Hagger (2019) have noted the lack of a specialist quality assessment tool for these types of studies, with quality assessment of experimental designs being easier to conduct. They noted that previous reviews of survey studies have adapted existing quality assessment tools (Godfrey et al., 2015; Hagger et al., 2017; Hoffmann et al., 2017; Pantelic et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2017; Young et al., 2014). This approach was used in the current review, with the Downs and Black (1998) checklist adopted as the basis for quality assessment. This tool addresses both internal and external validity as well as quality of reporting and statistical power of studies. It covers the relevant quality assessment criteria given in the aforementioned reviews. Furthermore, it has been assessed by Deeks et al. (2003) as one of the best quality assessment tools for non-randomised studies, according to its scope, comprehensiveness and ease of use. See Appendix C for the full checklist.

Regarding the adaptations to the Downs and Black (1998) checklist, as per previous research (O'Connor et al., 2015), a simplification to item 27 was made whereby one point was allocated if the study was reported to have adequate power to detect a significant effect. Furthermore, some items were marked as 'not applicable' for given studies and removed from the quality assessment total. These included, for example, questions regarding randomisation and blinding of participant allocation to intervention groups when no such groups were used. Therefore, studies were scored between 0 to a maximum of 18-28 points. For comparison, quality scores were also reported as a percentage of maximum possible quality rating for each study. Qualitative quality ratings were adapted from O'Connor et al. (2015) and defined as 'Excellent' quality (85-100%), 'Good' (68-84%), 'Fair' (51-67%), or 'poor' (50% or less).

Inclusion of low-quality papers can bias the conclusions of systematic reviews, although excluding papers on grounds of quality can also limit the clinical applicability of results. Therefore, Meline (2006) suggests using an intermediate approach. Following quality assessment, it was deemed that lower-quality studies would be excluded from the review if there was a significant 'gap' in assessed quality, representing a difference of greater than 10% in quality percentage scores.

To establish interrater reliability of quality assessment scores, a subset of four studies (21.1%) were assessed for quality by an independent rater. This independent rater was a doctoral clinical psychology trainee. Scores from the primary researcher and independent rater were then compared using the Cohen's kappa statistic. The Cohen's kappa statistic was interpreted with reference to the agreement values specified in

13

McHugh (2012), whereby 0-0.2 is considered no agreement, 0.21-0.39 is minimal, 0.40-0.59 is weak, 0.60-0.79 is moderate, 0.80-0.90 is strong and above 0.90 is almost perfect agreement. It was agreed that if a kappa value of less than 0.80 was obtained, further discussion of the quality assessment ratings would take place, followed by rerating the same subset of papers to establish if a greater consensus had been reached.

Results

Search Results

Database searches identified 1605 articles. Duplicate articles were removed. Articles were then screened by title, then abstract and finally full text. Four additional articles were identified from 'fingertip searches', i.e. reviewing the references lists of full text articles screened. In total, 19 articles were included for quality assessment. See the PRISMA diagram in Figure 1 for full details of the search process.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009) diagram detailing literature search process

Study Characteristics

The majority of therapists were recruited from community or outpatient settings. Therapists' specified client group was children or youth in 13 papers, adults in three papers, and individuals of no specified age group in five papers. Eleven studies investigated the use of a type of CBT for specific client groups or conditions, whereas six studies focused on the use of exposure techniques within CBT specifically. Trauma-Focused CBT was specifically considered in two papers. Other individual papers reported on the use of the cognitive and/or behavioural therapies of Prolonged Exposure, Cognitive Processing Therapy, Stress Inoculation Training and Community Reinforcement Approach. Anxiety was the most commonly listed therapy focus, with seven papers discussing use of therapy for anxiety and five focusing on Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or trauma specifically. Other problems noted in papers included depression, substance use and addiction. Regarding location, 13 studies were conducted in the United States, with others based in the United Kingdom, The Netherlands, Canada, Germany or internationally. For further study details, see Table 3.

Table 3

Study details

Paper	Location	Clinicians (n)	Area / client group	Evidence-based CBT
Allen and Crosby (2014)	Across the United States	Youth community mental health clinicians (n=285)	Neglected and abused children, 12 years or younger	CBT with children who have experienced trauma
Becker-Haimes et al. (2017)	Philadelphia, United States	Youth community mental health clinicians (n=335)	Youth with anxiety	Use of exposure within CBT for anxious youth
Becker-Haimes, Williams, Okamura, and Beidas (2019)	Philadelphia, United States	Youth community mental health clinicians (n=247)	Youth with varying mental health difficulties	CBT with youth
Beidas et al. (2014)	Northeast United States	Youth community mental health clinicians who attended training on CBT for youth anxiety (n=115).	Youth (aged 8-17) with anxiety	CBT with anxious youth
Beidas et al. (2015)	Philadelphia, United States	Youth and child community mental health clinicians (n=130)	Youth with varying mental health difficulties	CBT with youth

Paper	Location	Clinicians (n)	Area / client group	Evidence-based CBT
Beidas et al. (2017)	Philadelphia, United States	Youth outpatient behavioural health service clinicians (n=247)	Youth and children with varying mental health difficulties	CBT with youth
Czincz and Romano (2013)	Ontario, Canada	Youth and child psychologists and psychological associates (n=231)	Youth and children with experience of sexual abuse	TF-CBT
Finley et al. (2018)	Texas, United States	Community psychotherapy providers (n=463)	Adult military veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder	PE, CPT or SIT
Gray, Elhai and Schmidt (2007)	International	Members of the International Society of Traumatic Stress Studies and self-identified trauma professionals (n=461)	Individuals with trauma	CBT for individuals with trauma
Kolko, Cohen, Mannarino, Baumann, and Knudsen (2009)	Across the United States	Community practitioners from National Child Traumatic Stress Network treatment programmes, who attended training in TF- CBT for child trauma (n=401)	Youth and children with experience of sexual abuse	CBT with children who have experienced sexual abuse, including the use of gradual exposure
Kraan, Dijkstra, and Markus (2018)	The Netherlands	Outpatient therapists from two addiction centres (n=69)	Individuals with addiction difficulties	CRA

Paper	Location	Clinicians (n)	Area / client group	Evidence-based CBT
Lewis and Simons (2011)	Oregon, United States	Community therapists who attended training on CBT for depression (n=24)	Youth and adults with depression	CBT for depression
Parker and Waller (2017)	United Kingdom	Clinicians from the British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies, British Psychological Society and UK teaching workshops (n=280)	Individuals with anxiety	CBT for anxiety
Pemberton et al. (2017)	Arkansas, United States	Child clinicians from community and inpatient mental health centres, child advocacy centres, medical centres, private practice and schools who attended TF-CBT training (n=178)	Children with trauma	TF-CBT, including consultation calls
Pittig, Kotter, and Hoyer (2019)	Germany	Behavioural psychotherapists working in outpatient routine care (n=684)	Individuals with anxiety	Use of exposure within CBT for anxiety
Reid et al. (2018)	Across the United States	Youth and child private practice therapists (n=257)	Youth and children (aged 7- 17) with anxiety	CBT for anxiety including use of exposure

Paper	Location	Clinicians (n)	Area / client group	Evidence-based CBT
Sars and Minnen (2015)	The Netherlands	CBT therapists or trainee therapists from the Dutch Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapists (n=490)	Individuals with social anxiety, phobia, panic and/or obsessive-compulsive disorder	Use of exposure within CBT for anxiety
Whiteside, Deacon, Benito, and Stewart (2016)	Minnesota, United States	Child outpatient clinicians (n=331)	Children with anxiety	Use of exposure within CBT for anxiety
Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015)	Philadelphia, United States	Clinicians who had attended CBT training in work with adults (n=27) or children (n=50)	Adults with depression and co-occurring problems and children with anxiety	CBT for adult depression, anxiety and substance use and CBT for child anxiety

Key: CBT=Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, CRA=Community Reinforcement Approach, CPT=Cognitive Processing Therapy, PE=Prolonged

Exposure, SIT=Stress Inoculation Training, TF-CBT=Trauma Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Measures Used

The most commonly used measure of therapist attitudes and/or beliefs regarding EBP was the EBPAS (Aarons, 2004). The EBPAS was used in 10 studies. Seven of these studies reported all four subscales. A further study reported Requirements, Appeal and Openness subscales, but not Divergence. The final two reported EBPAS total scores, but not the subscales. Another measure used in multiple studies was the Therapist Beliefs about Exposure Scale (TBES; Deacon et al., 2013), which was used in three studies. Several other measures were used in individual studies. See Appendix D for a full list of the therapist attitude/belief measures used.

The most commonly used measure of therapist EBP CBT usage or adherence was the Therapy Procedures Checklist—Family Revised (TPC-FR; Weersing, Weisz, & Donenberg, 2002), which was used in six studies. Other measures were used in individual studies. See Appendix D for a full list of CBT use/adherence measures.

Results of Quality Assessment

Interrater Reliability

Initial comparisons of quality assessment ratings on a subsection of four papers were conducted. These indicated a 'minimal' level of interrater reliability between the primary and independent raters, with a kappa statistic of 0.30 (McHugh, 2012). Discussion between the raters revealed inconsistency in the interpretation of several items on the Downs and Black checklist (1998). Areas of disagreement mostly related to the application of the checklist within the context of survey research. Disagreements were explored and a consensus between the raters was reached. Disagreements included what constituted clear inclusion and exclusion criteria (checklist item 3), that items referencing an 'intervention' (items 4, 19) were interpreted as referring to the EBP CBT intervention rather than the completion of the survey and that items referencing followup data (items 9, 26) were not applicable for studies which did not indicate a follow-up. After discussions, the same subset of four papers were re-rated for quality by the primary researcher and independent rater. Quality ratings were once again compared, revealing a kappa statistic of 0.96, indicating 'almost perfect' interrater reliability (McHugh, 2012). All papers were then assessed for quality by the primary researcher, according to the consensus reached between raters.

Final Quality Ratings

Quality percentage ratings varied from 45% - 78%, with most studies rated 'Fair' (nine studies) or 'Good' (seven studies). Three studies were rated 'poor'. However, there was a smooth continuum between quality scores with no gaps higher than a 10% quality percentage rating. As such, no studies were excluded on the grounds of quality. Common quality limitations included a lack of reporting on potential adverse effects of the study, lack of clarity around whether the sample of therapists chosen was representative of the wider population and lack of exact probability values in reporting. The degree to which studies were sufficiently powered was also frequently deemed undeterminable. See Table 4 for full details of quality assessment
Table 4.

Downs and Black (1998) Quality Assessment

Study	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11	Q12	Q13	Q14	Q15	Q16	Q17	Q18
Allen and Crosby (2014)	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	No	N/A	N/A	UTD	N/A	Yes
Becker-Haimes et al. (2017)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	Yes	No	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Becker-Haimes et al. (2019)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	No	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Beidas et al. (2014)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	UTD	UTD	UTD	No	Yes	Yes	UTD	Yes
Beidas et al. (2015)	Yes	No	N/A	No	UTD	UTD	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Beidas et al. (2017)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	UTD	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Czincz and Romano (2013)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	Yes	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Finley et al. (2018)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Gray et al (2007)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	N/A	No	UTD	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	UTD	N/A	Yes
Kolko et al. (2009)	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Kraan et al (2018)	Yes	No	N/A	No	UTD	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Lewis and Simons (2011)	Yes	No	No	No	UTD	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Parker and Waller (2017)	Yes	No	N/A	Yes	UTD	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Pemberton et al. (2017)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	UTD	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	UTD	Yes
Pittig et al. (2019)	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes						
Reid et al. (2018)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	N/A	No	UTD	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes
Sars and van Minnen (2015)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	N/A	N/A	UTD	N/A	Yes
Whiteside et al. (2016)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	Yes	N/A	N/A	UTD	N/A	Yes
Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Р	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	UTD	UTD	UTD	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes

Study	Q19	Q20	Q21	Q22	Q23	Q24	Q25	Q26	Q27	Quality Total	Quality Percentage	Quality Rating
Allen and Crosby (2014)	N/A	UTD	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	9/18	50%	Poor
Becker-Haimes et al. (2017)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	No	11/18	61%	Fair
Becker-Haimes et al. (2019)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	11/18	61%	Fair
Beidas et al. (2014)	Yes	UTD	Yes	UTD	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	15/28	54%	Fair
Beidas et al. (2015)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	13/18	72%	Good
Beidas et al. (2017)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	13/18	72%	Good
Czincz and Romano (2013)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	Yes	13/18	72%	Good
Finley et al. (2018)	N/A	UTD	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	12/18	67%	Fair
Gray et al (2007)	N/A	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	N/A	UTD	10/22	45%	Poor
Kolko et al. (2009)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	14/18	78%	Good
Kraan et al (2018)	N/A	No	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	13/18	72%	Good
Lewis and Simons (2011)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	UTD	No	No	10/20	50%	Poor
Parker and Waller (2017)	N/A	No	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	12/18	67%	Fair
Pemberton et al. (2017)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	No	Yes	UTD	12/20	60%	Fair
Pittig et al. (2019)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	13/18	72%	Good
Reid et al. (2018)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	UTD	N/A	UTD	12/18	67%	Fair
Sars and van Minnen (2015)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	13/18	72%	Good
Whiteside et al. (2016)	N/A	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes	N/A	UTD	11/18	61%	Fair
Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015)	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	14/26	54%	Fair

Key: N/A=Not Applicable, P=Partially, UTD=Unable To Determine,

Scoring: Maximum 28 points, although this varies between 18-28 according to methodology of selected studies.

Yes=1 point (or 2 points for Q5), Partially=1 point, No/UTD=0 points. N/A=Question removed from total.

Data Extraction

Results of the reviewed studies are included in Table 5. Effect sizes are presented as Pearson's r where this was possible. Data were converted to r using online effect size convertors (DeCoster, 2012; Wilson, n.d.). Standardised regression beta coefficients were converted using Peterson and Brown's (2005) formula. All reported beta coefficients fit the assumptions specified within this paper. Some studies reported effect sizes as unstandardized regression beta coefficients, or Spearman's *rho*, which could not be converted to Pearson's *r*.

Where correlations and regression analyses were both applied on variables within the same study, only regression analyses were reported. Likewise, only multivariate regression analyses were reported when these were subsequent to univariate analyses (e.g., Czincz & Romano, 2013), as these allow greater control for collinearity. Sars and Minnen (2015) reported data on several exposure techniques, although summarised key findings in Table 5 refer to therapist-directed in vivo exposure specifically, as this is noted as an optimal exposure technique (Reid et al., 2018). Table 5.

Summarised results of the studies included within the review

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Allen and Crosby [§] (2014)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence BASS Clinician-directed BASS Verbal capacity	TTS measuring self- reported selection of therapeutic techniques, including CBT techniques	Simultaneous regression analyses assessing predictors of CBT technique selection	EBPAS Requirements: 0.07, p=NS EBPAS Appeal: 0.21, p<0.05 EBPAS Openness: 0.33, p<0.001 EBPAS Divergence: -0.06, p=NS BASS Clinician-directed: 0.33, p<0.001 BASS Verbal capacity: 0.21, p<0.01
Becker- Haimes et al. [§] (2017)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence	TPC-FR measuring self- reported exposure use	Mixed effects regression models assessing predictors of exposure use. Exposure use reported as a continuous variable (the degree to which exposure is used) or a binary variable (whether exposure is used or not in routine practice).	<u>Continuous</u> EBPAS Requirements: -0.03, p=0.23 EBPAS Appeal: 0.26, p=0.58 EBPAS Openness: 0.54, p=0.15 EBPAS Divergence: -0.38, p=0.25 <u>Binary</u> EBPAS Requirements: 0.10, p=0.36 EBPAS Appeal: 0.09, p=0.65 EBPAS Openness: 0.34, p=0.06 EBPAS Divergence: 0.13, p=0.41

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Becker- Haimes, Williams, Okamura,	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness	TPC-FR measuring self- reported CBT technique use	Mixed effects regression modelling assessing predictors of CBT technique use.	Proficiency culture model EBPAS Requirements: <0.01 [†] p=NS EBPAS Appeal: <0.01 [†] , p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.17, p<0.01
and Beidas (2019)			Predictors were considered within three separate models of workplace climates: Proficiency culture (regarding norms and expectations to place the client first and be up- to-date with treatment practices), Functional culture (regarding the extent therapists understand their role in the organisation and complete work effectively) and Implementation culture (high focus on EBP)	Functional culture model EBPAS Requirements: 0.02 [†] p=NS EBPAS Appeal: -0.03 [†] , p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.21 [†] , p<0.01
Beidas et al. [§] (2014)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence CDAQ Opinion CDAQ Usefulness CDAQ Confidence CDAQ Motivation	Post-CBT training penetration (the percentage of anxious youth treated by CBT in a 3-month period) as measured by ITAY	Multiple regression assessing predictors of CBT penetration	EBPAS Requirements: 0.19, p=NS EBPAS Appeal: -0.16, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.12, p=NS EBPAS Divergence: 0.29, p=NS CDAQ Opinion: -0.22, p=NS CDAQ Usefulness: -0.05, p=NS CDAQ Confidence: 0.09, p=NS CDAQ Motivation: 0.25, p=NS

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Beidas et al. [§] (2015)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence	TPC-FR measuring self- reported CBT technique use	Linear mixed effects regression models establishing predictors of CBT technique usage	EBPAS Requirements: -0.02 p=NS EBPAS Appeal: 0.04, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.10, p<0.05 EBPAS Divergence: 0.07, p=NS
Beidas et al. [§] (2017)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence	TPC-FR measuring self- reported CBT technique use	Regression analyses predicting use of CBT techniques for clinicians participating and not participating in EBP city- sponsored initiatives	Participating in EBP initiatives EBPAS Requirements: -0.08 p=NS EBPAS Appeal: 0.02, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.23, p<0.01 EBPAS Divergence: 0.17, p=NS Not participating in EBP initiatives EBPAS Requirements: .0.08, p=NS EBPAS Appeal: -0.03, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.12, p=NS EBPAS Divergence: 0.04, p=NS
Czincz and Romano [§] (2013)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence	TPC-FR abbreviated, measuring self-reported CBT technique use	Regression model predicting TF-CBT technique usage	Regression model EBPAS Requirements: NR, p=NS EBPAS Appeal: 0.08, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.11, p=NS EBPAS Divergence: NR p=NS

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Finley et al. (2018)	Attitudes towards EBP scale and perceived barriers toward EBP scale	Self-reported usage (Yes/No) of PE, CPT or SIT with any previous service users with PTSD	Multivariable logistic regression predicting usage of PE, CPT or SIT	<u>CPT use</u> Attitudes to EBPs: 0.01, NS Perceived barriers to EBPs: 0.02, NS
				<u>PE use</u> Attitudes to EBPs: < 0.01, NS Perceived barriers to EBPs: 0.04, NS
				<u>SIT use</u> Attitudes to EBPs: 0.01, NS Perceived barriers to EBPs: 0.01, NS
Gray, Elhai and Schmidt (2007)	EBPAS total	Self-report of therapists' primary treatment approach to trauma cases	Independent t-tests comparing therapists with a self-reported primary approach of exposure- based CBT vs non-EBPs	EBPAS scores higher for EBP than non-EBP group: 0.27, p<0.01

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Kolko, Cohen, Mannarino, Baumann, and	Self-reported beliefs regarding the importance of cognitive restructuring and exposure for positive outcomes of treatment in child sexual abuse cases	Adapted TPC-FR measuring self-reported CBT technique use, with additional items to measure use of gradual exposure	Correlations between beliefs regarding importance of therapy techniques and use of CBT techniques	<u>Correlations</u> Importance of cognitive restructuring beliefs and use of cognitive therapy: 0.51, p<0.001
Knudsen (2009)	Self-reported positive	use of gradian exposure	Multiple linear regression identifying predictors of gradual exposure use	Importance of exposure beliefs and use of exposure: 0.31, p<0.001
	manuals as measured by five items adapted from the NSQ		graduai exposure use	Regression Treatment manual perspectives and use of exposure (NSQ): 0.22, p<0.001
Kraan, Dijkstra, and Markus (2018)	Percentage ratings of perceived difficulty and meaningfulness of CRA key techniques	CRA Survey of Use – self- reported delivery of CRA key parts	Spearman's correlations between therapists' perceived meaningfulness / difficulty of CRA techniques and their	<u>Use of reinforcers</u> Meaningfulness: 0.91 [‡] p<0.01 Difficulty: -0.25 ^{‡-} , p=0.02
()			reported usage of these techniques	<u>Use of homework</u> Meaningfulness: 0.82[‡], p<0.01 Difficulty: -0.15 [‡] , p=0.12
				<u>Use of role-play</u> Meaningfulness: 0.59 [‡] , p<0.01 Difficulty: -0.35 [‡] , p<0.01

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Lewis and Simons (2011)	MPAS total	Self-reported usage of CBT training and interventions pre- and 8 months post- CBT training	Pearson product-moment correlations between MPAS total and usage of CBT interventions	Pre-training: -0.06, p=NS Post-training follow-up: -0.07, P=NS
Parker and Waller (2017)	NACS total	Use of all CBT techniques, psychoeducation and general CBT techniques, cognitive techniques and behavioural techniques, as measured by the TMQ	Multiple linear regressions establishing if NACS scores predict use of CBT techniques	All CBT techniques: -0.41, p<0.001 Psychoeducation and general CBT techniques: -0.46, p<0.001 Cognitive techniques: -0.34, p<0.001 Behavioural techniques: -0.11, p=0.113
Pemberton et al. (2017)	EBPAS total	Number of TF-CBT consultation calls, number of cases presented during calls and number of TF- CBT online assessment tools used in 1 year	Multiple regression determining if EBP attitudes predicted TF-CBT utilisation volume, following removal of participants with no calls	Number of calls: 0.13 [†] , p=NS Number of cases: 0.02, p=NS Number of assessments: 0.20, p<0.05

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Pittig, Kotter, and Hoyer (2019)	TBES total	Self-reported percentage of cases in which exposure was used	Multiple linear regression determining if negative exposure beliefs predict exposure utilisation with and	<u>With therapist distress</u> Negative beliefs: -0.35, p<0.001 Without therapist distress
(2017)			without therapist distress (due to collinearity)	Negative beliefs: -0.21, p<0.001
Reid et al. (2018)	TBES total	Self-reported percentage of times therapy techniques, including exposure, were used throughout the previous year.	Linear regression determining if TBES scores predicted optimal exposure utilisation (therapist-assisted in vivo).	TBES: -0.52, p<0.001

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Sars and Minnen (2015)	Attitudes towards exposure scale, including 'Willingness' regarding use, beliefs about 'Treatment Credibility' and 'Personal Preference' of exposure subscales	Self-reported frequency (on a four-point Likert scale) of varying exposure techniques used for treatment of anxiety conditions. Techniques included therapist-directed in vivo exposure, introceptive exposure and exposure-based homework.	Spearman rank correlations determining association between therapist attitudes towards exposure and use of exposure techniques. Results on this table represent associations between therapists' exposure attitudes and use of therapist-directed in vivo exposure specifically.	Key findings – Use of therapist-directed in vivo exposure in treatment of:Social AnxietyWillingness: 0.34 [‡] , p<0.001

<u>OCD</u>

Willingness: 0.29[‡], p<0.001 Treatment Credibility: 0.20[‡], p<0.001 Personal Preference: 0.23[‡], p<0.001

Panic

Willingness: 0.30[‡], p<0.001 Treatment Credibility: 0.25[‡], p<0.001 Personal Preference: 0.25[‡], p<0.001

Paper	Evidence-Based Practice attitude / belief measures	Evidence-Based Practice usage / adherence measures	Statistical analysis	Relationship effect size and significance*
Whiteside, Deacon, Benito, and Stewart (2016)	TBES total	Self-reported usage and frequency (on a four-point Likert scale) of CBT techniques, including exposure	Logistic regression predicting dichotomous use of exposure (yes/no) and linear regression predicting use of exposure as proportion of total technique usage	Logistic regression Exposure (yes/no): -0.15 [†] , p<0.001 Linear regression Exposure continuous: -0.52, p<0.001
Wiltsey Stirman et al. [§] (2015)	EBPAS Requirements EBPAS Appeal EBPAS Openness EBPAS Divergence	Therapist fidelity to CBT protocols two years post- training ascertained via coded interviews	Hierarchical regression assessing predictors of fidelity- consistent CBT protocol modifications	EBPAS Requirements: 0.17, p=NS EBPAS Appeal: 0.16, p=NS EBPAS Openness: 0.26, p=0.051 EBPAS Divergence 0.10, p=NS

Key: BASS=Beliefs About Session Structure scale, CBT=Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, CDAQ=Clinician Demographics and Attitudes Questionnaire, CPT=Cognitive Processing Therapy, CRA=Community Reinforcement Approach, EBP=Evidence-Based Practice, EPBAS=Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale, ITAY=Identification and Treatment of Anxious Youth, MPAS=Modified Practice Attitudes Scale, NACS=Negative Attitudes towards CBT Scale, NR=Not Reported, NS=Not Significant, NSQ=National Survey Questionnaire, PE=Prolonged Exposure, PTSD=Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, SIT=Stress Inoculation Training, TBES=Therapist Beliefs about Exposure Scale, TF-CBT=Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, TMQ=Therapy Methods Questionnaire, TPC-FR=Therapy Procedures Checklist—Family Revised, TTS=Treatment Techniques Scale.

- § Studies included in meta-analysis
- * Effect sizes reported are Pearson's r unless otherwise stated. Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05
- [†] Effect size reported is unstandardized regression coefficient (B)
- ‡ Effect size reported is Spearman's rho

Narrative Summary

This review aimed to investigate whether there is an association between CBT therapists' self-reported attitudes or beliefs regarding the nature of EBP and their usage of EBP CBT. Significant associations between therapists' attitudes or beliefs and CBT use were found in thirteen papers, nearly two-thirds of the total papers reviewed. Therapists' positive attitudes or beliefs towards evidence-based practice, including positive beliefs about treatment manuals and specific therapeutic techniques (e.g., exposure and cognitive restructuring), were associated with increased EBP CBT use (Gray et al., 2007; Kolko et al., 2009; Kraan et al., 2018; Pemberton et al., 2017; Sars & Minnen, 2015). Therapists' negative attitudes and beliefs towards CBT and towards specific techniques (e.g., exposure) were associated with reduced EBP CBT use (Kraan et al., 2018; Parker & Waller, 2017; Pittig et al., 2019; Reid et al., 2018; Whiteside et al., 2016). However, some attitude measures were not associated with EBP CBT use, such as the CDAQ, MPAS and EBPAS divergence and requirements subscales (Allen & Crosby, 2014; Becker-Haimes et al., 2017, 2019; Beidas et al., 2014, 2015, 2017; Czincz & Romano, 2013; Finley et al., 2018; Lewis & Simons, 2011; Wiltsey Stirman et al., 2015).

This review also aimed to investigate whether there are differences in the associations between attitudes/beliefs and EBP CBT use, depending on the type of attitude/belief or EBP CBT use measured. To compare the strengths of associations found, Pearson's *r* and Spearman's *rho* effect sizes were interpreted using Cohen's (1988) guidelines. An effect size of 0.1 was considered small, 0.3 medium and 0.5 large. Most significant effect sizes were revealed to be small (51.4%) or medium (31.4%). However, large effect sizes were found for the association between negative beliefs about exposure and the reduced use of exposure in CBT (Reid et al., 2018;

Whiteside et al., 2016). Large effect sizes were also found for the association between beliefs in the importance of cognitive restructuring and the use of cognitive therapy. Finally, large positive associations were found between therapists' perceived meaningfulness of key therapy techniques and their delivery (Kolko et al., 2009; Kraan et al., 2018). As suggested by Field and Gillett (2010), significant *r* family effect sizes have been compiled into a stem and leaf plot – see Table 6.

Table 6.

Stem and leaf plot detailing significant Pearson's r and Spearman's rho effect sizes

Stem	Leaf	Interpretation
0.9	1*	
0.8	2*	
0.7		Large
0.6		
0.5	1,9*	
0.4		Madium
0.3	0*, 1, 3, 3, 4*, 7*	Medium
0.2	0, 0*, 0*, 1, 1, 2, 3, 3*, 4*, 5*, 5*, 5*, 7, 9*	
0.1	0, 8*	
0.0		Small
-0.1		
-0.2	1, 5*	
-0.3	4, 5, 5*	Medium
-0.4	1, 6	within
-0.5	2, 2	Large

Key: Figures marked with * denote Spearman's *rho*. All others are Pearson's *r*.

Meta-Analyses

Primary Meta-Analyses

An additional aim of the review was to determine the strength of the associations between attitudes/beliefs and EBP CBT use via meta-analytic techniques. To achieve this, two meta-analyses were conducted, investigating the link between EBPAS Appeal and Openness subscales and EBP CBT use. Seven studies were suitable for inclusion in each meta-analysis, with a combined sample size of 1420. Studies were selected according to their usage of EBPAS subscales and appropriate reported data (see Table 5). Becker-Haimes et al. (2019) was excluded as only unstandardized beta weights were reported. Standardised beta values were requested from the authors but not provided in time for inclusion. Becker-Haimes et al. (2017) reported regression models as a predictor of binary CBT use (yes or no) and continuous degree of CBT use. The continuous data were used within the meta-analysis as this was deemed a better representation of the aims of the review. Beidas et al. (2017) also reported two regression models, for therapists who did and did not participate in EBPAS initiatives. As both were deemed equally relevant, a mean of these outcomes was calculated and added to the meta-analysis (Borenstein et al., 2009).

The combined partial correlation effect size between EBPAS Appeal and EBP CBT use was r = 0.09 (95% confidence interval [-0.04 – 0.22]) and a two-tailed significance of p = 0.09. This indicates the lack of a statistically significant association between EBPAS Appeal and CBT use. The Q statistic was significant (Q = 22.79; p < 0.01), with the I² statistic (73.68%) indicating a moderate-to-high degree of true heterogeneity. See Figure 2 for a visual forest plot representation of these results.

37

The combined partial correlation effect size between EBPAS Openness and EBP CBT use was r = 0.24 (95% confidence interval [0.09 - 0.39]) and a two-tailed significance of p < 0.01. This indicates a small-to-medium but statistically significant association between EBPAS Openness and CBT. The Q statistic was significant (Q = 55.30; p < 0.01) and the I² statistic (89.15%) indicated a high degree of true heterogeneity. See Figure 3 for a visual forest plot representation of these results.

Study	Partial correlations and confidence intervals (graphical)							Partial correlations and confidence intervals (numerical)	Weight			
	-0.40	-0.30	-0.20	-0.10	0.00	0.10	0.20	0.30	0.40	0.50		
Allen and Creashy (2014)						F					0.21 (0.10 0.22)	16 570/
Allen and Crosby (2014)							F	•	-		0.21 (0.10 - 0.32)	10.37%
Becker-Halmes et al. (2017)	ŀ										0.26 (0.16 - 0.36)	17.23%
Beidas et al. (2014)											-0.16 (-0.35 - 0.03)	12.31%
Beidas et al. (2015)			F				1				0.04 (-0.16 - 0.24)	12.18%
Beidas et al. (2017)				F							-0.01 (-0.14 - 0.12)	15.60%
Czincz and Romano (2013)				ŀ							0.08 (-0.05 - 0.21)	15.61%
Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015)				⊢			•				0.16 (-0.07 - 0.39)	10.51%
Combined effect size					•	-0-					0.09 (-0.04 - 0.22)	

Figure 2. Forest plot depicting results of meta-analysis between EBPAS Appeal and EBP CBT use

Study	Partial correlations and confidence intervals (graphical)							Partial correlations and confidence intervals (numerical)	Weight			
	-0.20	-0.10	0.00	0.10	0.20	0.30	0.40	0.50	0.60	0.70		
Allen and Crosby (2014)					·						0.33 (0.22 - 0.44)	15.45%
Becker-Haimes et al. (2017)								—)I		0.54 (0.46 - 0.62)	16.01%
Beidas et al. (2014)		⊢									0.12 (-0.08 - 0.32)	13.14%
Beidas et al. (2015)											0.10 (-0.09 - 0.29)	13.17%
Beidas et al. (2017)				H	•	1					0.18 (0.05 - 0.31)	14.96%
Czincz and Romano (2013)					1						0.11 (-0.02 - 0.24)	14.88%
Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015)			⊢			•					0.26 (0.04 - 0.48)	12.40%
Combined effect size											0.24 (0.09 - 0.39)	

Figure 3. Forest plot depicting results of meta-analysis between EBPAS Openness and EBP CBT use

High levels of heterogeneity were reported in both meta-analyses. However, it should also be noted that the I^2 statistic can be biased in meta-analyses with small numbers of studies (Von Hippel, 2015). Therefore, the I^2 statistic in both meta-analyses might represent an over-estimation of heterogeneity.

Publication Bias Assessment

Funnel plots for the meta-analyses were prepared and inspected for evidence of publication bias. The EBPAS Appeal funnel plot (see Figure 4) indicated moderate symmetry. This conclusion was supported by the result of Egger's regression, which was non-significant (t = -1.10, p = 0.32), indicating a lack of publication bias.



Figure 4. EBPAS Appeal meta-analysis funnel plot

The EBPAS Openness funnel plot (see Figure 5) indicated moderate symmetry with one outlier (Becker-Haimes et al., 2017). Egger's regression however, was non-significant (t = -1.53, p = 0.19), indicating a lack of publication bias (Egger et al., 1997).



Figure 5. EBPAS Openness meta-analysis funnel plot

Secondary Sensitivity Analyses

Sensitivity analyses involve re-running meta-analyses following the removal of outlying studies. This allows for the robustness of findings to be investigated, as well as any key changes to findings to be observed (Borenstein et al., 2009). Within both EBPAS Appeal and Openness meta-analyses, three outlying studies were identified and removed in turn. Czincz and Romano (2013) was selected as the first outlier, due to its location. This study took place in Canada, as opposed to the rest of the studies in the meta-analysis, which took place in the United States. The second outlier was Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015). This study recruited therapists working with both adults and children. The other studies in the meta-analysis recruited therapists working solely with children and/or youth. The final outlier was Becker-Haimes et al. (2017). This study focused on therapists' use of exposure techniques specifically, as opposed to CBT usage more generally. This study was also a statistical outlier in the EBPAS Openness meta-analysis, reporting the highest partial correlation and confidence intervals that did not overlap with any other studies (see Figure 3). See Tables 7 and 8 for full results of these sensitivity analyses.

Removal of Czincz and Romano (2013) and Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015) did not have a major impact on findings, with EBPAS Appeal analyses still showing nonsignificant combined effect sizes. Removing Czincz and Romano (2013) and Wiltsey Stirman et al. (2015) for EBPAS Openness analyses showed small, significant combined effect sizes (r = 0.27, p < 0.001; r = 0.24, p = 0.01, respectively). Furthermore, Q-statistics remained significant and I² statistics showed a high degree of true heterogeneity despite the removal of these studies.

43

Removal of Becker-Haimes et al. (2017) from the EBPAS Appeal analysis did not change the non-significance of the combined effect size. However, it did remove a degree of heterogeneity from the analysis, with the Q-statistic still significant but I² indicating moderate true heterogeneity (Q = 13.45, p_Q = 0.02, I² = 62.82%). Furthermore, following the removal of Becker-Haimes et al. (2017), the EBPAS Openness analysis retained its small significant effect size (r = 0.19, p < 0.001). Heterogeneity was also reduced, with the Q-statistic no longer registering as significant and I² indicating a low-to-moderate level of true heterogeneity (Q = 9.66, p_Q = 0.09, I² = 48.23%). These results support the robustness of the primary meta-analyses findings. They also indicate that a degree of the heterogeneity found in the primary analyses might be accounted for by the inclusion of Becker-Haimes et al. (2017), with this study's focus on use of exposure, rather than general CBT use. Table 7.

EBPAS Appeal sensitivity analyses

Removed study	Reason for removal	Remaining studies total sample size	Combined effect size (partial correlation)	95% confidence interval	Q-statistic	I ²
Czincz and Romano (2013)	Study location (Canada)	1189	<i>r</i> = 0.09	-0.07 - 0.26	22.25*	77.53%
Wiltsey Stirman et al., (2015)	Client group demographics (adults and children)	1343	<i>r</i> = 0.08	-0.07 - 0.25	22.70*	77.97%
Becker-Haimes et al., (2017) Key: $* = n < 0.05$	Focus on exposure use	1085	<i>r</i> = 0.06	-0.08 - 0.19	13.45*	62.82%

Table 8.

EBPAS Openness sensitivity analyses

Removed study	Reason for removal	Remaining studies total sample size	Combined effect size (partial correlation)	95% confidence interval	Q-statistic	I ²
Czincz and Romano, 2013	Study location (Canada)	1189	<i>r</i> = 0.27*	0.09 - 0.44	42.69*	88.29%
Wiltsey Stirman et al., 2015	Client group demographics (adults and children)	1343	<i>r</i> = 0.24*	0.05 - 0.43	54.89*	90.89%
Becker-Haimes et al., (2017)	Focus on exposure use, statistical outlier	1085	r = 0.19*	0.09 - 0.30	9.66	48.23%
Key: $* = p < 0.05$						

Discussion

This review aimed to examine associations between therapists' attitudes and beliefs towards EBP and their use of EBP CBT. Therapists' attitudes/beliefs towards EBP were significantly associated with their use of EBP CBT in approximately twothirds of studies. Most associations were small-to-medium in size. Positive EBP attitudes/beliefs were associated with increased use of EBP CBT. Negative EBP attitudes/beliefs were associated with reduced use of EBP CBT. Meta-analyses revealed that therapists who were more open to EBP were more likely to use EBP CBT, but not those who found EBP more appealing.

Comparison of Results to Previous Research

The finding that EBP attitudes and beliefs are associated with EBP use corresponds to previous research. Several studies have found similar associations between EBP attitudes or beliefs and EBP use for other healthcare professionals, such as nurses (Melnyk et al., 2008; Pereira et al., 2018; Stokke et al., 2014), physicians (Hong & Chen, 2019) physical therapists, pharmacists and other allied health professionals (Weng et al., 2013).

The current findings are also in line with several previous reviews and metaanalyses, which have established more general associations between attitudes and related behaviours (Bamberg & Möser, 2007; Glasman & Albarracín, 2006; Hines et al., 1987; Kim & Hunter, 1993; Kraus, 1995; Wallace et al., 2005). As with the current results, the strength of associations discovered by previous research were varied, both within and between reviews. Mean attitude-behaviour correlation coefficients in prior meta-analyses ranged from r=0.35 (Hines et al., 1987) to r=0.79 (Kim & Hunter, 1993). This suggests that many of the EBP attitude/belief and EBP use associations found in

47

the current study (see Table 6) are weaker than other types of attitude-behaviour association.

Some of the variation in the current results correspond to previous findings. For example, more general attitudes towards EBP, such as the Clinician Demographics and Attitudes Questionnaire (CDAQ), Modified Practice Attitudes Scale (MPAS), and majority of EBPAS subscales, were not significantly associated with EBP CBT use. However, studies investigating the beliefs, attitudes and use of more specific EBP techniques (such as exposure) mostly found more consistent and stronger associations. This corresponds to the results of Kraus' (1995) meta-analysis, in which stronger attitude-behaviour associations were found in studies where more specific measures of attitude and behaviour were used.

Contribution of Results to Psychological Theory

The results of this review support the theory that therapists' attitudes and beliefs towards EBP influence their delivery of EBP in routine practice (Shafran et al., 2009; Waller & Turner, 2016). For example, Waller and Turner (2016) have suggested that therapists might hold negative beliefs and attitudes towards anxiety-provoking CBT techniques, such as exposure, resulting in therapists avoiding the use of these techniques. This theory was supported by the current results, as studies were found in which therapists' negative beliefs about exposure were associated with their reduced use of exposure.

The current results also support broader psychological theories regarding behavioural influences. For example, the theoretical underpinnings of CBT note the impact of beliefs and emotions (which contribute to attitudes) on behaviour (Beck, 2011). The Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB; Ajzen, 1991) also recognises the importance of attitudes in determining behaviour. The variation in attitude/belief and behaviour associations found in the current review might also be explained by these psychological theories, which note how modifying factors strengthen or attenuate attitude/belief-behaviour links. For example, CBT emphasises the importance of environmental factors (Beck, 2011). Additionally, the TPB describes the attitude-behaviour link as modest and indirect, emphasising the influence of other factors such as subjective norms and perceived behavioural control (Ajzen, 1991).

Although beyond the scope of the current review, consideration of other influencing factors might explain the inconsistency of EBP attitude/belief-behaviour associations. Previous research has indicated that openness to EBP is associated with workplace factors, such as provision of sufficient resources and workload demands, as well as personal factors, such as length of professional tenure (James et al., 2019; Magidson et al., 2018; Wiltsey Stirman et al., 2013). These external and interpersonal factors might provide insight into the contexts in which EBP openness best translates into EBP use; for example, workplaces where therapists have shorter tenures, are not over-burdened with workload and are supported and resourced to engage in EBP. Such differences in interpersonal and external factors might explain Beidas et al.'s (2017) finding, where EBP openness and EBP use were associated for therapists participating in city-sponsored EBP initiatives, but the same association was not found for therapists outside of these initiatives.

The association between openness to EBP and EBP use, but not appeal of EBP with EBP use, is not clearly explained by the above psychological theories, as presumably similar moderating factors would be present in studies measuring both of

these concepts. Aarons et al. (2012) found these concepts to be moderately to strongly associated, leading them to theorise that openness to EBP might take place within the context of finding EBP intuitively appealing. If this were true, we might expect both concepts to show significant associations with EBP use. However, this was not the case in our current findings.

Limitations

The results of this review must be considered in light of its limitations. The meta-analyses were conducted on a small number of studies, which might have reduced the likelihood of finding small but significant effects. Within the meta-analyses, significant heterogeneity was found, which could not be fully accounted for.

The review itself might have been biased due to the inclusion of only Englishlanguage articles, with several articles published in other languages excluded early in the process. Previous research has indicated that exclusion of non-English language studies can impact overall results of meta-analyses (Jüni et al., 2002). Also, the exclusion of the 'grey literature' within this review was used as a form of quality control. However, this might have subjected the results of the review to the risk of publication bias, as null findings are less likely to become published (Kühberger et al., 2014)

The quality of included studies is also a limitation. According to the adapted criteria of O'Connor et al. (2015), fewer than half the included studies were rated as 'good' quality, and none as were rated 'excellent' quality. Common quality limitations of studies included a lack of clarity as to whether the studies were sufficiently powered, suggesting some effects might have gone undetected. Also, there was a frequent lack of

50

clarity over whether the study participants were representative of the wider population. For example, this review did not limit inclusion of papers to those in which participants explicitly met a minimum CBT training or competency standard. Furthermore, many studies did not explicitly state the level of training or qualification in CBT that recruited participants had obtained. Therefore, studies might have recruited participants not representative of qualified CBT therapists in general. This brings into question whether the results of the review are generalisable to broader settings. The question of generalisability of findings is also raised by the fact that half of the studies were conducted in the United States of America, and over half on therapists working with youth or child populations.

Directions of Future Research

Although results indicated a relationship between EBP attitude/behaviour and EBP use in the majority of studies, this review investigated these relationships solely within the context of CBT. It would be valuable to see whether the relationship between attitude/belief regarding therapy and use of therapy is similar with other evidence-based approaches.

Given the hypothesised importance of modifying variables in the association between EBP attitude/behaviour and EBP use, further investigation into these variables might also be valuable. Investigating EBP attitudes/beliefs within the context of certain interpersonal, workplace or social factors might help shed light into why certain attitudes or beliefs are associated with EBP use in some cases and not others. For example, Becker-Haimes et al. (2019) have investigated the link between EBP attitudes and EBP use within different workplace cultures. Further use of similar approaches or pathway analysis techniques could provide more insight into the interaction of different levels of factors, leading to greater EBP use.

The value of looking at attitudes/beliefs and use of specific techniques, such as exposure, has been highlighted by this review. In addition to considering attitudes towards EBP generally, qualitative research might provide a rich and nuanced understanding as to why some therapists avoid certain elements of EBP, or why others hold positive beliefs about therapy techniques despite their challenging nature. This research could then be used to challenge negative attitudes/beliefs and promote positive attitude/beliefs with greater specificity within training, which would hopefully lead to increased use of the targeted EBP elements.

Finally, although this review has considered attitudes and beliefs of therapists with regards to EBP, it should be noted that EBP should also incorporate service user choice (Sackett et al., 2000). Thus, service users' beliefs, as well as those of therapists, are important to ascertain in relation to EBP. Furthermore, in attempting to promote service users' interests, therapists might make clinical decisions based on their perceptions of service users' preferences. In other words, therapists might hold positive attitudes towards EBP, but avoiding using EBP techniques, if they perceive that service users might view those techniques negatively. Therefore, it would also be valuable to investigate whether therapists are able to accurately perceive service users' beliefs about therapy, or whether they are making incorrect assumptions about service users' beliefs.

Clinical Implications

The link between EBP attitudes or beliefs and EBP CBT use is of interest to services seeking to promote EBP CBT delivery. The results indicate the value in promoting positive beliefs and attitudes regarding EBP, such as openness to EBP. Furthermore, therapists' negative beliefs about EBP should be challenged. For example, Deacon et al. (2013) revealed that therapists can hold beliefs that using exposure damages the therapeutic relationship and is unacceptably aversive to the client. This belief can be challenged by directing therapists to research indicating that service users' display a preference for exposure-based therapy, contrary to therapists' avoidance of this technique (Becker et al., 2004, 2007, 2009; Hipol & Deacon, 2013).

Promotion of positive EBP attitudes and challenging of negative EBP beliefs should form a key part of initial therapist and clinical psychology training. Therapist training programmes should include both didactic and practical teaching on EBP, as these methods have previously been associated with positive attitudes towards EBP (Karekla et al., 2004). Additionally, training and workshops should also be provided to promote beneficial attitudes and beliefs towards EBP amongst qualified therapists. Different methods of training, such as didactic teaching and technology-based training, have shown beneficial outcomes regarding therapists' EBP-related beliefs and attitudes (Harned et al., 2014; van den Berg et al., 2016; Waller et al., 2016). However, Beidas and Kendall (2010) have recommended that active learning should also occur within training to maximise the chance of behavioural, as well as attitudinal, change amongst trainees. This includes the use of modelling and practice of techniques (using role-play, for example), interaction between group members and reflection on activities. They also recommend that training considers individual therapist and client variables, specific to the current clinical setting. For example, trainers should investigate and respond adaptively to therapists' orientation and experience, prior attitudes regarding EBP and beliefs regarding the viability of EBP for their client group. Finally, ongoing supervision following training is also recommended to promote sustained attitudinal and behavioural change towards increased EBP use.

53

Although training has been associated with improvements in therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards specific elements of EBP, such as exposure (van den Berg et al., 2016; Waller et al., 2016), it is unclear how effectively training produces lasting change in general attitudes towards EBP. For example, Edmunds et al. (2014) discovered a positive impact of training on clinicians' openness to EBP. However, this improvement was not sustained at two-year follow-up. An alternative approach to promoting EBP openness in services, would be for service providers to target recruitment of clinicians showing evidence of openness to EBP. Evidence of openness to EBP in those applying for positions could be assessed via application forms or interview processes. Given the lack of association between EBP appeal and EBP use, the degree to which EBP appeals to individuals should not be used as a specific focus for training or a deciding factor when recruiting new employees.

Conclusion

Therapists' attitudes and beliefs towards EBP were associated with their use of EBP CBT. Therefore, service providers seeking to promote EBP CBT might benefit from fostering positive attitudes towards EBP, such as openness to EBP, and challenging negative beliefs, such as concerns over exposure. It should be noted that EBP attitudes and EBP CBT use were not associated in all cases. For example, no link was found between EBP appeal and EBP use. Associations between EBP attitude or belief and EBP use should also be considered within the context of other moderating factors, such as interpersonal variables or organisational context.

References

Aarons, G. A. (2004). Mental health provider attitudes toward adoption of evidencebased practice: The evidence-based practice attitude scale (EBPAS). *Mental Health Services Research*, 6(2), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:MHSR.0000024351.12294.65

 Aarons, G. A. (2005). Measuring provider attitudes toward evidence-based practice: Consideration of organizational context and individual differences. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 14(2), 255–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2004.04.008

- Aarons, G. A., Cafri, G., Lugo, L., & Sawitzky, A. (2012). Expanding the domains of attitudes towards evidence-based practice: The evidence based practice attitude scale-50. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 39(5), 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-010-0302-3
- Addis, M. E., & Krasnow, A. D. (2000). A national survey of practicing psychologists' attitudes toward psychotherapy treatment manuals. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006X.68.2.331
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Allen, B., & Crosby, J. W. (2014). Treatment beliefs and techniques of clinicians serving child maltreatment survivors. *Child Maltreatment*, 19(1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559513518097

- Allen, B., & Johnson, J. C. (2012). Utilization and implementation of trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy for the treatment of maltreated children. *Child Maltreatment*, 17(1), 80–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559511418220
- Aloe, A. M. (2014). An empirical investigation of partial effect sizes in meta-analysis of correlational data. *Journal of General Psychology*, 141(1), 47–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2013.853021
- American Psychological Association. (2005, July 1). *Report of the 2005 presidential task force on evidence-based practice.* https://www.apa.org/practice/resources/evidence/evidence-based-report.pdf

- Armitage, C. J., & Conner, M. (2001). Efficacy of the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analytic review. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 40, 471–499. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466601164939
- Bamberg, S., & Möser, G. (2007). Twenty years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera:
 A new meta-analysis of psycho-social determinants of pro-environmental behaviour. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 27(1), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.12.002
- Beck, J. (2011). *Cognitive Behavior Therapy: Basics and beyond* (2nd ed.). The Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004

Becker-Haimes, E. M., Okamura, K. H., Benjamin Wolk, C., Rubin, R., Evans, A. C., & Beidas, R. S. (2017). Predictors of clinician use of exposure therapy in community mental health settings. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 49*, 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2017.04.002 Becker-Haimes, E. M., Williams, N. J., Okamura, K. H., & Beidas, R. S. (2019).
Interactions between clinician and organizational characteristics to predict cognitive-behavioral and psychodynamic therapy use. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 46(6), 701–712.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-019-00959-6

Becker, C. B., Darius, E., & Schaumberg, K. (2007). An analog study of patient preferences for exposure versus alternative treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(12), 2861–2873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.05.006

- Becker, C. B., Meyer, G., Price, J. S., Graham, M. M., Arsena, A., Armstrong, D. A., & Ramon, E. (2009). Law enforcement preferences for PTSD treatment and crisis management alternatives. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47(3), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.01.001
- Becker, C. B., Zayfert, C., & Anderson, E. (2004). A survey of psychologists' attitudes towards and utilization of exposure therapy for PTSD. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(3), 277–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00138-4
- Beidas, R. S., Edmunds, J., Ditty, M., Watkins, J., Walsh, L., Marcus, S., & Kendall, P. (2014). Are inner context factors related to implementation outcomes in cognitive-behavioral therapy for youth anxiety? *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 41(6), 788–799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0529-x.Are
- Beidas, R. S., & Kendall, P. C. (2010). Training therapists in evidence-based practice: A critical review of studies from a systems-contextual perspective. *Clinical*

Psychology: Science and Practice, 17(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2850.2009.01187.x

- Beidas, R. S., Marcus, S., Aarons, G. A., Hoagwood, K. E., Schoenwald, S., Evans, A. C., Hurford, M. O., Hadley, T., Barg, F. K., Walsh, L. M., Adams, D. R., & Mandell, D. S. (2015). Individual and organizational factors related to community clinicians' use of therapy techniques in a large public mental health system. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *169*(4), 374–382. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.3736.Individual
- Beidas, R. S., Skriner, L., Adams, D., Benjamin Wolk, C., Stewart, R. E., Becker-Hhaimes, E., Williams, N., Maddox, B., Rubin, R., Weaver, S., Evans, A., Mandell, D., & Marcus, S. C. (2017). The relationship between consumer, clinician, and organizational characteristics and use of evidence-based and nonevidence-based therapy strategies in a public mental health system. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *99*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2017.08.011
- Benjamin, C., Beidas, R., Edmunds, J., Cohen, J., & Kendall, P. (2010). *Identification* and treatment of anxious youth [unpublished instrument]. Philadelphia, PA:
 Department of Psychology, Temple University.
- Booth, A., Clarke, M., Dooley, G., Ghersi, D., Moher, D., Petticrew, M., & Stewart, L.
 (2012). The nuts and bolts of PROSPERO: An international prospective register of systematic reviews. *Systematic Reviews*, 1(2), 1–8.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-1-2
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T., & Rothstein, H. R. (2009). *Introduction to meta-analysis*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470743386
Borntrager, C. F., Chorpita, B. F., Higa-McMillan, C., & Weisz, J. R. (2009). Provider attitudes toward evidence-based practices: Are the concerns with the evidence or with the manuals? *Psychiatric Services*, 60(5), 677–681. https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2009.60.5.677

British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies. (2017, September).
 Minimum training standards.
 https://www.babcp.com/files/Accreditation/General/Minimum-Training Standards-V7-0215.pdf

- British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy. (2018, July 1). *Ethical* framework for the counselling professions. https://www.bacp.co.uk/events-andresources/ethics-and-standards/ethical-framework-for-the-counsellingprofessions
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Lawrence Earlbaum Associates. https://doi.org/10.1234/12345678
- Czincz, J., & Romano, E. (2013). Childhood sexual abuse: Community-based treatment practices and predictors of use of evidence-based practices. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 18(4), 240–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12011
- David, D., Cristea, I., & Hofmann, S. G. (2018). Why cognitive behavioral therapy is the current gold standard of psychotherapy. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9(4), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00004
- Deacon, B. J., Farrell, N. R., Kemp, J. J., Dixon, L. J., Sy, J. T., Zhang, A. R., &McGrath, P. B. (2013). Assessing therapist reservations about exposure therapy for anxiety disorders: The Therapist Beliefs about Exposure Scale. *Journal of*

Anxiety Disorders, 27(8), 772–780.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.04.006

DeCoster, J. (2012). *Microsoft Excel spreadsheets: Meta-analysis*. http://www.stathelp.com/spreadsheets.html

Deeks, J. J., Dinnes, J., D'Amico, R., Sowden, A. J., Sakarovitch, C., Song, F., Petticrew, M., & Altman, D. G. (2003). Evaluating non-randomised intervention studies. *Health Technology Assessment*, 7(27), 1–186. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta7270

- Downs, S. H., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and nonrandomised studies of health care interventions. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 52(6), 377–384.
- Edmunds, J. M., Read, K. L., Ringle, V. A., Brodman, D. M., Kendall, P. C., & Beidas,
 R. S. (2014). Sustaining clinician penetration, attitudes and knowledge in
 cognitive-behavioral therapy for youth anxiety. *Implementation Science*, 9(89),
 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-014-0089-9
- Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., & Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *British Medical Journal*, 315, 629–634. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7129.469
- Field, A. P., & Gillett, R. (2010). How to do a meta-analysis. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 63, 665–694.
 https://doi.org/10.1348/000711010X502733

- Finley, E. P., Noël, P. H., Lee, S., Haro, E., Garcia, H., Rosen, C., Bernardy, N., Pugh, M. J., & Pugh, J. A. (2018). Psychotherapy practices for veterans with PTSD among community-based providers in Texas. *Psychological Services*, 15(4), 442–452. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000143
- Glasman, L. R., & Albarracín, D. (2006). Forming attitudes that predict future behavior:
 A meta-analysis of the attitude-behavior relation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*(5), 778–822. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.132.5.778
- Godfrey, K. M., Gallo, L. C., & Afari, N. (2015). Mindfulness-based interventions for binge eating: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 38, 348–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-014-9610-5
- Gray, M. J., Elhai, J. D., & Schmidt, L. O. (2007). Trauma professionals' attitudes toward and utilization of evidence-based practices. *Behavior Modification*, 31(6), 732–748. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445507302877
- Hagger, M. S., Koch, S., Chatzisarantis, N. L. D., & Orbell, S. (2017). The common sense model of self-regulation: Meta-analysis and test of a process model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143, 1117–1154. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000118
- Harned, M. S., Dimeff, L. A., Woodcock, E. A., Kelly, T., Zavertnik, J., Contreras, I., & Danner, S. M. (2014). Exposing clinicians to exposure: A randomized controlled dissemination trial of exposure therapy for anxiety disorders. *Behavior Therapy*, 45(6), 731–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2014.04.005
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., & Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *British Medical Journal*, 327, 557–560. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557

Hines, J. M., Hungerford, H. R., & Tomera, A. N. (1987). Analysis and synthesis of research on responsible environmental behavior: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 18(2), 1–8.
https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.1987.9943482

Hipol, L. J., & Deacon, B. J. (2013). Dissemination of evidence-based practices for anxiety disorders in Wyoming: A survey of practicing psychotherapists. *Behavior Modification*, 37(2), 170–188.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445512458794

- Hoffmann, C., Abraham, C., White, M. P., Ball, S., & Skippon, S. M. (2017). What cognitive mechanisms predict travel mode choice? A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Transport Reviews*, 37, 631–652. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2017.1285819
- Hofmann, S. G., Asnaani, A., Vonk, I. J. J., Sawyer, A. T., & Fang, A. (2012). The efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy: A review of meta-analyses. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *36*(5), 427–440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-012-9476-1
- Hong, J., & Chen, J. (2019). Clinical physicians' attitudes towards evidence-based medicine (EBM) and their evidence-based practice (EBP) in Wuhan, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(19), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16193758
- James, S., Lampe, L., Behnken, S., & Schulz, D. (2019). Evidence-based practice and knowledge utilisation–a study of attitudes and practices among social workers in Germany. *European Journal of Social Work*, 22(5), 763–777. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691457.2018.1469475

Jüni, P., Holenstein, F., Sterne, J., Bartlett, C., & Egger, M. (2002). Direction and impact of language bias in meta-analyses of controlled trials: Empirical study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 31(1), 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/31.1.115

Karekla, M., Lundgren, J. D., & Forsyth, J. P. (2004). A survey of graduate training in empirically supported and manualized treatments: A preliminary report. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, *11*(2), 230–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1077-7229(04)80034-8

- Kessler, R. C., Merikangas, K. R., & Wang, P. S. (2007). Prevalence, comorbidity, and service utilization for mood disorders in the united states at the beginning of the twenty-first century. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *3*, 137–158. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091444
- Kim, M. -S, & Hunter, J. E. (1993). Attitude-behavior relations: A meta-analysis of attitudinal relevance and topic. *Journal of Communication*, 43(1), 101–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01251.x
- Kolko, D. J., Cohen, J. A., Mannarino, A. P., Baumann, B. L., & Knudsen, K. (2009).
 Community treatment of child sexual abuse: A survey of practitioners in the national child traumatic stress network. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *36*, 37–49.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-008-0180-0
- Kraan, A. E. M., Dijkstra, B. A. G., & Markus, W. (2018). Treatment delivery of the community reinforcement approach in outpatient addiction treatment. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 70, 61–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.05.004
 63

- Kraus, S. J. (1995). Attitudes and the prediction of behavior: A meta-analysis of the empirical literature. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(1), 58–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295211007
- Lewis, C. C., & Simons, A. D. (2011). A pilot study disseminating cognitive behavioral therapy for depression: Therapist factors and perceptions of barriers to implementation. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 38, 324–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-011-0348-x
- Lilienfeld, S. O., Ritschel, L. A., Lynn, S. J., Cautin, R. L., & Latzman, R. D. (2013).
 Why many clinical psychologists are resistant to evidence-based practice: Root causes and constructive remedies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*, 883–900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.09.008
- Magidson, J. F., Lee, J. S., Johnson, K., Burnhams, W., Koch, J. R., Manderscheid, R., & Myers, B. (2018). Openness to adopting evidence-based practice in public substance use treatment in South Africa using task shifting: Caseload size matters. *Substance Abuse*, *39*(1), 162–166. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2017.1380743
- McCartney, M., & Finnikin, S. (2019). Evidence and values in the NHS: Choosing treatments and interventions well. *British Journal of General Practice*, 69(678), 4–5. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19X700313
- McHugh, M. L. (2012). Interrater reliability: The kappa statistic. *Biochemia Medica*, 22(3), 276–282.
- Meline, T. (2006). Selecting studies for systematic review: Inclusion and exclusion criteria. *Contemporary Issues in Communication Science and Disorders*, 33, 21–27. https://doi.org/1092-5171/06/3301-0021
 64

- Melnyk, B. M., Fineout-Overholt, E., & Mays, M. Z. (2008). The evidence-based practice beliefs and implementation scales: Psychometric properties of two new instruments. Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing, 5(4), 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6787.2008.00126.x
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *BMJ*, 339, b2535. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2535
- O'Connor, S. R., Tully, M. A., Ryan, B., Bradley, J. M., Baxter, G. D., & McDonough,
 S. M. (2015). Failure of a numerical quality assessment scale to identify
 potential risk of bias in a systematic review: A comparison study. *BMC Research Notes*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015-1181-1
- Pantelic, M., Shenderovich, Y., Cluver, L., & Boyes, M. (2015). Predictors of internalised HIV-related stigma: A systematic review of studies in sub-Saharan Africa. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(4), 469–490. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2014.996243
- Parker, Z. J., & Waller, G. (2017). Development and validation of the negative attitudes towards CBT scale. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 45, 629–646. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465817000170

Pemberton, J. R., Conners-Burrow, N. A., Benjamin, A. S., Sievers, C. M., Stokes, L. D., & Kramer, T. L. (2017). Factors associated with clinician participation in TF-CBT post-workshop training components. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 44, 524–533. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-015-0677-2 Pereira, F., Pellaux, V., & Verloo, H. (2018). Beliefs and implementation of evidencebased practice among community health nurses: A cross-sectional descriptive study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(9–10), 2052–2061. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14348

- Peterson, R. A., & Brown, S. P. (2005). On the use of beta coefficients in meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Psychology, 90(1), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.1.175
- Pittig, A., Kotter, R., & Hoyer, J. (2019). The struggle of behavioral therapists with exposure: Self-reported practicability, negative beliefs, and therapist distress about exposure-based interventions. *Behavior Therapy*, 50, 353–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2018.07.003
- Protogerou, C., & Hagger, M. S. (2019). A case for a study quality appraisal in survey studies in psychology. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02788
- Reid, A. M., Guzick, A. G., Glor, A., Deacon, B., McNamara, J. P. H., Geffken, G. R., McCarty, R., & Striley, C. W. (2018). Exposure therapy for youth with anxiety: Utilization rates and predictors of implementation in a sample of practicing clinicians from across the United States. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 58, 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2018.06.002
- Rye, M., Torres, E. M., Friborg, O., Skre, I., & Aarons, G. A. (2017). The Evidence-based Practice Attitude Scale-36 (EBPAS-36): A brief and pragmatic measure of attitudes to evidence-based practice validated in US and Norwegian samples. *Implementation Science*, *12*(44), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0573-0

- Sackett, D. L., Rosenberg, W. M. C., Gray, J. A. M., Haynes, R. B., & Richardson, W.
 S. (1996). Evidence based medicine: What it is and what it isn't. *BMJ*, *312*, 71–72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71
- Sackett, D. L., Strauss, S. E., Richardson, W. S., Rosenberg, W., & Haynes, R. B.
 (2000). *Evidence-based medicine: How to practice and teach EBM* (2nd ed.).
 Churchill Livingstone.
- Santos, I., Sniehotta, F. F., Marques, M. M., Carraça, E. V., & Teixeira, P. J. (2017). Prevalence of personal weight control attempts in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 18, 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12466
- Sars, D., & Minnen, A. Van. (2015). On the use of exposure therapy in the treatment of anxiety disorders: A survey among cognitive behavioural therapists in the Netherlands. *BMC Psychology*, 3(26), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-015-0083-2
- Shafran, R., Clark, D. M., Fairburn, C. G., Arntz, A., Barlow, D. H., Ehlers, A.,
 Freeston, M., Garety, P. A., Hollon, S. D., Ost, L. G., Salkovskis, P. M.,
 Williams, J. M. G., & Wilson, G. T. (2009). Mind the gap: Improving the
 dissemination of CBT. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47, 902–909.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.07.003
- Spring, B. (2007). Evidence-based practice in clinical psychology: What it is, why it matters; what you need to know. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 63(7), 611– 631. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20373

- Stokke, K., Olsen, N. R., Espehaug, B., & Nortvedt, M. W. (2014). Evidence based practice beliefs and implementation among nurses: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Nursing*, 13(8), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6955-13-8
- Suurmond, R., van Rhee, H., & Hak, T. (2017). Introduction, comparison, and validation of Meta-Essentials: A free and simple tool for meta-analysis.
 Research Synthesis Methods, 8(4), 537–553. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrsm.1260
- The British Psychological Society. (2017, August). *Practice guidelines: Third edition*. https://www.bps.org.uk/news-and-policy/practice-guidelines
- Van den Berg, D. P. G., van der Vleugel, B. M., de Bont, P. A. J. M., Thijssen, G., de Roos, C., de Kleine, R., Kraan, T., Ising, H., de Jongh, A., van Minnen, A., & van der Gaag, M. (2016). Exposing therapists to trauma-focused treatment in psychosis: Effects on credibility, expected burden, and harm expectancies. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *6*(7), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.31712
- Van Rhee, H., Suurmond, R., & Hak, T. (2015). User manual for Meta-Essentials: Workbooks for meta-analysis (Version 1.4). Erasmus Research Institute of Management. www.erim.eur.nl/research-support/meta-essentials
- Von Hippel, P. T. (2015). The heterogeneity statistic I2 can be biased in small metaanalyses. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 15(35), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-015-0024-z
- Wallace, D. S., Paulson, R. M., Lord, C. G., & Bond, C. F. (2005). Which behaviors do attitudes predict? Meta-analyzing the effects of social pressure and perceived difficulty. *Review of General Psychology*, 9(3), 214–227. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.9.3.214

- Waller, G. (2009). Evidence-based treatment and therapist drift. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2008.10.018
- Waller, G., D'Souza Walsh, K., & Wright, C. (2016). Impact of education on clinicians' attitudes to exposure therapy for eating disorders. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 76, 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.11.014
- Waller, G., & Turner, H. (2016). Therapist drift redux: Why well-meaning clinicians fail to deliver evidence-based therapy, and how to get back on track. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 77, 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.12.005
- Weersing, V. R., Weisz, J. R., & Donenberg, G. R. (2002). Development of the therapy procedures checklist: A therapist-report measure of technique use in child and adolescent treatment. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 31(2), 168–180. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3102_03
- Weisz, J. R., Weersing, V. R., & Henggeler, S. W. (2005). Jousting with straw men: Comment on Westen, Novotny, and Thompson-Brenner (2004). *Psychological Bulletin*, 131(3), 418–426. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.131.3.418
- Weng, Y. H., Kuo, K. N., Yang, C. Y., Lo, H. L., Chen, C., & Chiu, Y. W. (2013). Implementation of evidence-based practice across medical, nursing, pharmacological and allied healthcare professionals: A questionnaire survey in nationwide hospital settings. *Implementation Science*, 8(112), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-112
- Whiteside, S. P. H., Deacon, B. J., Benito, K., & Stewart, E. (2016). Factors associated with practitioners' use of exposure therapy for childhood anxiety disorders. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 40*, 29–36.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.04.001
 69

- Wilson, D. (n.d.). Practical meta-analysis effect size calculator. http://www.campbellcollaboration.org/escalc/html/EffectSizeCalculator-Home.php
- Wiltsey Stirman, S., Gutiérrez-Colina, A., Toder, K., Esposito, G., Barg, F., Castro, F., Beck, A. T., & Crits-Christoph, P. (2013). Clinicians' perspectives on cognitive therapy in community mental health settings: Implications for training and implementation. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 40(4), 274–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-012-0418-8
- Wiltsey Stirman, S., Gutner, C. A., Crits-Christoph, P., Edmunds, J., Evans, A. C., & Beidas, R. S. (2015). Relationships between clinician-level attributes and fidelity-consistent and fidelity-inconsistent modifications to an evidence-based psychotherapy. *Implementation Science*, *10*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0308-z
- Young, M. D., Plotnikoff, R. C., Collins, C. E., Callister, R., & Morgan, P. J. (2014).
 Social cognitive theory and physical activity: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 15(12), 983–995. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12225

Appendix A – PROSPERO Protocol

PROSPERO

International prospective register of systematic reviews



UNIVERSITY of York Centre for Reviews and Dissemination

Systematic review

1. * Review title.

Give the working title of the review, for example the one used for obtaining funding. Ideally the title should state succinctly the interventions or exposures being reviewed and the associated health or social problems. Where appropriate, the title should use the PI(E)COS structure to contain information on the Participants, Intervention (or Exposure) and Comparison groups, the Outcomes to be measured and Study designs to be included.

Association between therapists' attitudes towards and utilisation of evidence-based Cognitive Behavioural

Therapy: a review and meta-analyses

2. Original language title.

For reviews in languages other than English, this field should be used to enter the title in the language of the review. This will be displayed together with the English language title.

3. * Anticipated or actual start date.

Give the date when the systematic review commenced, or is expected to commence.

01/11/2019

4. * Anticipated completion date.

Give the date by which the review is expected to be completed.

31/03/2020

5. * Stage of review at time of this submission.

Indicate the stage of progress of the review by ticking the relevant Started and Completed boxes. Additional information may be added in the free text box provided.

Please note: Reviews that have progressed beyond the point of completing data extraction at the time of initial registration are not eligible for inclusion in PROSPERO. Should evidence of incorrect status and/or completion date being supplied at the time of submission come to light, the content of the PROSPERO record will be removed leaving only the title and named contact details and a statement that inaccuracies in the stage of the review date had been identified.

This field should be updated when any amendments are made to a published record and on completion and publication of the review. If this field was pre-populated from the initial screening questions then you are not able to edit it until the record is published.

The review has not yet started: No

Page: 1 / 12

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews	National Institute for Health Research	
Review stage	Started	Completed
Preliminary searches	Yes	Yes
Piloting of the study selection process	Yes	Yes
Formal screening of search results against eligibility criteria	Yes	Yes
Data extraction	Yes	Yes
Risk of bias (quality) assessment	Yes	Yes
Data analysis	Yes	Yes

Provide any other relevant information about the stage of the review here (e.g. Funded proposal, protocol not yet finalised).

6. * Named contact.

The named contact acts as the guarantor for the accuracy of the information presented in the register record.

lan Johnson

Email salutation (e.g. "Dr Smith" or "Joanne") for correspondence:

lan

7. * Named contact email.

Give the electronic mail address of the named contact.

ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk

8. Named contact address

Give the full postal address for the named contact.

9. Named contact phone number.

Give the telephone number for the named contact, including international dialling code.

10. * Organisational affiliation of the review.

Full title of the organisational affiliations for this review and website address if available. This field may be completed as 'None' if the review is not affiliated to any organisation.

University of Sheffield, Clinical Psychology Unit

Organisation web address:

https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/clinicalpsychology

11. * Review team members and their organisational affiliations.

Give the personal details and the organisational affiliations of each member of the review team. Affiliation

Page: 2 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews



refers to groups or organisations to which review team members belong. NOTE: email and country are now mandatory fields for each person. Mr Ian Johnson. University of Sheffield

12. * Funding sources/sponsors.

Give details of the individuals, organizations, groups or other legal entities who take responsibility for initiating, managing, sponsoring and/or financing the review. Include any unique identification numbers assigned to the review by the individuals or bodies listed.

This review is being completed as part of a doctorate of clinical psychology at the University of Sheffield. The

doctorate is being funded by the Sheffield Health and Social Care National Health Service Trust.

Grant number(s)

13. * Conflicts of interest.

List any conditions that could lead to actual or perceived undue influence on judgements concerning the main topic investigated in the review.

None

14. Collaborators.

Give the name and affiliation of any individuals or organisations who are working on the review but who are not listed as review team members. **NOTE: email and country are now mandatory fields for each person.**

Ms Jess Furlong-Silva. University of Sheffield Professor Glenn Waller. University of Sheffield

15. * Review question.

State the question(s) to be addressed by the review, clearly and precisely. Review questions may be specific or broad. It may be appropriate to break very broad questions down into a series of related more specific questions. Questions may be framed or refined using PI(E)COS where relevant.

Is there a link between clinicians' self-reported beliefs or attitudes towards evidence-based practice and their

utilisation of or adherence to CBT evidence-based practice? If so, which beliefs or attitudes predict or

correlate most strongly with higher utilisation?

16. * Searches.

State the sources that will be searched. Give the search dates, and any restrictions (e.g. language or publication period). Do NOT enter the full search strategy (it may be provided as a link or attachment.)

MEDLINE, PsycINFO and Scopus databases will be searched on 1/11/19. No date restrictions applied, any

articles prior to 1/11/19 to be included. Articles must be published in English. Four categories of search terms

are used, those pertaining to a) beliefs / attitudes, b) the evidence-base, c) Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

(CBT) and d) therapists / clinicians.

17. URL to search strategy.

Give a link to a published pdf/word document detailing either the search strategy or an example of a search strategy for a specific database if available (including the keywords that will be used in the search strategies), or upload your search strategy.Do NOT provide links to your search results.

Page: 3 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPEROFILES/156990_STRATEGY_20191102.pdf

Alternatively, upload your search strategy to CRD in pdf format. Please note that by doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible.

Do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

18. * Condition or domain being studied.

Give a short description of the disease, condition or healthcare domain being studied. This could include health and wellbeing outcomes.

Any condition or healthcare domain where Cognitive Behavioural Therapy can be applied as an evidence

based treatment.

19. * Participants/population.

Give summary criteria for the participants or populations being studied by the review. The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria:Studies must include data from practitioners of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (e.g.

clinicians, therapists, clinical psychologists, healthcare workers). Within studies, therapists must be recruited

from professional contexts in which they regularly work with individuals with mental health difficulties (e.g.

private practice, community mental health teams, mental health clinicians within schools). Self-identified

therapists from a number of professional backgrounds are permitted. Exclusion criteria: Participants are not

specified or self-identified as practitioners of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy or recruited from professional contexts involving regular work with individuals with mental health difficulties.

No exclusion criteria applied on the basis of age, or length/type of therapy training are specified.

20. * Intervention(s), exposure(s).

Give full and clear descriptions or definitions of the nature of the interventions or the exposures to be reviewed.

The intervention must be an evidence-based psychological intervention involving cognitive behavioural

therapy.

21. * Comparator(s)/control.

Where relevant, give details of the alternatives against which the main subject/topic of the review will be compared (e.g. another intervention or a non-exposed control group). The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

A control group is not required for articles to be included within the review. However, some articles may

report on groups of clinicians who display no or low utilisation of evidence-based cognitive behavioural

intervention, in comparison to (high) utilisers.

22. * Types of study to be included.

Give details of the types of study (study designs) eligible for inclusion in the review. If there are no restrictions on the types of study design eligible for inclusion, or certain study types are excluded, this should be stated. The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion Criteria:

-Published studies

Page: 4 / 12

NHS

National Institute for Health Research

International prospective register of systematic reviews

NHS National Institute for Health Research

-English Articles

-Studies including quantitative data on therapists' attitudes or subjective beliefs towards evidence-based practice (EBP), a specific EBP, or element of EBP

-EBP attitude/belief measures regard therapists' appraisal of EBPs' subjective qualities, not objective knowledge of EBPs and their components or therapists' own skills/competency in applying EBPs. -Self-identified therapists are recruited from professional contexts in which they regularly work with individuals with mental health difficulties..

-Studies include quantitative measures of therapists' reported implementation/adherence/utilisation of a Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) EBP within actual clinical practice and an evidence-based context (e.g. use of CBT for anxiety in adults)

-Studies must use and report quantitative data linking therapists' EBP attitudes or beliefs to their reported utilisation, implementation or adherence to EBP.

Exclusion Criteria:

-The grey literature (e.g dissertation abstracts)-Articles after 01/11/19 (date of search). -Multiple EBPs, including non-CBT EBPs, are reported on but not separated within the analysis.

23. Context.

Give summary details of the setting and other relevant characteristics which help define the inclusion or exclusion criteria.

Studies may investigate evidence-based practice in general (EBP), a specific EBP (e.g. Trauma-Focused CBT) or element of EBP (e.g. use of exposure within CBT).

Examples of EBP attitude/belief measures focusing on therapists' appraisal of EBPs and their subjective qualities include therapists' beliefs about EBPs importance, suitability, pros and cons of utilisation, qualities of the EBP that are facilitators or barriers to implementation etc..

Measures focusing on therapists' beliefs regarding whether various approaches are evidence-based or not or which components comprise of different EBPs are considered objective knowledge measures and not included.

Measures of non-usage of EBP or alternatives to EBP are not considered suitable for the review.

Measures of reported intention to implement EBT or hypothetical adoption of EBP in response to vignettes are not considered suitable, as they do not reflect self-reported usage in actual clinical practice.

Page: 5 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews

24. * Main outcome(s).

Give the pre-specified main (most important) outcomes of the review, including details of how the outcome is defined and measured and when these measurement are made, if these are part of the review inclusion criteria.

Articles must include reported, quantitative measures of clinicians' attitudes or beliefs regarding evidencebased practice or specific elements of EBP (e.g. use of exposure within CBT). Studies must use and report quantitative data linking this to clinicians' reported utilisation, implementation or adherence of EBP (e.g. correlations, prediction of group membership etc.)

* Measures of effect

Please specify the effect measure(s) for you main outcome(s) e.g. relative risks, odds ratios, risk difference, and/or 'number needed to treat.

Data at all time-points will be considered (e.g. the impact of EBP attitudes on utilisation pre- and post-

training). However, it is anticipated that the majority of research will link EBP attitudes / beliefs to utilisation at

a single time point. Effect measures are anticipated to involve correlation between attitudes and utilisation,

prediction of utilisation from attitudes and potentially group comparison analyses (e.g. in the instance of a

non-utilising comparison group).

25. * Additional outcome(s).

List the pre-specified additional outcomes of the review, with a similar level of detail to that required for main outcomes. Where there are no additional outcomes please state 'None' or 'Not applicable' as appropriate to the review

None.

* Measures of effect

Please specify the effect measure(s) for you additional outcome(s) e.g. relative risks, odds ratios, risk difference, and/or 'number needed to treat.

Not applicable.

26. * Data extraction (selection and coding).

Describe how studies will be selected for inclusion. State what data will be extracted or obtained. State how this will be done and recorded.

Titles and/or abstracts of studies retrieved using the search strategy and from additional sources (i.e. 'fingertip searching' of reference and citation lists of relevant studies). Studies will be excluded on the basis of the inclusion/exclusion criteria initially by title. The abstracts of all studies not excluded at the title stage will be reviewed and further exclusions made. Full text of the remaining studies will then be retrieved and reviewed, with further exclusions based on inclusion/exclusion criteria being made. This process will be completed solely by the primary study author. Data from the studies will be extracted in a standardised format. Extracted information will be used to assess study quality and for evidence synthesis. Extracted information will include study setting (location and professional context), participant demographics, study

Page: 6 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews

NHS National Institute for Health Research

aims, hypotheses and methodology, study methodology; recruitment and study completion rates, details of the EBP attitude/belief measure, details of the EBP utilisation measure, details of the analysis linking the two measures (e.g. regressions), data pertaining to the analyses including type of effect sizes, magnitude of effect sizes, significance of analyses, information for assessment of the risk of bias and power calculations.

27. * Risk of bias (quality) assessment.

Describe the method of assessing risk of bias or quality assessment. State which characteristics of the studies will be assessed and any formal risk of bias tools that will be used. The Downs and Black quality tool will be used to assess quality of articles chosen, which will inform

interpretation of results.

Quality assessment will be completed by the primary author, with an additional reviewer assessing 20% of the identified studies for comparison and to establish inter-rater reliability. Quality ratings will be compared for reliability and discrepancies discussed and resolved.

28. * Strategy for data synthesis.

Provide details of the planned synthesis including a rationale for the methods selected. This **must not be** generic text but should be **specific to your review** and describe how the proposed analysis will be applied to your data.

A narrative synthesis of the findings from the included studies will be provided, structured around the degree to which Evidence Based Practice (EBP) attitude/belief measures are linked to (e.g. correlate with or predict) Cognitive Behavioural Therapy EBP utilisation/adherence. Specific attention will be paid to the consistency of the link and effect size of similar measures across different studies, as well as comparisons regarding data from different types of attitude/belief measures and/or CBT methodologies/techniques. Summaries of these effects will be reported via their effect size and significance. Where possible effect sizes will be converted into the same units (Pearson's r), aiding comparisons across studies.

Initial scoping searches revealed a number of studies measuring EBP attitudes using the Evidence-based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS). Therefore it is anticipated there will be enough data to complete a metaanalysis on a subset of the results studies, focusing on the results of the EBPAS Openness subscale. A random-effects meta-regression will be used on all data which can be converted to an equivalent effect size (e.g. r). Regression models will not be required to include the same co-variants in reported models across studies and thus a partial correlation meta-regression will be applied to account for this. Heterogeneity will be assessed using both the Q-test and the I² statistic. An I² value greater than 75% will be considered indicative of substantial heterogeneity. Subgroup analysis will be carried out to investigate substantial heterogeneity. Evidence of publication bias will be examined using a forest plot and Egger's test. The online statistical software Meta Essentials will be used to carry out the meta-regression.

29. * Analysis of subgroups or subsets.

State any planned investigation of 'subgroups'. Be clear and specific about which type of study or participant will be included in each group or covariate investigated. State the planned analytic approach.

Page: 7 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews

National Institute for Health Research

If required, subgroup analysis will be carried out to investigate significant heterogeneity, dividing subgroups according to key demographic differences, for example, therapist client group, study location etc.

30. * Type and method of review.

Select the type of review and the review method from the lists below. Select the health area(s) of interest for your review.

Type of review Cost effectiveness No Diagnostic No Epidemiologic No Individual patient data (IPD) meta-analysis No Intervention No Meta-analysis Yes Methodology No Narrative synthesis Yes Network meta-analysis No Pre-clinical No Prevention No Prognostic No Prospective meta-analysis (PMA) No Review of reviews No Service delivery Yes Synthesis of qualitative studies No Systematic review Yes Other No

Health area of the review Alcohol/substance misuse/abuse No Blood and immune system

Page: 8 / 12

International prospective register of systematic reviews

National Institute for Health Research

No Cancer No Cardiovascular No Care of the elderly No Child health No Complementary therapies No Crime and justice No Dental No Digestive system No Ear, nose and throat No Education No Endocrine and metabolic disorders No Eye disorders No General interest No Genetics No Health inequalities/health equity No Infections and infestations No International development No Mental health and behavioural conditions Yes Musculoskeletal No Neurological No Nursing No Obstetrics and gynaecology No Oral health No Palliative care No Perioperative care No

Page: 9 / 12

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews

NHS National Institute for Health Research

Physiotherapy No Pregnancy and childbirth No Public health (including social determinants of health) No Rehabilitation No Respiratory disorders No Service delivery Yes Skin disorders No Social care No Surgery No **Tropical Medicine** No Urological No Wounds, injuries and accidents No Violence and abuse No

31. Language.

Select each language individually to add it to the list below, use the bin icon to remove any added in error. English

There is not an English language summary

32. * Country.

Select the country in which the review is being carried out from the drop down list. For multi-national collaborations select all the countries involved.

England

33. Other registration details.

Give the name of any organisation where the systematic review title or protocol is registered (such as with The Campbell Collaboration, or The Joanna Briggs Institute) together with any unique identification number assigned. (N.B. Registration details for Cochrane protocols will be automatically entered). If extracted data will be stored and made available through a repository such as the Systematic Review Data Repository (SRDR), details and a link should be included here. If none, leave blank.

34. Reference and/or URL for published protocol.

Give the citation and link for the published protocol, if there is one

Give the link to the published protocol.

Page: 10 / 12



International prospective register of systematic reviews

Alternatively, upload your published protocol to CRD in pdf format. Please note that by doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible.

No I do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

Please note that the information required in the PROSPERO registration form must be completed in full even if access to a protocol is given.

35. Dissemination plans.

Give brief details of plans for communicating essential messages from the review to the appropriate audiences.

Completion of the review may involve seeking publication

Do you intend to publish the review on completion? Yes

36. Keywords.

Give words or phrases that best describe the review. Separate keywords with a semicolon or new line. Keywords will help users find the review in the Register (the words do not appear in the public record but are included in searches). Be as specific and precise as possible. Avoid acronyms and abbreviations unless these are in wide use. Evidence based practice Therapists Clinicians Cognitive behavioural Therapy

Attitudes Beliefs

37. Details of any existing review of the same topic by the same authors.

Give details of earlier versions of the systematic review if an update of an existing review is being registered, including full bibliographic reference if possible.

38. * Current review status.

Review status should be updated when the review is completed and when it is published. For newregistrations the review must be Ongoing.

Please provide anticipated publication date

Review_Completed_not_published

39. Any additional information.

Provide any other information the review team feel is relevant to the registration of the review.

40. Details of final report/publication(s).

This field should be left empty until details of the completed review are available.

Give the link to the published review.

Page: 11 / 12

PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews NHS National Institute for Health Research

Page: 12 / 12

Appendix B – Search Strategy

<u>Scopus</u>

Search date: 01/11/2019

TITLE-ABS-KEY [article title, abstract, keywords]
 (cognition* OR thought* OR belie* OR prefer* OR attitude*)
 (3, 319, 213 results)

2. TITLE-ABS-KEY

(cbt OR "Cognitive Behavio* *Therap*" OR "Behavio* *Therap*") (86, 240 results)

3. TITLE-ABS-KEY

("Evidence-base*" OR evidence OR ebt OR ebp OR "Empiricallysupported treatment*" OR "Empirically supported treatment*" OR est) (3, 021, 592 results)

4. TITLE-ABS-KEY

(psychologist* OR "*therapist*" OR practitioner* OR "Mental Health Worker*" OR clinician*)

(770, 553 results)

5. #1 AND #2 AND #3 AND #4

(TITLE-ABS-

KEY (cognition* OR thought* OR belie* OR prefer* OR attitude*))
AND (TITLE-ABS-KEY (cbt OR "Cognitive Behavio*
Therap" OR "Behavio* *Therap*")) AND (TITLE-ABSKEY ("Evidence-Base*" OR evidence OR ebt OR ebp OR "Empiricallysupported treatment*" OR "Empirically supported
treatment*" OR est)) AND (TITLE-ABSKEY (psychologist* OR *therapist* OR practitioner* OR "Mental Health
Worker*" OR clinician*))
(927 results)

Ovid MEDLINE and PsycINFO

Search date: 01/11/19

 (Cognition* or Thought* or Belie* or Prefer* or Attitude*).ab. or (Cognition* or Thought* or Belie* or Prefer* or Attitude*).ti. or (Cognition* or Thought* or Belie* or Prefer* or Attitude*).kw. [.ti.=title, .ab.=abstract, .kw.=keyword heading]

(118, 774 results)

2. (CBT or "Cognitive Behavio* *Therap*" or "Behavio* *Therap*").ab. or (CBT or "Cognitive Behavio* *Therap*" or "Behavio* *Therap*").ti. or (CBT or "Cognitive Behavio* *Therap*" or "Behavio* *Therap*").kw.
(5, 983 results)

3. ("Evidence-Base*" or Evidence or EBT or EBP or "Empirically-supported treatment*" or "Empirically supported treatment*" or EST).ab. or ("Evidence-Base*" or Evidence or EBT or EBP or "Empirically-supported treatment*" or "Empirically supported treatment*" or EST).ti. or ("Evidence-Base*" or Evidence or EBT or EBP or "Empirically-supported treatment*" or "Empirically supported treatment*" or EST).kw.

(270, 893 results)

4. (Psychologist* or "*therapist*" or Practitioner* or "Mental Health Worker*" or Clinician*).ab. or (Psychologist* or "*therapist*" or Practitioner* or "Mental Health Worker*" or Clinician*).ti. or (Psychologist* or "*therapist*" or Practitioner* or "Mental Health Worker*" or Clinician*).kw.
(642, 973 results)

5. #1 AND #2 AND #3 AND #4

(678 results)

(558 results when dedpulicated)

85

Appendix C - Downs and Black Quality Assessment Checklist

Checklist for measuring study quality

Reporting

1. Is the hypothesis/aim/objective of the study clearly described?

yes	1
no	0

 Are the main outcomes to be measured clearly described in the Introduction or Methods section?

If the main outcomes are first mentioned in the Results section, the question should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0

3. Are the characteristics of the patients included in the study clearly described ? In cohort studies and trials, inclusion and/or exclusion criteria should be given. In case-control studies, a case-definition and the source for controls should be given.

yes	1
no	0

4. Are the interventions of interest clearly described?

Treatments and placebo (where relevant) that are to be compared should be clearly described.

yes	1
no	0

 Are the distributions of principal confounders in each group of subjects to be compared clearly described?

A list of principal confounders is provided.

yes	2
partially	1
no	0

6. Are the main findings of the study clearly described?

Simple outcome data (including denominators and numerators) should be reported for all major findings so that the reader can check the major analyses and conclusions. (This question does not cover statistical tests which are considered below).

yes	1
no	0

7. Does the study provide estimates of the random variability in the data for the main outcomes? In non normally distributed data the inter-quartile range of results should be reported. In normally distributed data the standard error, standard deviation or confidence intervals should be reported. If the distribution of the data is not described, it must be assumed that the estimates used were appropriate and the question should be answered yes.



8. Have all important adverse events that may be a consequence of the intervention been reported? This should be answered yes if the study demonstrates that there was a comprehensive attempt to measure adverse events. (A list of possible adverse events is provided).



9. Have the characteristics of patients lost to follow-up been described?

This should be answered yes where there were no losses to follow-up or where losses to follow-up were so small that findings would be unaffected by their inclusion. This should be answered no where a study does not report the number of patients lost to follow-up.

yes	1
no	0

10. Have actual probability values been reported(e.g. 0.035 rather than <0.05) for the main outcomes except where the probability value is less than 0.001?

yes	1
no	0

External validity

All the following criteria attempt to address the representativeness of the findings of the study and whether they may be generalised to the population from which the study subjects were derived.

11. Were the subjects asked to participate in the study representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?

The study must identify the source population for patients and describe how the patients were selected. Patients would be representative if they comprised the entire source population, an unselected sample of consecutive patients, or a random sample. Random sampling is only feasible where a list of all members of the relevant population exists. Where a study does not report the proportion of the source population from which the patients are derived, the question should be answered as unable to determine.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

12. Were those subjects who were prepared to participate representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?

The proportion of those asked who agreed should be stated. Validation that the sample was representative would include demonstrating that the distribution of the main confounding factors was the same in the study sample and the source population.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

13. Were the staff, places, and facilities where the patients were treated, representative of the treatment the majority of patients receive? For the question to be answered yes the study should demonstrate that the intervention was representative of that in use in the source population. The question should be answered no if, for example, the intervention was undertaken in a specialist centre unrepresentative of the hospitals most of the source population would attend.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

Internal validity - bias

14. Was an attempt made to blind study subjects to the intervention they have received ? For studies where the patients would have no way of knowing which intervention they received, this should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

15. Was an attempt made to blind those measuring the main outcomes of the intervention?

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

16. If any of the results of the study were based on "data dredging", was this made clear? Any analyses that had not been planned at the outset of the study should be clearly indicated. If no retrospective unplanned subgroup analyses were reported, then answer yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

17. In trials and cohort studies, do the analyses adjust for different lengths of follow-up of patients, or in case-control studies, is the time period between the intervention and outcome the same for cases and controls ? Where follow-up was the same for all study

patients the answer should yes. If different lengths of follow-up were adjusted for by, for example, survival analysis the answer should be yes. Studies where differences in follow-up are ignored should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

- 18. Were the statistical tests used to assess the main outcomes appropriate?
- The statistical techniques used must be appropriate to the data. For example nonparametric methods should be used for small sample sizes. Where little statistical analysis has been undertaken but where there is no evidence of bias, the question should be answered yes. If the distribution of the data (normal or not) is not described it must be assumed that the estimates used were appropriate and the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

19. Was compliance with the intervention/s reliable?

Where there was non compliance with the allocated treatment or where there was contamination of one group, the question should be answered no. For studies where the effect of any misclassification was likely to bias any association to the null, the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

20. Were the main outcome measures used accurate (valid and reliable)?

For studies where the outcome measures are clearly described, the question should be answered yes. For studies which refer to other work or that demonstrates the outcome measures are accurate, the question should be answered as yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

Internal validity - confounding (selection bias)

21. Were the patients in different intervention groups (trials and cohort studies) or were the cases and controls (case-control studies) recruited from the same population? For example, patients for all comparison groups should be selected from the same hospital. The question should be answered unable to determine for cohort and casecontrol studies where there is no information concerning the source of patients included in the study.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

22. Were study subjects in different intervention groups (trials and cohort studies) or were the cases and controls (case-control studies) recruited over the same period of time? For a study which does not specify the time period over which patients were recruited, the question should be answered as unable to determine.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

23. Were study subjects randomised to intervention groups?

Studies which state that subjects wererandomised should be answered yes except where method of randomisation would not ensure random allocation. For example alternate allocation would score no because it is predictable.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

24. Was the randomised intervention assignment concealed from both patients and health care staff until recruitment was complete and irrevocable? All non-randomised studies should be answered no. If assignment was concealed from patients but not from staff, it should be answered no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

25. Was there adequate adjustment for confounding in the analyses from which the main findings were drawn?

This question should be answered no for trials if: the main conclusions of the study were based on analyses of treatment rather than intention to treat; the distribution of known confounders in the different treatment groups was not described; or the distribution of known confounders differed between the treatment groups but was not taken into account in the analyses. In nonrandomised studies if the effect of the main confounders was not investigated or confounding was demonstrated but no adjustment was made in the final analyses the question should be answered as no.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

26. Were losses of patients to follow-up taken into account?

If the numbers of patients lost to follow-up are not reported, the question should be answered as unable to determine. If the proportion lost to follow-up was too small to affect the main findings, the question should be answered yes.

yes	1
no	0
unable to determine	0

Power

- 27. Did the study have sufficient power to detect a clinically important effect where the probability value for a difference being due to chance is less than 5%?
 - Sample sizes have been calculated to detect a difference of x% and y%.

	Size of <i>smallest</i> intervention group	
Α	<n1< td=""><td>0</td></n1<>	0
в	n ₁ -n ₂	1
С	n ₃ -n ₄	2
D	n ₅ -n ₆	3
Е	n ₇ -n ₈	4
F	n _s +	5

Measure	Description	Papers using measure	Reference(s)
Evidence-Based	A 15-item scale measuring mental health providers' attitudes	Allen and Crosby, 2014;	Aarons, 2004;
Practice Attitudes	towards EBP adoption. Four subscales measure intuitive 'Appeal'	Becker-Haimes et al., 2017,	Aarons, Cafri, Lugo,
Scale (EBPAS)	of EBP, likelihood of adopting EBP given 'Requirements' to do so,	2019;	and Sawitzky, 2012;
	'Openness' to new EBPs and 'Divergence' of current practice to	Beidas et al., 2014, 2015, 2017;	Rye, Torres, Friborg,
	EBP, insomuch as research-based interventions are viewed as less	Czincz and Romano, 2013;	Skre, and Aarons, 2017
	clinically useful and important than clinical experience. Expanded	Gray et al., 2007;	
	36- and 50-item versions of the scale have since been developed.	Pemberton et al., 2017;	
		Wiltsey Stirman et al., 2015	
Beliefs About	An eight-item measure investigating the degree to which	Allen and Crosby, 2014	Allen and Crosby, 2014
Session Structure	participants believe treatment sessions with children experiencing		
Scale (BASS)	trauma should be structured or directed. It contains a five-item		
	'Clinician-directed' subscale regarding beliefs about whether the		
	clinician or child should direct treatment. A second, three-item		
	'Verbal capacity' subscale measures therapists' beliefs regarding		
	children's capacity to discuss their traumatic experiences.		

Appendix D – Evidence-Based Practice Attitudes / Belief Measures

Measure	Description	Papers using measure	Reference(s)
Clinician	A 15-item questionnaire assessing participants demographics,	Beidas et al., 2014	Beidas, Barmish, and
Demographics	experience and attitudes towards EBP. Includes items on		Kendall, 2009
and Attitudes	participants' 'Opinion' of (in support or not) and 'Confidence' in		
Questionnaire	the efficacy of empirically supported treatments for youth anxiety.		
(CDAQ)	Also includes items on participants' 'motivation' to learn and use		
	CBT for child anxiety and views on the 'Usefulness' of learning		
	about this.		
Attitudes towards	Two scales of four items each. The attitudes towards EBP scale	Finley et al., 2018	Finley et al., 2018
EBP scale and	assesses participants' views on the likelihood of EBP to improve		
perceived barriers	quality of life for clients, EBP compatibility with client needs and		
toward EBP scale	advantageousness for clients, as well as EBP's fit with their		
	preference for working style. The perceived barriers to EBP scale		
	assesses participants' views on service users' likelihood to receive		
	reimbursement for EBP treatment, ease of incorporating EBP into		
	clinical work, likelihood of this causing complications in clinical		
	work and concern about EBP raising potential risks for service		
	users.		

Measure	Description	Papers using measure	Reference(s)
National Survey	A 47-item measure of participants' experiences with and attitude	Kolko et al., 2009	Addis and Krasnow,
Questionnaire	towards treatment manuals. Includes items relating to participants'		2000
(NSQ)	understanding of treatment manuals, views on the relation between		
	treatment manuals and good clinical practice, effects of treatment		
	manuals on improving outcomes and usefulness/appropriateness of		
	treatment manuals within relevant client groups.		
The Modified	An 8-item scale measuring participants' attitudes towards EBP in	Lewis and Simons, 2011	Borntrager, Chorpita,
Practice Attitudes	general. Based on the EBPAS, the MPAS differs through		Higa-McMillan, and
Scale (MPAS)	minimising references to manualised treatments within its items.		Weisz, 2009
The Negative	A 16-item scale measuring the degree to which participants agree	Parker and Waller, 2017	Parker and Waller,
Attitudes towards	with a series of negative attitudes towards CBT. Items were		2017
CBT Scale	identified from relevant literature, as well as clinician and patient		
(NACS)	online discussion forums		

Measure	Description	Papers using measure	Reference(s)
Therapist Beliefs	A 21-item questionnaire assessing participants' levels of agreement	Pittig et al., 2019;	Deacon et al., 2013
about Exposure	with various negative beliefs about exposure-based interventions	Reid et al., 2018;	
Scale (TBES)		Whiteside et al., 2016	
Attitudes towards	A measure of participants' attitudes towards exposure. Items are	Sars and Minnen, 2015	Sars and Minnen, 2015
exposure scale	scored on an eight-point agree-disagree Likert scale. Includes 11		
	items regarding participants' "Willingness" to use exposure		
	techniques, four items on participants perception of the "Treatment		
	Credibility" of exposure and five "Personal Preference" items,		
	indicating participants affinity for using exposure.		

Measure	Description	Paper(s) using measure	Reference(s)
Treatment	A 24-item scale of common therapeutic techniques for the	Allen and Crosby, 2014	Allen and Johnson,
Techniques Scale	treatment abused and neglected children. Participants rate		2012
	the likelihood of using each item in their practice. Items		
	were identified via reviewing treatment manuals, books and		
	articles		
Therapy	A 57-item measure of therapeutic techniques for	Becker-Haimes et al., 2017, 2019;	Weersing, Weisz, and
Procedures	child/adolescent populations, including those specific to	Beidas et al., 2015, 2017;	Donenberg, 2002
Checklist—Family	cognitive and behavioural theoretical domains. Participants	Czincz and Romano, 2013;	
Revised (TPC-FR)	indicate the frequency with which they use each technique.	Kolko et al., 2009	
Identification and	A self-report measure using open and closed questions to	Beidas et al., 2014	Benjamin, Beidas,
Treatment of	assess rates and modalities of treatment use in primary		Edmunds, Cohen, and
Anxious Youth	treatment settings. Also assesses facilitators and barriers to		Kendall, 2010
(ITAY)	treatment use.		

Appendix E – Evidence-Based Practice Usage / Adherence Measures

Measure	Description	Paper(s) using measure	Reference(s)
Therapy Methods	A 26-item scale asking participants to rate (0-100%) their	Parker and Waller, 2017	Parker and Waller,
Questionnaire	frequency of usage and confidence in various therapy		2017
(TMQ)	techniques in the treatment of anxiety. Items were identified		
	from the literature and treatment manuals. The measure has		
	four subscales: psychoeducation and general CBT		
	techniques, cognitive techniques, behavioural techniques and	l	
	non-CBT techniques		
Part Two: Research Report

An Investigation into the Perceived Importance of Alliance and Adherence within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A Comparison of Service Users' and Therapists' Beliefs

Abstract

Objective: Alliance and adherence to therapeutic techniques are key elements of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), but might have greater or lesser importance at different stages of therapy. Therapists' beliefs regarding the relative importance of alliance and adherence across CBT might impact the focus and outcome of therapy. This research aimed to investigate whether therapists hold similar beliefs to service users regarding the importance of alliance and adherence across CBT and whether therapists could accurately predict service users' beliefs. The roles of personal characteristics and experiences of CBT were also investigated.

Method: CBT therapists (n=103) and service users (n=181) who had previously had CBT rated the importance of alliance and adherence to CBT outcomes in early, mid and late therapy. Therapists also predicted service users' responses. Mann-Whitney U tests compared therapists' responses and therapists' predictions with service users' responses at each stage of therapy. Multiple linear regressions were also conducted to determine whether personal characteristics predicted therapists' responses, or whether experiences of CBT predicted service users' responses.

Results: Therapists rated alliance and adherence as more important than service users did at all stages of therapy, with the largest discrepancy for alliance in early therapy. Therapists accurately predicted service users' alliance importance ratings. However, therapists underestimated service users' adherence importance ratings for early and mid-therapy. More successful CBT experiences were associated with higher adherence importance ratings in service users. Older therapists rated adherence as less important. More empathetic and female therapists gave higher predictions for service user ratings of alliance importance.

96

Conclusion: This research indicated that therapists hold different beliefs regarding the importance of alliance and adherence in CBT to service users. The research also indicated that therapists hold inaccurate predictions regarding service users' beliefs about therapy, which could impact therapy delivery and outcomes. The accuracy of therapists' predictions, as well as the difference between therapists' and service users' beliefs, might be impacted by therapists' characteristics and service users' previous CBT experiences.

Practitioner Points:

- Therapists accurately predict how important alliance is to service users in CBT. Therapists should continue prioritising alliance within CBT.
- Therapists underestimate how important adherence is to service users in CBT. Therapists should adhere to techniques, especially early in therapy
- Therapists inaccurately predict service users' therapy-related beliefs. Therefore, therapists should ask service users about their therapy preferences, rather than assuming them.

Introduction

How Important is the Therapeutic Alliance?

Therapeutic alliance is a widely-researched common factor within psychological therapies. An influential conceptualisation of the "therapeutic" or "working alliance" (Bordin, 1979), consists of three components:

- a. Development of shared goals between therapist and service user.
- b. Agreement on tasks to reach these goals.
- c. An affective bond between therapist and service user, often involving trust, liking and understanding.

Alliance is recognised as being important for positive therapy outcomes, with Beck et al. (1979) describing the alliance as necessary but insufficient for clinical change. On average, clinicians estimate the alliance accounts for 34.6% of the variance in therapy outcomes (D'Souza Walsh et al., 2019).

In reviewing over 100 studies, Lambert and Barley (2001) concluded that 30% of improvement in psychotherapy patients was a function of common factors – those not related to specific therapeutic modalities. Common factors include the alliance, but also therapist and client factors (Wampold, 2015). Meta-analyses have estimated that alliance accounts for 5-7% of outcomes (Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Martin et al., 2000), which is substantially less than clinicians' average estimate of 34.6%.

Alliance, Early Symptom Change and Outcomes in Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

The link between alliance and therapeutic outcome might be indirect and result from a third factor, such as early symptom improvement (Crits-Christoph, Gibbons, and Hearon, 2006). There is evidence supporting this hypothesis within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) research. For example, in CBT for eating disorders, early symptom improvement has been identified as a stronger predictor of therapy outcomes than early alliance (Agras et al., 2000; Graves et al., 2017; Raykos et al., 2014; Turner et al., 2015; Vall & Wade, 2015; Wilson et al., 2002)

Additionally, evidence that symptom improvement precedes alliance improvements has been observed in studies investigating CBT for eating disorders, depression and anxiety (Brown et al., 2013a; Graves et al., 2017; Lutz et al., 2013; Raykos et al., 2014; Tang & DeRubeis, 1999; Turner et al., 2015; Webb et al., 2011). Furthermore, alliance improvements, after early symptom improvement, might lead to additional symptom improvements later, as observed within a meta-analysis on CBT outcomes for eating disorders (Graves et al., 2017), as well as research on CBT for depression, where Tang and DeRubeis (1999) referred to it as an "upward spiral".

The Role of Adherence in CBT

How can early symptom improvement, leading to subsequent alliance improvement and further positive therapy outcomes, be maximised? Are therapy techniques especially important early on to prompt symptom improvement?

Lambert and Barley (2001) have estimated that specific therapy techniques account for 15% of therapeutic outcomes. Additionally, use of specific techniques have been associated with positive outcomes in CBT (Bennett-Levy, 2003; Rees et al., 2005; Westra et al., 2007). Therefore, adherence to therapy techniques might be important in successful therapy. However, a meta-analysis failed to find a significant association between adherence and outcomes (Webb, DeRubeis, & Barber, 2010). In response, researchers have theorised a curvilinear relationship (Barber, 2009; Hogue et al., 2008), whereby adherence that is too high (i.e., clinician inflexibility) or too low (i.e., absence of recommended techniques) can reduce positive outcomes.

Additionally, the results of Webb et al.'s (2010) meta-analysis revealed significant heterogeneity, indicating differences in underlying populations. Therefore, the mixed results might be a function of different adherence-outcome associations across different therapy models and stages of therapy. For instance, adherence might be especially important within early CBT. Although not always the case (Loeb et al., 2005), research focusing on the early stages of therapy within CBT has found positive adherence-outcome associations for depression (DeRubeis & Feeley, 1990; Feeley et al., 1999; Strunk et al., 2010), substance use (Hogue et al., 2008), panic disorder (Haug et al., 2015) and bulimia (Folke et al., 2017).

Alliance, however, might be especially important in later CBT. Findings for alliance-outcome associations in early CBT are mixed (Gaston et al., 1998; Hogue et al., 2006; Loeb et al., 2005; Waller, Evans, et al., 2012), although increases in later allianceoutcome association have been found in CBT for depression, social anxiety and panic disorder (Gaston et al., 1991; Haug et al., 2015; Weiss et al., 2014). Similarly, a metaanalysis by Horvath et al. (2011), found small-to-medium alliance-outcome associations in early and mid-therapy (r = 0.25) but this association was larger in late therapy (r =0.39).

Therefore, adherence, symptom improvement and alliance might all interact, with early adherence-led outcomes potentially helping to build later trust in the therapist and therapy (Hill, 2005). This increased trust and improved alliance might lead to further symptom improvement in an 'upward spiral' (Tang & DeRubeis, 1999).

The Importance of Therapists' Beliefs and Their Impact on Therapy

In summary, alliance and adherence are both important for therapy outcomes. Therefore, both should be key foci within therapy. However, the aspects of therapy that therapists do prioritise is likely to be influenced by therapists' beliefs about the relative importance of therapy elements. For example, Kolko et al. (2009) discovered that CBT therapists who believed that exposure and cognitive restructuring were more important were more likely to use cognitive therapy and exposure techniques.

Therapists' beliefs about the importance of therapy elements might also impact therapy outcomes. For example, within CBT for anorexia nervosa, therapists expressed stronger beliefs that early alliance predicts later weight gain, despite contrary evidence (Brown et al., 2013a). This belief was associated with worse outcomes, possibly because it resulted in a greater focus on the alliance than on weight gain early in CBT (Brown et al., 2014). Additionally, negative beliefs about treatment manuals have been associated with worse outcomes in CBT for chronic fatigue syndrome (Wiborg et al., 2012).

Therapists' beliefs about the importance of adherence or alliance might lead them to prioritise one over the other. For example, in CBT for eating disorders, therapists' stronger beliefs that the therapeutic relationship drove outcomes was associated with a reduced use of evidence-based techniques (Mulkens et al., 2018). Therapists might also prioritise some components over others if they believe them to conflict. For example, CBT therapists negatively appraise treatment manuals and homework if they believe that manuals and homework negatively impact the therapeutic relationship (Addis et al., 2006; Addis & Krasnow, 2000; Kazantzis et al., 2005). Additionally, therapists' negative beliefs about exposure, including that it is damaging to the therapeutic relationship (Deacon, Farrell, et al., 2013), is associated with a 101 reduction in its use (Pittig et al., 2019; Reid et al., 2018; Whiteside et al., 2016).

Therefore, beliefs that alliance is more important than adherence to protocol-specified techniques might contribute to a reduced use of therapy techniques (Brown et al., 2013b) – a phenomenon Waller (2009) has termed 'therapist drift'. Therapist drift might be particularly likely in early therapy, with therapists potentially believing that a strong alliance should be established to drive early change before techniques can be introduced.

Which Therapists Are More Likely to Engage in Therapist Drift and Why?

Therapist drift is likely to be impacted by several factors. For example, therapist drift might be encouraged by service culture or supervision style (Waller & Turner, 2016). Service user factors are also important. For example, higher service user expectancy regarding therapy outcomes is associated with greater homework adherence, and therefore might reduce therapeutic drift (Westra et al., 2007).

Therapists' beliefs about therapy and responses to service users are also likely to be important. For example, therapist drift might relate to Meehl's (1973) 'spun glass theory of the mind' – an assumption that service users cannot tolerate stressful therapy components. Thus, therapists who feel protective of service users might shield them from challenging elements of therapy, possibly to prevent potential alliance ruptures. Some therapists might be at greater risk of therapist drift and 'protecting' service users than others.

Waller and Turner (2016) have argued that therapist drift might result from therapists' own anxiety regarding therapy techniques such as exposure. Therapists might cope with their own anxiety by avoiding certain therapy techniques. For example, anxious therapists show greater concern regarding the delivery of evidence-based therapy and greater risk of therapist drift when administering CBT for eating disorders (Mulkens et al., 2018; Turner et al., 2014; Waller, Stringer, et al., 2012). Additionally, anxious service users might be at greater risk of being excluded from exposure work, if their anxiety provokes anxiety in therapists (Meyer et al., 2014).

Clinician anxiety and increased therapist drift might be impacted by therapist empathy. Therapists who are more empathetic feel stronger emotional reactions in response to service users' emotions (Sprens, McKinnon, Mar, & Levine, 2009). Therefore, more empathetic therapists are likely to feel greater anxiety in response to service users' anxiety. If more empathetic therapists can manage their emotional responses effectively, therapist empathy might be unrelated to therapist drift. However, in the instances where high therapist empathy is combined with an avoidant coping style, more empathetic therapists might possibly manage service users' and their own anxiety by avoiding technique adherence. Additionally, therapists with higher levels of empathy might be more likely to prioritise the alliance, as the two concepts have significant conceptual overlap (Nienhuis et al., 2018).

Finally, Waller, Stringer, et al. (2012) found that older and more experienced therapists were more likely to engage in therapist drift, suggesting that these might be important demographic factors. However, elsewhere, older and more experienced therapists have shown less concern regarding therapeutic technique delivery (Turner et al., 2014).

Are Therapists Making Incorrect Assumptions Regarding Service Users' Beliefs?

In delivering evidence-based practice, therapists should incorporate service users' preferences (Sackett et al., 2000). However, while clinicians might prefer to move away from evidence based techniques in routine practice (Shafran et al., 2009), this therapeutic drift might not reflect service user preference. An American national survey revealed that service users preferred empirically-supported treatments over other factors, such as the quality of the therapist-patient relationship and therapist empathy (Kirk et al., 2016). Therefore, if therapists are avoiding evidence-based techniques, possibly due to prioritising other aspects of therapy such as the alliance, they might not be representing service users' preferences.

Therapists might be unaware of service users' preferences and beliefs. Therapists might also incorrectly assume service users' beliefs and preferences, based on their own preferences and beliefs. For example, CBT therapists' concerns about and low utilisation of exposure for PTSD and panic disorder is at odds with service users' experiences and preferences for exposure-based therapy (Becker et al., 2004, 2007, 2009; Deacon, Lickel, et al., 2013; Hipol & Deacon, 2013). Additionally, therapists' own training and theoretical orientation can influence their perspective on service users' preferences in PTSD treatment (Garcia et al., 2019).

The Need for Further Research

In conclusion, therapists' beliefs about the relative importance of the alliance and adherence throughout therapy might influence what they prioritise throughout therapy. Therapists' assumptions regarding service users' beliefs and preferences might also impact therapy delivery, potentially negatively if therapists' assumptions are incorrect. Therefore, it will be important to understand therapists' beliefs about the importance of therapy components, and their assumptions about service users' beliefs. The focus of the current research is to quantify and compare CBT therapists' and service users' beliefs regarding the relative importance of alliance and adherence across different stages of therapy.

Aims and Hypotheses

This proposed research had three key aims and six corresponding a priori hypotheses:

- Aim One: To determine whether CBT therapists rate the importance of alliance and adherence in CBT the same as service users do. This will be looked at in different stages of therapy (early, mid and late therapy).
 - Hypothesis one: Service users will rate the alliance as less important than therapists do, with the largest difference occurring in early therapy.
 - Hypothesis two: Service users will rate adherence as more important than therapists do, with the largest difference occurring in early therapy.
- Aim Two: To determine whether CBT therapists accurately predict service users' ratings of alliance and adherence importance. This will be looked at in different stages of therapy (early, mid and late therapy).
 - Hypothesis three: Service users will rate the alliance as less important than therapists predict, with the largest difference occurring in early therapy.
 - Hypothesis four: Service users will rate adherence as more important than therapists predict, with the largest difference occurring in early therapy.
- Aim Three: To determine whether therapists' characteristics and service users' experiences of CBT are associated with how important they rate alliance and adherence to be.

- Hypothesis five: Therapists with the following characteristics will have higher alliance importance ratings and lower adherence importance ratings:
 - Higher anxiety
 - Higher empathy
 - Greater age
 - More years' experience practicing CBT

 Hypothesis six: Therapists with the following characteristics will predict higher alliance importance ratings and lower adherence importance ratings in service users:

- Higher anxiety
- Higher empathy
- Greater age
- More years' experience practicing CBT

Method

Ethics

Ethical approval was granted by the Sheffield University Ethics Committee (see Appendix A for approval letter). Participants were directed to an information page (Appendix B) and confirmed their consent before continuing with the study (Appendix C). Participants were told that they had the right to withdraw at any time during or after the study. The debriefing information (Appendix D) included contact details of the researchers. Participants were encouraged to contact the researchers for any queries or ethical issues, including withdrawal of their data from the study (by using a unique ID code generated during participation, allowing data to be identified whilst maintaining confidentiality). Study adverts posted online reminded participants to protect their confidentiality by not responding to posts publicly. Data were collected and stored via the Qualtrics system, on a secure University computer network. Data were passwordprotected, with only members of the research team having access. It was not anticipated that participation in the study would be distressing for participants.

Design

A mixed, cross-sectional design was used. A quantitative questionnaire approach was employed to measure participants' beliefs regarding importance of therapy components, participant demographics, therapists' characteristics and service users' experience of CBT. An online questionnaire was employed to maximise anonymity and ease of participation.

Aims one and two had the following independent and dependent variables:

- Independent variables:
 - Type of participant (CBT therapist or service user; between-subjects variable)
 - Stage of therapy (early, middle, late; within-subjects variable)
- Dependent variables:
 - Ratings of alliance importance
 - Ratings of adherence importance
 - Predictions of service users' ratings of alliance importance (therapists only)
 - Predictions of service users' ratings of adherence importance (therapists only)

Aim three was investigated using linear regression analyses. Full details of these analyses and relevant variables are given in the data analysis section.

107

Participants

There were two groups of participants – CBT therapists and CBT service users. Therapists needed to have a qualification or accreditation in CBT and needed to have routinely delivered individual CBT within the previous two years. Service users needed to have completed individual CBT within the previous two years.

An a priori sample size calculation, conducted on the assumption of using 2x2 mixed ANOVAs to investigate study aims one and two, was performed to determine sample size targets. To detect a medium effect size at power .80 for an alpha level of .05, Cohen (1992) gives a required sample size of 64 participants per group. This target was met, with 103 therapists recruited (75 completers) and 181 service users recruited (140 completers). Overall, 41 service users (22.7%) and 28 therapists (27.2%) dropped out of the study. See Figure 1 for dropout rates throughout the study and Table 1 for participant demographics. Note that demographic data were taken at the end of the study and are therefore only available for completers.



Figure 1. Dropout of participants during the study

Table 1.

Participant demographics

	Service	Therapists	Total
	users	N (%)	N (%)
	N (%)		
Gender			
Female	112 (80)	52 (69.3)	164 (76.3)
Male	24 (17.1)	23 (30.7)	47 (21.9)
Other	3 (2.2)	0 (0)	3 (1.4)
Prefer not to say	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)
Age (years)			
10-29	76 (54.3)	3 (4)	79 (36.7)
30-49	49 (35)	41 (54.7)	90 (41.9)
50-69	14 (10)	29 (38.7)	43 (20)
70-89	1 (0.7)	2 (2.7)	3 (1.4)
Mean \pm SD	32.2 ± 11.9	47.1 ±11.4	37.4 ±13.7
Experience of CBT on my			
symptoms/difficulties:			
CBT made them worse	8 (5.7)		
CBT had no impact on them	17 (12.1)		
CBT helped them to improve a little	31 (22.1)		
CBT helped them to improve moderately	41 (29.3)		
CBT helped them to improve a large amount	33 (23.6)		
CBT helped me to recover from them	10 (7.2)		
CBT qualifications*			
Doctorate in clinical psychology		16 (21.3)	
Doctorate or qualification in counselling			
psychology		4 (5.3)	
Improving Access to Psychological			
Therapies (IAPT) qualification		12 (16)	
Post-graduate diploma/certificate in			
CBT		52 (69.3)	
Other		17 (22.7)	
Years delivering CBT			
Mean \pm SD		12.6 ± 7.6	

*Percentage values do not total to 100%, as participants could select more than one option

Therapists were recruited by emails sent to registered British Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapies (BABCP) members. Service users were recruited by email from the University of Sheffield student population and online recruitment tools, such as Survey Swap and Survey Circle. Participants were also recruited via emails to mental health services and charities (e.g., OCD Action, Sheffield Flourish, Combat Stress, and MQ Mental Health). Emails included information on the study and a link for participation (see Appendix E). Participating charities promoted the study through internal mailing lists and posts on their website or social media.

Ideally, participants in each group would have been matched by recruiting dyadic pairs of therapists and service users, allowing for greater control of confounding variables. However, this approach was not taken due to practical limitations. The research team had experienced previous difficulties recruiting dyadic pairs of participants, making this approach unfeasible within the required research timeframe

Procedure

Two questionnaires, one for therapists and one for service users, were created and hosted online using Qualtrics survey software. Online adverts for the study contained a link to the appropriate questionnaire (see Appendix E). Participants following the link were presented with the study information, consent form and screening questionnaires (see Appendices B, C, F). Suitable and consenting participants were then presented with the appropriate questions and measures, detailed below in the measures section. Data were collected and stored via the Qualtrics system. When participants had finished the questionnaires, they were directed to a page of debriefing information (see Appendix D).

The design and wording of the study materials, including online adverts, information sheets and questionnaires, was developed in collaboration with two service

111

user representatives and two CBT therapists. This was to ensure it was easily understandable and interpreted in the way intended by the researchers.

Measures

CBT Component Importance Questionnaires

Using a measure designed for this study, service users and therapists were asked to self-rate how important each of six common CBT components were for therapy outcomes (see Appendices G and H). Importance ratings were on a seven-point Likert scale. Three CBT components represented therapeutic alliance - agreement on goals, agreement on tasks, and the affective bond. Three CBT components represented adherence to CBT techniques - behavioural techniques, cognitive techniques, and homework tasks. Participants were asked to rate the importance of each component within early therapy (the first third of therapy), mid therapy (the middle third of therapy) and late therapy (the final third of therapy). In addition, therapists were asked to predict service users' importance ratings for CBT components within early, mid and late therapy.

The three alliance items on the questionnaire were developed from Bordin's (1979) three alliance components. Further description and explanation of these alliance components were developed based on the Working Alliance Inventory (Horvath & Greenberg, 1989) (e.g., what the affective alliance bond might involve). The three adherence items were developed in reference to the Cognitive Therapy Scale-Revised (CTS-R; Blackburn et al., 2001), particularly item 11 on the CTS-R, which details evidence-based change methods.

The questionnaire was piloted by asking two CBT therapists and two CBT service users to complete, review and discuss the questionnaire with the lead researcher.

This pilot was carried out to ensure the questionnaire was easily understandble, and aligned with service users' and therapists' understanding of CBT. Discussions from this process resulted in some of the questionnaire wording being changed to read more clearly, as well as additional examples being listed to further explain some questionnaire items.

Empathy

Therapists were asked to complete the Toronto Empathy Questionnaire (TEQ) as a measure of empathy (see Appendix I). The TEQ is a 16-item self-report scale which was developed as a unifactorial construct of empathy. The TEQ conceptualises empathy as an emotional process. It has good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.85), test-retest reliability (r=0.81) and has shown convergent validity with other self-report and behavioural measures of empathy (Sprens et al., 2009).

Intolerance of Uncertainty

Therapists were asked to complete the 12-item version of the Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale as a measure of anxiety (IUS-12; Carleton, Norton, & Asmundson, 2007; see Appendix J). This measure was chosen due to its brief length and good psychometric properties. The IUS-12 was found to have excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.87 - 0.91) and good test-retest reliability (r=0.77). The IUS-12 also correlates highly (r=0.94) with the original, 27-item version of the IUS (Carleton et al., 2007; Khawaja & Yu, 2010). The IUS-12 consists of two factors – prospective anxiety (an inability to tolerate unpredictable events and circumstances) and inhibitory anxiety (an anxiety-related inhibition of action; Carleton et al., 2007). However, a bifactor model of the IUS-12 also supported the presence of a general intolerance of uncertainty factor (Hale et al., 2016).

Demographic Data and CBT Experience

Demographic data were collected for all participants completing the study, including age and gender. Additionally, therapists were asked their number of years' experience delivering CBT and professional qualifications. Service users were asked to rate what impact CBT had on their symptoms, which was operationalised as a 6-point Likert scale, ranging from CBT making symptoms worse to CBT helping the service user to recover from their symptoms. Higher scores indicated greater symptom recovery. See Appendix K for the full list of participant demographic and CBT experience questions.

Data Analysis

Normality of data were investigated via Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests, investigation of skewness and kurtosis values and visual inspection of histogram and Q-Q plots (Field, 2018; see Appendix L).

Aim One

Initially aims one and two were planned to be analysed using mixed ANOVAs. However, data pertaining to aims one and two were non-normal in their distribution. Normality could not be achieved using data transformation. Therefore, parametric analyses could not be applied.

Aim one was to determine whether CBT therapists rate the importance of alliance and adherence in CBT the same as service users do, across different stages of therapy. To achieve this aim, mean importance ratings for alliance items and mean importance ratings for adherence items were calculated for each participant, for each stage of therapy (early, mid, late). Mann-Whitney U tests were conducted at each stage of therapy, comparing service users' average alliance ratings with therapists' average alliance ratings. Mann-Whitney U tests were also conducted at each stage of therapy, comparing service users' average adherence ratings with therapists' average adherence ratings. Effect size estimates for Mann-Whitney U tests were calculated, allowing for comparison of effect sizes. As recommended by Field (2018), estimated effect sizes were calculated using the formula $r = z / \sqrt{N}$.

Aim Two

Aim two was to determine whether CBT therapists accurately predict service users' ratings of alliance and adherence importance, across different stages of therapy. To achieve this aim, therapists' predictions of service users' alliance and adherence importance ratings were averaged for each therapy stage. Mann-Whitney U tests were conducted at each stage of therapy, comparing therapists' predictions of service users' alliance ratings with service users' actual alliance ratings. Mann-Whitney U tests were also conducted at each stage of therapy, comparing therapists' predictions of service users' adherence ratings with service users' actual alliance ratings. As per aim one, effect size estimates were calculated for Mann-Whitney U tests.

Aim Three

Aim three involved determining whether participants' characteristics or CBT improvement scores were associated with participants' beliefs about alliance and adherence importance. This was investigated for service users' and therapists' own beliefs regarding alliance and adherence importance, as well as therapists' predicted scores for service user ascribed importance. Separate analyses were not conducted according to stage of therapy. Therefore, alliance and adherence importance scores were averaged across all stages (early, mid and late therapy).

115

For service user data, two multiple linear regressions were conducted, one predicting mean alliance importance scores and one predicting mean adherence importance scores. Service users' CBT symptom/difficulty improvement ratings were included as independent variables. When mean alliance scores were the dependent variable, mean adherence scores were entered as an independent variable, and vice versa. The enter procedure was used.

For therapist data, four multiple linear regressions (simultaneous entry method) were conducted, with the following as dependent variables:

- A) Therapists' mean self-ratings of alliance importance
- B) Therapists' mean self-ratings of adherence importance
- C) Therapists' mean predictions of service users' alliance importance
- D) Therapists' mean predictions of service users' adherence importance

The independent variables in each case were:

- Intolerance of uncertainty scores
- Empathy scores
- Years of experience delivering CBT
- Age
- Gender
- Adherence importance scores (A and C only)
- Alliance importance scores (B and D only)

Before conducting regressions, absence of multicollinearity of independent variables was assessed by conducting bivariate correlations between all independent variables. No Pearson correlations greater than 0.7 were revealed. Furthermore, variance inflation factor values included in models were all less than five. Calculation of variance values revealed the assumption of non-zero variances was upheld. Assumptions of linearity and homoscedasticity were established through visual inspection of a scatterplot of standardised predicted residuals against standardised residuals. Outliers on this plot (± three) were removed from the regression. Visual inspection of histogram and Q-Q plots was used to establish normality of residuals (Field, 2018). See Appendix M for tables and plots related to these assumptions. Additionally, data also met the assumption of independent errors for each regression, with Durbin-Watson values being within an acceptable range (see Tables 4-9)

Results

Aim One

Hypothesis One

Mann-Whitney U tests revealed that service users rated alliance importance significantly lower than therapists, across all stages of therapy. This difference was largest in early therapy (r = -0.32), compared with mid (r = -0.25) and late therapy (r = -0.26). See Table 2 for full results. The results support the hypothesis that service users rate alliance as less important than therapists do, and that the largest difference occurs in early therapy.

Hypothesis Two

Mann-Whitney U tests revealed that service users rated adherence importance significantly lower than therapists, across all stages of therapy. These differences were associated with small effect sizes (r = -0.21 - -0.25). See Table 2 for full results. The results do not support the hypothesis that service users will rate adherence as more important than therapists do, and that the largest will occur in early therapy.

Table 2	T	ab	le	2
---------	---	----	----	---

Mann-Whitney U tests comparing service users' and therapists' self-ratings of alliance and adherence importance across therapy

Stage of	Alliance / adherence	Type of importance ratings	Ň	Overall	Standard	Mann-	Z	Significance	Effect
therapy				median	deviation	Whitney U	value		size (r)
Early therapy	Alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	158	5.83	1.07				
		Therapist self-ratings	99	6.33	0.64	4882.5	-5.11	p < 0.001	-0.32
	Adherence importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	158	5.33	1.16				
		Therapist self-ratings	99	6.00	0.80	5547	-3.95	p < 0.001	-0.25
Mid therapy	Alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	145	5.67	1.16				
		Therapist self-ratings	92	6.00	0.78	4730	-3.8	p < 0.001	-0.25
	Adherence importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	145	5.67	1.16				
		Therapist self-ratings	92	6.00	0.86	4737	-3.78	p < 0.001	-0.25
Late therapy	Alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	140	5.00	1.21				
		Therapist self-ratings	90	5.83	0.95	4349	-3.98	p < 0.001	-0.26
	Adherence importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	140	5.33	1.24				
		Therapist self-ratings	90	5.67	0.97	4721.5	-3.22	p = 0.001	-0.21

Key: Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Aim Two

Hypothesis Three

Mann-Whitney U tests revealed that service users rated alliance importance similarly to therapists' predictions, across all stages of therapy. See Table 3 for full results. The results did not support the hypothesis that service users will rate the alliance as less important than therapists predict, or that the largest difference will occur in early therapy.

Hypothesis Four

Mann-Whitney U tests revealed that service users rated adherence as significantly more important than therapists predicted in early and mid-therapy, but not late therapy. The effect sizes for these differences were larger in early therapy (r = -0.32), than mid therapy (r = -0.14). See Table 3 for full results. The results broadly support the hypothesis that service users will rate adherence as more important than therapists predict, and that the largest difference will occur in early therapy.

Table 3.

Mann-Whitney U tests comparing therapist-predicted service user ratings and actual service user self-ratings of alliance and adherence importance across therapy

Stage of	Alliance / adherence	Type of importance ratings	Ν	Overall	Standard	Mann-	Z value	Significance	Effect
therapy				median	deviation	Whitney U			size (r)
Early	Alliance importance	Service user self-ratings	158	5.83	1.07				
therapy	ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	99	5.67	0.85	5749	-1.3	p = 0.195	-0.08
	Adharanca	Service user self ratings	158	5 3 3	1 16				
	Aunerence	Service user sen-ratings	130	5.55	1.10	20115	4.05	0.004	0.00
	importance ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	99	4.67	0.90	3944.5	-4.87	p < 0.001	-0.32
Mid	Alliance importance	Service user self-ratings	145	5.67	1.16				
therapy	ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	92	5.33	0.84	5496.5	-0.19	p = 0.849	-0.01
	Adherence	Service user self-ratings	145	5.67	1.16				
	importance ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	92	5.00	1.00	4625	-2.12	p = 0.034	-0.14
Late	Alliance importance	Service user self-ratings	140	5.00	1.21				
therapy	ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	90	5.33	0.91	4616.5	-1.76	p = 0.079	-0.12
	Adherence	Service user self-ratings	140	5.33	1.24				
	importance ratings	Therapist-predicted service user ratings	90	5.00	1.09	5090.5	-0.68	p = 0.496	-0.05

Key: Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Aim Three

Aim three involved investigating whether participants' characteristics or CBT improvement scores are associated with how important they rate alliance and adherence to be. Multiple linear regressions were conducted on the relevant data to investigate this aim.

A multiple linear regression significantly predicted service users' alliance importance scores. Service users' adherence importance scores contributed significantly to the model, although service users' CBT symptom improvement ratings did not. A second multiple linear regression significantly predicted service users' adherence importance scores. Service users' alliance importance scores and CBT symptom improvement ratings significantly contributed to the model.

Service users who experienced greater symptom improvement in CBT viewed adherence (but not alliance) as more important, with a partial correlation of r=0.21. Service users who viewed alliance as more important also viewed adherence as more important and vice versa (see Tables 4 and 5).

Table 4.

Results of multiple linear regression predicting service user alliance importance scores

Independent v	ariables	summa	ary			Model summary						
Independent	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial	Degrees of	Outliers	F	\mathbb{R}^2	Durbin-		
variable					correlation	freedom	removed	(significance)	(R ² Adjusted)	Watson value		
Constant	1.96	0.33		6.00 (p<0.001)								
Adherence	0.69	0.06	0.73	11.85 (p<0.001)	0.72							
importance												
score												
CBT	-0.05	0.04	-0.07	-1.21 (p=0.23)	-0.10							
improvement												
score												
						2, 134	3	70.88	0.51 (0.51)	1.76		
								(p<0.001)				

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta.

Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

122

Table 5.

Independent v	ariable	s summa	ary			Model summ	nary			
Independent	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial	Degrees of	Outliers	F	R ²	Durbin-
variable					correlation	freedom	removed	(significance)	⁽ R²Adjusted)	Watson value
Constant	0.90	0.37		2.42 (p=0.02)						
Alliance	0.74	0.06	0.73	11.85 (p<0.001)	0.72					
importance										
score										
CBT	0.11	0.04	0.15	2.50 (p=0.01)	0.21					
improvement										
score										
						2, 134	3	75.73	0.53 (0.52)	1.99
								(p<0.001)		

Results of multiple linear regression predicting service user adherence importance scores

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta.

Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Hypothesis Five

A multiple linear regression significantly predicted therapists' alliance importance scores. Only therapists' adherence importance scores contributed significantly to the model. A second multiple linear regression significantly predicted therapists' adherence importance scores. Only therapists' alliance importance scores and age contributed significantly to the model.

The results only partially supported the hypothesis that therapists' characteristics would be associated with higher alliance importance ratings and lower adherence importance ratings. Older therapists viewed adherence as less important, with a partial correlation between therapist age and adherence ratings of r = -0.31. Therapists who viewed the alliance as more important also viewed adherence as more important and vice versa (see Tables 6 and 7).

Table 6.

Results of multiple linear regression predicting therapist self-rated alliance importance scores

Independent variables s			Model summary							
Independent variable	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial correlation	Degrees of freedom	Outliers removed	F (significance)	R ² (R ² Adjusted)	Durbin- Watson value
Constant	2.02	0.88		2.31 (p=0.24)						
Therapist adherence importance score	0.62	0.08	0.69	7.96 (p<0.001)	0.70					
TES total	< 0.00	0.01	-0.00	-0.04 (p=0.97)	-0.01					
IUS-12 total	-0.01	0.01	-0.08	-0.82 (p=0.42)	-0.10					
Years' experience delivering CBT	< 0.00	0.01	0.04	0.33 (p=0.75)	0.04					
Age	0.01	0.01	0.19	1.72 (p=0.09)	0.21					
Gender*	-0.14	0.13	-0.09	-1.03 (p=0.31)	-0.13					
						6, 67	1	13.47 (p<0.001)	0.55 (0.51)	1.84

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta, *Gender coded as 0=female, 1=male

Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Table 7.

Independent variables s	summary					Model sum				
Independent variable	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial correlation	Degrees of freedom	Outliers removed	F (significance)	R ² (R ² Adjusted)	Durbin- Watson value
Constant	0.43	0.94		0.46 (p=0.65)						
Therapist alliance importance score	0.81	0.09	0.75	9.06 (p<0.001)	0.75					
TES total	0.02	0.01	0.15	1.84 (p=0.07)	0.22					
IUS-12 total	< 0.00	0.01	0.03	0.29 (p=0.77)	0.04					
Years' experience delivering CBT	0.01	0.01	0.09	0.87 (p=0.39)	0.11					
Age	-0.02	0.01	-0.27	-2.62 (p=0.01)	-0.31					
Gender*	0.13	0.14	0.08	0.95 (p=0.35)	0.12					
						6, 66	2	16.75 (p<0.001)	0.60 (0.57)	2.16

Results of multiple linear regression predicting therapist self-rated adherence importance scores

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta, *Gender coded as 0=female, 1=male Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Hypothesis Six

A multiple linear regression significantly accounted for therapists' predictions of service users' alliance importance scores. Only therapists' adherence importance scores, gender, and empathy contributed significantly to the model. A second multiple linear regression significantly predicted therapists' predictions of service users' adherence importance scores. Only therapists' alliance importance scores contributed significantly to the model.

The results only partially supported the hypothesis that therapists' characteristics would be associated with higher predictions of service users' alliance importance ratings and lower predictions of service users' adherence importance ratings. More empathetic and female therapists thought that service users would view the alliance as more important. Therapists who viewed alliance as more important also thought service users would view adherence as more important. Therapists who viewed adherence as more important also thought service users would view alliance as more important also thought service therapists and portant also thought service users would view alliance as more important (see Tables 8 and 9)

Table 8.

Results of multiple linear regression predicting therapist-predicted service user alliance importance scores

Independent variables s				Model summary						
Independent variable	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial correlation	Degrees of freedom	Outliers removed	F (significance)	R ² (R ² Adjusted)	Durbin- Watson value
Constant	0.93	1.20		0.78 (p=0.44)						
Therapist adherence importance score	0.37	0.11	0.37	3.49 (p=0.001)	0.39					
TES total	0.04	0.02	0.23	2.17 (p=0.03)	0.26					
IUS-12 total	0.01	0.01	0.09	0.77 (p=0.44)	0.09					
Years' experience delivering CBT	0.02	0.01	0.22	1.65 (p=0.10)	0.20					
Age	< 0.00	0.01	0.04	0.31 (p=0.75)	0.04					
Gender*	-0.39	0.18	-0.23	-2.20 (p=0.03)	-0.22					
						6, 68	0	4.87 (p<0.001)	0.30 (0.24)	1.87

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta, *Gender coded as 0=female, 1=male Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Table 9.

Results of multiple linear regression predicting therapist-predicted service user adherence importance scores

Independent variables s					Model summary					
Independent variable	В	SE	β	t (significance)	Partial correlation	Degrees of freedom	Outliers removed	F (significance)	R ² (R ² Adjusted)	Durbin- Watson value
Constant	1.10	1.40		0.78 (p=0.44)						
Therapist alliance importance score	0.52	0.14	0.42	3.85 (p<0.001)	0.42					
TES total	0.03	0.02	0.16	1.47 (p=0.15)	0.18					
IUS-12 total	-0.01	0.02	-0.10	-0.86 (p=0.39)	-0.10					
Years' experience delivering CBT	0.01	0.02	0.09	0.63 (p=0.53)	0.08					
Age	-0.01	0.01	-0.16	-1.18 (p=0.24)	-0.14					
Gender*	0.02	0.21	0.01	0.11 (p=0.91)	0.01					
						6, 68	0	4.11 (p=0.001)	0.27 (0.20)	2.46

Key: B=Unstandardized B, SE=Standardised Error, β = Standardised beta, *Gender coded as 0=female, 1=male Emboldened results indicate a statistical significance at an alpha level of 0.05

Discussion

This study had three key aims - first, to investigate whether CBT therapists and service users view alliance and adherence in CBT with similar levels of importance; second, to determine whether therapists can accurately predict service users' views on the importance of alliance and adherence; and finally to determine whether therapists' characteristics or service users' previous therapy experiences are associated with their views of alliance and adherence importance. Regarding the first aim, as hypothesised, therapists viewed alliance as more important than service users did, especially during early therapy. Contrary to hypothesis, therapists also viewed adherence as more important than service users did. Regarding the second aim, contrary to hypothesis, therapists were accurate at predicting service users' views on alliance importance. However, as hypothesised, therapists underestimated how important service users viewed the adherence to be in early and mid-therapy. Regarding the third aim, as hypothesised, older therapists viewed adherence as less important. Also, more empathetic therapists (as hypothesised) and female therapists predicted that service users would view the alliance as more important. Additionally, service users with more successful experiences of CBT viewed adherence as more important.

Comparison of Results to Previous Research

The finding that CBT therapists viewed alliance and adherence as more important than service users accords with some previous research, but contrasts with others. For example, Van Grieken et al. (2016) discovered that mental health professionals and service users ascribed similar levels of priority to alliance- and
technique-related items in treating depression, rather than showing discrepancy. Elsewhere, service users ascribed a greater degree of therapeutic change to the role of models/techniques than integrative therapists did in a study by Thomas (2006). This finding is in contrast with the current finding that therapists view adherence to techniques as more important than service users do. However, it does reflect the current pattern of results in which therapists underestimated the importance of adherence to service users. Thomas (2006) also discovered that therapists ascribed a similar but slightly higher degree of therapeutic change to alliance than service users did, which was in line with the current research. Taken together, these findings suggest that clinicians are unlikely to view the alliance as less important than service users' views appear to be more variable.

The current research also found that some therapists' characteristics are associated with their views on the importance of alliance and adherence. For example, older (but not more experienced) therapists ascribed less importance to adherence. This finding partially corresponds with previous findings that older therapists, but also more experienced therapists, were more likely to avoid delivery of therapy techniques (Waller, Stringer, et al., 2012). The current research also found that more empathetic therapists predicted that service users would view the alliance as more important. This finding corresponds to a previous meta-analysis in which alliance was found to be significantly related to perceptions of the therapists' empathy (Nienhuis et al. 2018).

Contrary to expectation, anxiety was not predictive of therapists' alliance or adherence scores. This finding contrasts with previous research in CBT for eating disorders, which indicated more anxious therapists were more likely to show concerns

131

about adherence to techniques and avoid using them (Mulkens et al., 2018; Turner et al., 2014; Waller, Stringer, et al., 2012).

Current Results and their Relation to Psychological Theory

Why Do Therapists View Adherence and Alliance as More Important Than Service Users Do?

It is unclear why therapists ascribed higher importance to both alliance and adherence than service users did. Previous research indicates that service users' perspectives on the alliance are more strongly associated with therapeutic outcomes than therapists' perspectives (Horvath et al., 2011). Therefore, service users' perspectives on the importance of therapy components might be more accurate regarding actual outcomes. If this suggestion is correct, therapists' higher ratings of adherence and alliance importance in the current study might represent an overestimation of the importance of these components. This finding might be explained by therapists' overall positive bias towards therapy, as noted in the literature. For example, therapists have been found to overestimate other elements of therapy, such as the effectiveness of their own skills and the outcomes of therapy (Brosan et al., 2008; Macdonald & Mellor-Clark, 2015; Walfish et al., 2012).

The tendency of CBT therapists to overestimate the role of both alliance and treatment techniques in explaining outcomes has been observed by D'Souza Walsh et al. (2019). They theorise that therapists might place more importance on elements of therapy they can control, and neglect the other factors in recovery, such as those external to the therapy process. This notion is supported by Van Grieken et al.'s (2016) findings, in which extra-therapeutic factors such as social support and time spent on waiting lists were perceived to be more important by service users than clinicians.

Why Do Therapists and Service Users Disagree About Early Alliance?

The biggest difference between service users' and therapists' beliefs was seen in early therapy, where therapists believed the alliance to be more important than service users. An early focus on alliance might reflect the elements of alliance-building which involve setting goals and tasks for therapy, in order to determine the direction of therapy ahead (Bordin, 1979). Therapists might place more importance on the alliance early in therapy as they might feel a greater sense of responsibility for driving these processes. If therapists do experience a greater sense of responsibility, this might be underpinned by findings that variations in therapists' contributions to the alliance have a larger impact on outcomes than service users' contributions to the alliance (Baldwin et al., 2007; Del Re et al., 2012)

The greater importance therapists place on early alliance might also be related to beliefs that the alliance is important in driving later therapeutic outcomes. These beliefs have been reported by CBT therapists in previous studies (Brown et al., 2013a; Mulkens et al., 2018). These beliefs might not be shared by service users, given the discrepancy in early alliance importance scores between service users and therapists.

Why Do Therapists Underestimate the Importance of Adherence to Service Users?

The results indicate that therapists view adherence as more important than service users, but underestimate the importance of adherence to service users. This underestimation might be explained by the idea that therapists value adherence to techniques but hold concerns about how techniques will be received by service users. For example, Deacon et al. (2013) discovered that therapists hold negative beliefs about exposure, including that it might harm the therapeutic relationship and be experienced as intolerable for service users. Therapists have also previously shown concerns that adherence to protocolised techniques (Addis et al., 2006) and use of homework (Kazantzis et al., 2005) might negatively impact the therapeutic relationship. Therefore, the observed "therapist drift", in which therapists avoid using evidence-based techniques (Waller, 2009; Waller & Turner, 2016), might be driven by therapists' concerns over how adherence to these techniques will be accepted by service users. In turn, these concerns might result in an under-estimation by clinicians of service users' preference for adherence. Furthermore, if therapists believe adherence can negatively impact alliance, they might assume service users show reduced preference for adherence early in therapy, particularly if they believe early alliance and therapeutic relationship development are required to start the therapeutic change process (Brown et al., 2013a; Mulkens et al., 2018).

Why are Therapists' Characteristics and Service Users' Experiences of CBT Associated with Beliefs About Alliance and Adherence Importance?

It is surprising that therapist age, but not experience, was associated with adherence importance scores, and difficult to theorise why this might be the case. Addis et al. (2006) argued that therapists might become bored and dissatisfied with adherence to manualised therapies. This boredom might increase over time, leading to reductions in the degree to which adherence is viewed as important in older therapists. However, by this explanation, we would expect to see the same effect in therapists with a greater number of years' experience. Another explanation might be that as rigidity of thinking increases with age (Schultz & Searleman, 2002), older therapists might be less open to learning and adhering to protocolised techniques.

It is also surprising that anxiety was not associated with therapists' alliance or adherence scores. A possible explanation is that therapist anxiety might only be associated with the use of certain techniques, such as anxiety-related behavioural techniques, rather than adherence in general.

Results indicated that more empathetic, female therapists attributed higher levels of alliance importance to service users. This finding might relate to previous findings that stronger alliances are associated with female and more empathetic therapists (Bhati, 2014; Nienhuis et al., 2018). If therapists with these characteristics form stronger alliances, they might then attribute a greater degree of successful therapy outcome to this stronger alliance, making predictions that alliance is more important for service users also. It is interesting to note, however, that neither empathy nor gender were predictive of therapist self-ratings of alliance importance.

It is also interesting to note that service users who experienced greater symptom improvement in CBT also viewed adherence as more important. The reason for this association is unclear. However, in a qualitative study by Nilsson et al. (2007), service users who were satisfied with CBT displayed a greater desire to engage in practical strategies to overcome their difficulties and wanted expert input to achieve this. Service users who were dissatisfied with CBT, meanwhile, wanted more understanding and reflection from the therapy. Therefore, it might be that service users in the current study benefitted more from CBT if they had an adherence-motivated approach. However, strong conclusions cannot be drawn from the current study, given the non-causal nature of the data.

Limitations

The current research has several limitations. Firstly, therapists and service users were not recruited as dyads, due to practical limitations. Therefore, the therapists and service users recruited might represent different underlying populations, which might have impacted on their responses. Also, data were not taken on the type or context of CBT that participants engaged in. Therefore, comparisons between groups regarding CBT type or context cannot be made. Without those data, it is not possible to see whether the many different areas of CBT treatment were represented in the study findings, or whether some types of CBT were over-represented. Further difficulties with the CBT therapist sample include questions of how representative this sample is of CBT therapists more generally. For example, some therapists (n = 5) only listed their CBT qualifications as 'other', making it difficult to ascertain whether they were explicitly trained in CBT.

Some differences between participant groups were indicated by demographic data collected. Therapists had a higher mean age (47.1 years) than service users (32.2 years; see Table 1). The mean age difference between groups might have impacted on the results, as age predicted a reduction in adherence importance scores for therapists. The service users also had a higher proportion of female participants than therapists, which might have also impacted results.

Other limitations include the fact that the data were non-parametric. Therefore, three mixed ANOVAs capturing the interactions of within- and between-participant effects could not be conducted, as initially planned. Instead, between-participant effects were explored using twelve Mann-Whitney U tests. However, this increased number of statistical tests would have increased the likelihood of a familywise type one error. Conversely, small effects might have been missed for the multiple linear regression models predicting therapists' alliance and adherence scores. The large number of predictors included in these models indicate they were underpowered to detect smaller but still significant effects (Field, 2018).

Future Research

This study focused on investigating service users' and therapists' beliefs regarding alliance and adherence within CBT. Future research could expand upon this research by investigating similar beliefs within different therapeutic models, to see if a similar result emerges. Additionally, this study arguably over-simplified the concepts of alliance and adherence by averaging different elements of these concepts together. Future research could improve on this methodology by investigating the different components of alliance and adherence separately (for example, is the therapeutic bond seen as more important than agreement on goals?). The findings of this study could also be followed up with qualitative research, determining why therapists and service users express the beliefs that they do. This qualitative research could provide more insight into whether the author's theoretical explanations of the results were accurate. Future research could also investigate how important it is for therapists to accurately predict service users' preferences. For example, does therapy have better outcomes and higher service user satisfaction when the therapist is better able to predict service users' preferences? This question could be investigated by recruiting therapist-patient dyads and linking questionnaire results with therapy outcome data.

Future research could also address additional factors which have been shown to impact alliance and adherence, such as attachment style and treatment expectation (Folke et al., 2016; Puls et al., 2019). It would be valuable to determine how therapists might change their beliefs regarding the importance of therapy components, when working with clients with different attachment styles or presentations. Additional research could also focus more on the interaction between alliance and adherence, which might vary between service users. For example, some research indicates that adherence might be more important to therapy outcomes when therapeutic alliance is

137

lower (Barber et al., 2006; Gaston et al., 1998). It would be valuable to determine whether this finding is reflected in therapists' views and assumptions regarding interactions between alliance and adherence.

Clinical Implications

This research indicates that therapists are accurate in assuming the importance that service users ascribe to alliance within therapy. If therapists draw upon these assumptions to guide the focus of therapy, the amount of importance and focus therapists place on alliance within therapy is likely to reflect service users' preferences. Therefore, therapists are encouraged to continue placing importance and focus upon alliance-building within the therapy process. However, therapists are also encouraged to prioritise adherence to techniques, especially within early and mid-therapy. Therapists should be aware that they might not be focusing on adherence as much as service users would like, particularly if they assume service users to hold negative beliefs about adherence.

Therapists should be encouraged to ask about service users' preferences for therapy, rather than making assumptions. Asking about service users' preferences might empower service users, communicating to them that their beliefs are important. If therapists' assumptions about service users' lack of preference for adherence are unfounded, therapists might feel more confident in promoting adherence to techniques early on in therapy. If therapists' assumptions are found to be accurate and service users do show a lack of interest in adherence, this gives therapists an opportunity to discuss the rationale for adherence to techniques in greater detail. Hopefully, this discussion would encourage service users' greater acceptance of the treatment rationale, which has been associated with positive outcomes (Addis & Jacobson, 2000). Therapists should also remember that service users who are reticent about adherence to techniques at the start of therapy might change their opinions following successful treatment, given that the current research indicates that better CBT outcomes are associated with higher service user ratings of adherence importance.

It has also been theorised that therapists might avoid adherence to techniques if they believe that adherence to techniques might harm the alliance. Beliefs that adherence and alliance conflict can be challenged by reference to CBT studies indicating positive associations between alliance and adherence (Addis et al., 2006; Brauhardt et al., 2014; Loeb et al., 2005; Puls et al., 2019). However, even when adherence might threaten the alliance, research indicates that alliance ruptures are associated with better therapy outcomes, if ruptures are tolerated and repaired by the therapist (Eubanks et al., 2018; Safran et al., 2011). Therefore, therapists are encouraged to promote adherence to techniques, even at the risk of alliance ruptures, as addressing and repairing these ruptures might be an important part of ultimately successful therapy.

Conclusion

CBT therapists believe alliance and adherence to techniques to be more important for CBT outcomes than service users do. Therapists also give accurate predictions regarding how important alliance is to service users. If therapists draw upon these predictions to guide therapy, then the amount of focus that therapists assign to alliance building is likely to reflect the preferences of service users. However, therapists, especially those who are older, underestimate how important service users view adherence to be in early and mid-therapy. CBT therapists are encouraged to prioritise adherence throughout therapy, particularly as service users who viewed adherence as more important reported more successful CBT outcomes.

References

- Addis, M. E., & Jacobson, N. S. (2000). A closer look at the treatment rationale and homework compliance in cognitive-behavioral therapy for depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24, 313–326. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005563304265
- Addis, M. E., & Krasnow, A. D. (2000). A national survey of practicing psychologists' attitudes toward psychotherapy treatment manuals. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(2), 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006X.68.2.331
- Addis, M. E., Wade, W. A., & Hatgis, C. (2006). Barriers to dissemination of evidence-based practices: Addressing practitioners' concerns about manual-based psychotherapies. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 6(4), 430–441. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.6.4.430
- Agras, W. S., Crow, S. J., Halmi, K. A., Mitchell, J. E., Wilson, G. T., & Kraemer, H. C. (2000). Outcome predictors for the cognitive behavior treatment of bulimia nervosa: Data from a multisite study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(8), 1302–1308. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.8.1302
- Baldwin, S. A., Wampold, B. E., & Imel, Z. E. (2007). Untangling the alliance-outcome correlation: Exploring the relative importance of therapist and patient variability in the alliance. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(6), 842–852. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.75.6.842
- Barber, J. P. (2009). Toward a working through of some core conflicts in psychotherapy research. *Psychotherapy Research*, *19*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300802609680

- Barber, J. P., Gallop, R., Crits-Christoph, P., Frank, A., Thase, M. E., Weiss, R. D., & Connolly Gibbons, M. B. (2006). The role of therapist adherence, therapist competence, and alliance in predicting outcome of individual drug counselling: Results from the National Institute Drug Abuse Collaborative Cocaine Treatment Study. *Psychotherapy Research*, *16*(2), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300500288951
- Beck, A. T., Rush, A. J., Shaw, B. F., & Emery, G. (1979). Cognitive therapy of depression. Guilford Press.
- Becker, C. B., Darius, E., & Schaumberg, K. (2007). An analog study of patient preferences for exposure versus alternative treatments for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 45(12), 2861–2873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.05.006
- Becker, C. B., Meyer, G., Price, J. S., Graham, M. M., Arsena, A., Armstrong, D. A., & Ramon, E. (2009). Law enforcement preferences for PTSD treatment and crisis management alternatives. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47(3), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.01.001
- Becker, C. B., Zayfert, C., & Anderson, E. (2004). A survey of psychologists' attitudes towards and utilization of exposure therapy for PTSD. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(3), 277–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00138-4

Bennett-Levy, J. (2003). Mechanisms of change in cognitive therapy: The case of automatic thought records and behavioural experiments. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *31*, 261–277.
https://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465803003035

- Bhati, K. S. (2014). Effect of client-therapist gender match on the therapeutic relationship: An exploratory analysis. *Psychological Reports*, 115(2), 565–583. https://doi.org/10.2466/21.02.PR0.115c23z1
- Blackburn, I. M., James, I. A., Milne, D. L., Baker, C., Standart, S., Garland, A., &
 Reichelt, F. K. (2001). The revised cognitive therapy scale (CTS-R):
 Psychometric properties. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 29(4), 431–446. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1352465801004040
- Bordin, E. S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 16*(3), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085885
- Brauhardt, A., de Zwaan, M., Herpertz, S., Zipfel, S., Svaldi, J., Friederich, H. C., &
 Hilbert, A. (2014). Therapist adherence in individual cognitive-behavioral
 therapy for binge-eating disorder: Assessment, course, and predictors. Behaviour
 Research and Therapy, 61, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.07.014
- Brosan, L., Reynolds, S., & Moore, R. G. (2008). Self-evaluation of cognitive therapy performance: Do therapists know how competent they are? *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *36*(5), 581–587.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1352465808004438
- Brown, A., Mountford, V., & Waller, G. (2013a). Therapeutic alliance and weight gain during cognitive behavioural therapy for anorexia nervosa. *Behaviour Research* and Therapy, 51(4–5), 216–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2013.01.008
- Brown, A., Mountford, V., & Waller, G. (2013b). Is the therapeutic alliance overvalued in the treatment of eating disorders? *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46(8), 779–782. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22177 142

Brown, A., Mountford, V., & Waller, G. (2014). Clinician and practice characteristics influencing delivery and outcomes of the early part of outpatient cognitive behavioural therapy for anorexia nervosa. *The Cognitive Behaviour Therapist*, 7(E10). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1754470X14000105

Carleton, R. N., Norton, M. A. P. J., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2007). Fearing the unknown: A short version of the Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 21(1), 105–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2006.03.014

- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Crits-Christoph, P., Gibbons, M. B. C., & Hearon, B. (2006). Does the alliance cause good outcome? Recommendations for future research on the alliance. *Psychotherapy*, 43(3), 280–285. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.43.3.280

Deacon, B. J., Farrell, N. R., Kemp, J. J., Dixon, L. J., Sy, J. T., Zhang, A. R., & McGrath, P. B. (2013). Assessing therapist reservations about exposure therapy for anxiety disorders: The Therapist Beliefs about Exposure Scale. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 27(8), 772–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.04.006

- Deacon, B. J., Lickel, J. J., Farrell, N. R., Kemp, J. J., & Hipol, L. J. (2013). Therapist perceptions and delivery of interoceptive exposure for panic disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 27, 259–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.02.004
- Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., Horvath, A. O., Symonds, D., & Wampold, B. E. (2012). Therapist effects in the therapeutic alliance-outcome relationship: A restricted-

maximum likelihood meta-analysis. Clinical Psychology Review, 32(7), 642–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.07.002

- DeRubeis, R. J., & Feeley, M. (1990). Determinants of change in cognitive therapy for depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 14(5), 469–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01172968
- Eubanks, C. F., Muran, J. C., & Safran, J. D. (2018). Alliance rupture repair: A metaanalysis. *Psychotherapy*, 55(4), 508–519. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000185
- Feeley, M., DeRubeis, R. J., & Gelfand, L. A. (1999). The temporal relation of adherence and alliance to symptom change in cognitive therapy for depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67(4), 578–582. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.67.4.578
- Field, A. P. (2018). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (5th ed.). SAGEPublications Ltd.
- Folke, S., Daniel, S. I. F., Gondan, M., Lunn, S., Takker, L., & Poulsen, S. (2017).
 Therapist adherence is associated with outcome in cognitive-behavioral therapy for bulimia nervosa. *Psychotherapy*, 54(2), 195–200.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000107
- Folke, S., Daniel, S. I. F., Poulsen, S., & Lunn, S. (2016). Client attachment security predicts alliance in a randomized controlled trial of two psychotherapies for bulimia nervosa. *Psychotherapy Research*, 26(4), 459–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2015.1027319
- Garcia, H. A., DeBeer, B. R., Mignogna, J., & Finley, E. P. (2019). Treatments veterans health administration PTSD specialty program providers report their patients

prefer: The role of training and theoretical orientation. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 11*(8), 837–841. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000442

- Gaston, L., Marmar, C. R., Gallagher, D., & Thompson, L. W. (1991). Alliance prediction of outcome beyond in-treatment symptomatic change as psychotherapy processes. *Psychotherapy Research*, 1(2), 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503309112331335531
- Gaston, L., Thompson, L., Gallagher, D., Coumoyer, L. G., & Gagnon, R. (1998).
 Alliance, technique, and their interactions in predicting outcome of behavioral, cognitive, and brief dynamic therapy. *Psychotherapy Research*, 8(2), 190–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503309812331332307
- Graves, T. A., Tabri, N., Thompson-Brenner, H., Franko, D. L., Eddy, K. T., Bourion-Bedes, S., Brown, A., Constantino, M. J., Flückiger, C., Forsberg, S., Isserlin, L., Couturier, J., Paulson Karlsson, G., Mander, J., Teufel, M., Mitchell, J. E., Crosby, R. D., Prestano, C., Satir, D. A., ... Thomas, J. J. (2017). A meta-analysis of the relation between therapeutic alliance and treatment outcome in eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *50*(4), 323–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22672
- Hale, W., Richmond, M., Bennett, J., Berzins, T., Fields, A., Weber, D., Beck, M., & Osman, A. (2016). Resolving uncertainty about the intolerance of uncertainty scale-12: Application of modern psychometric strategies. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 98(2), 200–208. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2015.1070355
- Haug, T., Nordgreen, T., Öst, L.-G., Tangen, T., Kvale, G., Hovland, O. J., Heiervang,E. R., & Havik, O. E. (2015). Working alliance and competence as predictors of 145

outcome in cognitive behavioral therapy for social anxiety and panic disorder in adults. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *77*, 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.12.004

- Hill, C. E. (2005). Therapist techniques, client involvement, and the therapeutic relationship: Inextricably intertwined in the therapy process. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 42*(4), 431–442.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.42.4.431
- Hipol, L. J., & Deacon, B. J. (2013). Dissemination of evidence-based practices for anxiety disorders in Wyoming: A survey of practicing psychotherapists. *Behavior Modification*, 37(2), 170–188.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445512458794
- Hogue, A., Dauber, S., Stambaugh, L. F., Liddle, H. A., & Cecero, J. J. (2006). Early therapeutic alliance and treatment outcome in individual and family therapy for adolescent behavior problems. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(1), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.1.121
- Hogue, A., Henderson, C. E., Dauber, S., Barajas, P. C., Fried, A., & Liddle, H. A.
 (2008). Treatment adherence, competence, and outcome in individual and family therapy for adolescent behavior problems. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *76*(4), 544–555. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.4.544
- Horvath, A. O., Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., & Symonds, D. (2011). Alliance in individual psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy*, 48(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022186

- Horvath, A. O., & Greenberg, L. S. (1989). Development and validation of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 36(2), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.36.2.223
- Horvath, A. O., & Symonds, B. D. (1991). Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counselling Psychology*, 38(2), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.38.2.139
- Kazantzis, N., Lampropoulos, G. K., & Deane, F. P. (2005). A national survey of practicing psychologists' use and attitudes toward homework in psychotherapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(4), 742–748. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.4.742
- Khawaja, N. G., & Yu, L. N. H. (2010). A comparison of the 27-item and 12-item intolerance of uncertainty scales. *Clinical Psychologist*, 14(3), 97-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/13284207.2010.502542
- Kirk, A., Broman-Fulks, J., & Bergquist, J. (2016). National attitudes towards mental health treatment: The importance of research evidence. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 45(6), 458–472. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2016.1201847
- Kolko, D. J., Cohen, J. A., Mannarino, A. P., Baumann, B. L., & Knudsen, K. (2009).
 Community treatment of child sexual abuse: A survey of practitioners in the national child traumatic stress network. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *36*, 37–49.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-008-0180-0
- Lambert, M., & Barley, D. (2001). Research summary on the therapeutic relationship and psychotherapy outcome. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 38*(4), 357–361. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-3204.38.4.357 147

- Loeb, K. L., Pratt, E. M., Walsh, B. T., Wilson, G. T., Labouvie, E., Hayaki, J., Agras, W. S., & Fairburn, C. G. (2005). Therapeutic alliance and treatment adherence in two interventions for bulimia nervosa: A study of process and outcome. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(6), 1097 107. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1097
- Lutz, W., Ehrlich, T., Rubel, J., Hallwachs, N., Röttger, M. A., Jorasz, C., Mocanu, S., Vocks, S., Schulte, D., & Tschitsaz-Stucki, A. (2013). The ups and downs of psychotherapy: Sudden gains and sudden losses identified with session reports. *Psychotherapy Research*, 23(1), 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2012.693837
- Macdonald, J., & Mellor-Clark, J. (2015). Correcting psychotherapists' blindsidedness:
 Formal feedback as a means of overcoming the natural limitations of therapists. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 22(3), 249–257.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.1887
- Martin, D. J., Garske, J. P., & Davis, K. M. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(3), 438–450.
 https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006X.68.3.438
- Meehl, P. E. (1973). Why I do not attend case conferences. In *Psychodiagnosis: Selected Papers* (pp. 225–302). University of Minnesota Press.
- Meyer, J. M., Farrell, N. R., Kemp, J. J., Blakey, S. M., & Deacon, B. J. (2014). Why do clinicians exclude anxious clients from exposure therapy? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 54, 49–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.01.004

- Mulkens, S., de Vos, C., de Graaff, A., & Waller, G. (2018). To deliver or not to deliver cognitive behavioral therapy for eating disorders: Replication and extension of our understanding of why therapists fail to do what they should do. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *106*, 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2018.05.004
- Nienhuis, J. B., Owen, J., Valentine, J. C., Winkeljohn Black, S., Halford, T. C.,
 Parazak, S. E., Budge, S., & Hilsenroth, M. (2018). Therapeutic alliance,
 empathy, and genuineness in individual adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic
 review. *Psychotherapy Research*, 28(4), 593–605.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2016.1204023
- Nilsson, T., Svensson, M., Sandell, R., & Clinton, D. (2007). Patients' experiences of change in cognitive-behavioral therapy and psychodynamic therapy: A qualitative comparative study. *Psychotherapy Research*, *17*(5), 553–566. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300601139988
- Pittig, A., Kotter, R., & Hoyer, J. (2019). The struggle of behavioral therapists with exposure: Self-reported practicability, negative beliefs, and therapist distress about exposure-based interventions. *Behavior Therapy*, 50, 353–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2018.07.003
- Puls, H. C., Schmidt, R., & Hilbert, A. (2019). Therapist adherence and therapeutic alliance in individual cognitive-behavioural therapy for adolescent binge-eating disorder. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 27(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2650
- Raykos, B. C., McEvoy, P. M., Erceg-Hurn, D., Byrne, S. M., Fursland, A., & Nathan,P. (2014). Therapeutic alliance in enhanced cognitive behavioural therapy for

bulimia nervosa: Probably necessary but definitely insufficient. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *57*(1), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.04.004

- Rees, C. S., McEvoy, P., & Nathan, P. R. (2005). Relationship between homework completion and outcome in cognitive behaviour therapy. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 34(4), 242–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506070510011548
- Reid, A. M., Guzick, A. G., Glor, A., Deacon, B., McNamara, J. P. H., Geffken, G. R., McCarty, R., & Striley, C. W. (2018). Exposure therapy for youth with anxiety: Utilization rates and predictors of implementation in a sample of practicing clinicians from across the United States. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 58, 8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2018.06.002
- Sackett, D. L., Strauss, S. E., Richardson, W. S., Rosenberg, W., & Haynes, R. B.(2000). *Evidence-based medicine: How to practice and teach EBM* (2nd ed.).Churchill Livingstone.
- Safran, J. D., Muran, J. C., & Eubanks-Carter, C. (2011). Repairing alliance ruptures. *Psychotherapy*, 48(1), 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022140
- Schultz, P. W., & Searleman, A. (2002). Rigidity of thought and behavior: 100 years of research. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, 128(2), 165-207.
- Shafran, R., Clark, D. M., Fairburn, C. G., Arntz, A., Barlow, D. H., Ehlers, A.,
 Freeston, M., Garety, P. A., Hollon, S. D., Ost, L. G., Salkovskis, P. M.,
 Williams, J. M. G., & Wilson, G. T. (2009). Mind the gap: Improving the
 dissemination of CBT. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47, 902–909.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.07.003

- Sprens, N. R., McKinnon, M. C., Mar, R. A., & Levine, B. (2009). The Toronto empathy questionnaire: Scale development and initial validation of a factoranalytic solution to multiple empathy measures. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 91*(1), 62–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890802484381.
- Strunk, D. R., Brotman, M. A., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2010). The process of change in cognitive therapy for depression: Predictors of early inter-session symptom gains. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(7), 599–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.03.011
- Tang, T. Z., & DeRubeis, R. J. (1999). Sudden gains and critical sessions in cognitivebehavioral therapy for depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67(6), 894–904. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006X.67.6.894
- Thomas, M. L. (2006). The contributing factors of change in a therapeutic process. *Contemporary Family Therapy, 28,* 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10591-006-9000-4
- Turner, H., Bryant-Waugh, R., & Marshall, E. (2015). The impact of early symptom change and therapeutic alliance on treatment outcome in cognitive-behavioural therapy for eating disorders. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 73, 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.08.006
- Turner, H., Tatham, M., Lant, M., Mountford, V. A., & Waller, G. (2014). Clinicians' concerns about delivering cognitive-behavioural therapy for eating disorders. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *57*, 38-42.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.04.003

- Vall, E., & Wade, T. D. (2015). Predictors of treatment outcome in individuals with eating disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal* of Eating Disorders, 48(7), 946–971. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22411
- Van Grieken, R. A., Verburg, H. F., Koeter, M. W. J., Stricker, J., Nabitz, U. W., & Schene, A. H. (2016). Helpful factors in the treatment of depression from the patient's, carer's and professional's perspective: A concept map study. *PLoS ONE*, 11(12), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167719
- Walfish, S., McAlister, B., O'Donnell, P., & Lambert, M. J. (2012). An investigation of self-assessment bias in mental health providers. *Psychological Reports*, *110*(2), 639–644. https://doi.org/10.2466/02.07.17.PR0.110.2.639-644
- Waller, G. (2009). Evidence-based treatment and therapist drift. *Behaviour Research* and Therapy, 47(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2008.10.018
- Waller, G., Evans, J., & Stringer, H. (2012). The therapeutic alliance in the early part of cognitive-behavioral therapy for the eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 45(1), 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20914
- Waller, G., Stringer, H., & Meyer, C. (2012). What cognitive behavioral techniques do therapists report using when delivering cognitive behavioral therapy for the eating disorders? *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 80(1), 171–175. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026559
- Waller, G., & Turner, H. (2016). Therapist drift redux: Why well-meaning clinicians fail to deliver evidence-based therapy, and how to get back on track. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 77, 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2015.12.005

- Wampold, B. E. (2015). How important are the common factors in psychotherapy? An update. *World Psychiatry*, *14*(3), 270–277. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20238
- Webb, C. A., Derubeis, R. J., Amsterdam, J. D., Shelton, R. C., Hollon, S. D., & Dimidjian, S. (2011). Two aspects of the therapeutic alliance: Differential relations with depressive symptom change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79(3), 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023252
- Webb, C. A., DeRubeis, R. J., & Barber, J. P. (2010). Therapist adherence/competence and treatment outcome: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(2), 200–211. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018912
- Weiss, M., Kivity, Y., & Huppert, J. D. (2014). How does the therapeutic alliance develop throughout cognitive behavioral therapy for panic disorder? Sawtooth patterns, sudden gains, and stabilization. *Psychotherapy Research*, 24(3), 407– 418. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2013.868947
- Westra, H. A., Dozois, D. J. A., & Marcus, M. (2007). Expectancy, homework compliance, and initial change in cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(3), 363–373. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.75.3.363
- Whiteside, S. P. H., Deacon, B. J., Benito, K., & Stewart, E. (2016). Factors associated with practitioners' use of exposure therapy for childhood anxiety disorders. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 40, 29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.04.001
- Wiborg, J. F., Knoop, H., Wensing, M., & Bleijenberg, G. (2012). Therapist effects and the dissemination of cognitive behavior therapy for chronic fatigue syndrome in

community-based mental health care. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *50*(6), 393–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2012.03.002

Wilson, G. T., Fairburn, C. G., Agras, W. S., Walsh, B. T., & Kraemer, H. (2002).
Cognitive-behavioral therapy for bulimia nervosa: Time course and mechanisms of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *70*(2), 267–274.
https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.70.2.267

Appendix A: Ethical Approval Letter



Downloaded: 15/02/2019 Approved: 14/02/2019

lan Johnson Registration number: 170149433 Psychology Programme: DClinPsy

Dear lan

PROJECT TITLE: An investigation into the assumed importance of the alliance relative to adherence within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A comparison of therapists and service users beliefs APPLICATION: Reference Number 024425

On behalf of the University ethics reviewers who reviewed your project, I am pleased to inform you that on 14/02/2019 the above-named project was **approved** on ethics grounds, on the basis that you will adhere to the following documentation that you submitted for ethics review:

- University research ethics application form 024425 (dated 02/02/2019).
- Participant information sheet 1055750 version 1 (02/02/2019).
- Participant consent form 1055751 version 1 (02/02/2019).

The following optional amendments were suggested:

I am not sure if the applicant saw these comments below as there is no new information sheet. There are two separate information sheets, one for therapists and one for service users, but both say the same thing (except for a description of CBT for service users). It therefore isn't clear whether the respondent is completing the questionnaire as a service user or therapist. Could this be made clear? In the advert for the study you use a shortened version of the study title--perhaps it would be better to use this for both information sheets so that you remain consistent?

If during the course of the project you need to deviate significantly from the above-approved documentation please inform me since written approval will be required.

Yours sincerely

Jilly Martin Ethics Administrator Psychology

Appendix B: Information Sheets

Information sheet for service users:

What's important in therapy? Research study for people who have had Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT).

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before continuing, please read the below information regarding the research before continuing.

What does the study involve and who is invited?

The study involves asking people to rate the importance of different parts of cognitive behavioural therapy. Cognitive behavioural therapy is a talking therapy that aims to improve how people feel and reduce distress and mental health difficulties. Cognitive behavioural therapy involves helping people challenge and change their patterns of thinking and/or behaviour. We are interested in which parts of therapy people view as more important. We are specifically interested in the views of people who have delivered or received individual cognitive behavioural therapy.

People are invited to participate in the study if they have either delivered or received individual cognitive behavioural therapy within the last 2 years.

Participation in the study will involve completing some online questionnaires, asking you to rate how important you believe various parts of cognitive behavioural therapy to be. You will also be asked to complete some basic demographic questions.

The questionnaires will all be completed online and will take approximately 10 minutes of your time.

You will be provided with a debriefing sheet that outlines the study's aims in more detail after completing the questionnaires.

Can I withdraw at any time?

It is your choice whether you wish to take part. If you do decide to take part, you can still withdraw at any time during the study or two weeks after its completion. You do not have to give a reason for withdrawing.

If you agree to participate in the study, you will be asked to generate a unique ID code. If you wish to withdraw after you have completed the study, please email the lead researcher (details below) stating that this is the case and providing your ID code so that your data can be identified and withdrawn. Withdrawal of data is possible up until two weeks after completion.

How will my information be protected?

Data you provide will be collected and stored via the Qualtrics system, on a secure University computer network. Data will be kept securely in accordance with our ethics procedure. It will be password-protected and only members of the research team will have access.

How will my data be used?

This data is being collected as part of a research project conducted by lead researcher and Trainee Clinical Psychologist, Ian Johnson. This research will be used to write a thesis which fulfils part of their doctoral training.

The data that you provide will be aggregated with that of other respondents, to give the researchers an idea about general trends, rather than specific individuals. Your data may also be used by the researchers for subsequent studies, or by other researchers or alongside any scientific publications that arise from the data. However, if the data is used in this way, your response will remain anonymous.

The data will be available to the lead researcher, the lead researcher's supervisor and any collaborators or data processors (for example, statisticians) in an anonymous format. Findings from the data will also be presented in an anonymous format within the research thesis. These findings may also form part of a publication in an academic journal. The University of Sheffield will act as the Data Controller for this study. This means that the University is responsible for looking after your information and using it properly.

Who has approved this research?

The ethics of this research has been reviewed and approved by The University of Sheffield's Research Ethics Committee.

What if I wish to complain about the way the study has been carried out?

If you would like to make a complaint about this project, in the first instance you should contact the lead researcher. If you do not feel satisfied that your complaint has been dealt with appropriately you can contact the lead researcher's supervisor and head of department, Professor Glenn Waller on <u>g.waller@sheffield.ac.uk</u>. If you feel that your complaint has not been handled to your satisfaction following this, you can contact Dr. Thomas Webb, chair of the Department Ethics Subcommittee

on t.webb@sheffield.ac.uk

Contact Information

It is not anticipated that participation of the study will be distressing for participants. However, if there is anything unclear, if you have any further questions about the research, wish to withdraw from the study or make a complaint, please contact the lead researcher at his email below: Ian Johnson (ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk)

Alternatively, you can leave a telephone message with Amrit Sinha, Research Support Officer on: 0114 222 6650 and he will ask Ian to contact you.

Please click the arrow below to proceed to the consent statements.

[Link to consent statements]

Information sheet for therapists:

What's important in therapy? Research study for therapists who use CBT

You are being invited to take part in a research project. Before continuing, please read the below information regarding the research before continuing.

What does the study involve and who is invited?

The study involves asking people to rate the importance of different parts of cognitive behavioural therapy. We are interested in which parts of therapy people view as more important. We are specifically interested in the views of people who have delivered or received individual cognitive behavioural therapy.

People are invited to participate in the study if they have either delivered or received individual cognitive behavioural therapy within the last 2 years.

Participation in the study will involve completing some online questionnaires, asking you to rate how important you believe various components of cognitive behavioural therapy to be. You will also be asked to predict service users' responses when asked about the importance of therapy components. Finally, you will be asked to complete some additional questionnaires and some basic demographic questions.

The questionnaires will all be completed online and will take approximately 15 minutes of your time.

You will be provided with a debriefing sheet that outlines the study's aims in more detail after completing the questionnaires.

Can I withdraw at any time?

It is your choice whether you wish to take part. If you do decide to take part, you can still withdraw at any time during the study or two weeks after its completion. You do not have to give a reason for withdrawing. If you agree to participate in the study, you will be asked to generate a unique ID code. If you wish to withdraw after you have completed the study, please email the lead researcher (details below) stating that this is the case and providing your ID code so that your data can be identified and withdrawn. Withdrawal of data is possible up until two weeks after completion.

How will my information be protected?

Data you provide will be collected and stored via the Qualtrics system, on a secure University computer network. Data will be kept securely in accordance with our ethics procedure. It will be password-protected and only members of the research team will have access.

How will my data be used?

This data is being collected as part of a research project conducted by lead researcher and Trainee Clinical Psychologist, Ian Johnson. This research will be used to write a thesis which fulfils part of their doctoral training.

The data that you provide will be aggregated with that of other respondents, to give the researchers an idea about general trends, rather than specific individuals. Your data may also be used by the researchers for subsequent studies, or by other researchers or alongside any scientific publications that arise from the data. However, if the data is used in this way, your response will remain anonymous.

The data will be available to the lead researcher, the lead researcher's supervisor and any collaborators or data processors (for example, statisticians) in an anonymous format. Findings from the data will also be presented in an anonymous format within the research thesis. These findings may also form part of a publication in an academic journal.

The University of Sheffield will act as the Data Controller for this study. This means that the University is responsible for looking after your information and using it properly.

Who has approved this research?

The ethics of this research has been reviewed and approved by The University of Sheffield's Research Ethics Committee.

What if I wish to complain about the way the study has been carried out?

If you would like to make a complaint about this project, in the first instance you should contact the lead researcher. If you do not feel satisfied that your complaint has been dealt with appropriately you can contact the lead researcher's supervisor and head of department, Professor Glenn Waller on <u>g.waller@sheffield.ac.uk</u>. If you feel that your complaint has not been handled to your satisfaction following this, you can contact Dr. Thomas Webb, chair of the Department Ethics Subcommittee

on <u>t.webb@sheffield.ac.uk</u>

Contact Information

It is not anticipated that participation of the study will be distressing for participants. However, if there is anything unclear, if you have any further questions about the research, wish to withdraw from the study or make a complaint, please contact the lead researcher at his email below:

Ian Johnson (ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk)

Alternatively, you can leave a telephone message with Amrit Sinha, Research Support Officer on: 0114 222 6650 and he will ask Ian to contact you.

Please click the arrow below to proceed to the consent statements.

[Link to consent statements]

Appendix C: Online Consent Form

Please read all of these statements and click 'I agree' below if you wish to give your consent

Taking Part in the Project

- I have read and understood the project information given on the previous page.
 (If you will answer 'No' to this question please do not proceed with this consent form until you are fully aware of what your participation in the project will mean.)
- I have been given the opportunity to contact the principal researcher to ask further questions about the project.
- I agree to take part in the project. I understand that taking part in the project will include completing a series of online questionnaires.
- I understand that my taking part is voluntary and that I can withdraw from the study at any time during the study or up to two weeks following completion of the study. I do not have to give any reasons for why I no longer want to take part and there will be no adverse consequences if I choose to withdraw.

How my information will be used during and after the project

• I understand my personal details such as name, phone number, address and email address etc. will not be collected or revealed to people outside the project.

- I understand and agree that other authorised researchers will have access to my data only if they agree to preserve the confidentiality of the information as requested in this form.
- I understand and agree that other authorised researchers may use my data in publications, reports, web pages, and other research outputs, only if they agree to preserve the confidentiality of the information as requested in this form.
- I give permission for the questionnaire data that I provide to be deposited in the Qualtrics system so it can be used for future research and learning

So that the information you provide can be used legally by the researchers

• I agree to assign the copyright I hold in any materials generated as part of this project to The University of Sheffield.

Do you wish to continue? To acknowledge that you have read and understood this information and would like to continue with the research study, please click on "I agree".

• I agree

C No, thank you

Project contact details for further information:

Principal Researcher: Ian Johnson (ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk)

Supervisor and Head of Department: Professor Glenn Waller (<u>g.waller@sheffield.ac.uk</u>) 166
Clinical Psychology Unit University of Sheffield Cathedral Court Floor F 1 Vicar Lane, Sheffield, S1 2LT

dclinpsy@sheffield.ac.uk

[Note that following consent, participants were asked to generate and make a record of a unique ID code, which was stored against their data. This ID code was be required in the event that they wished their data to be withdrawn from the study.]

Appendix D: Debrief Information

What's important in therapy? Comparing the views of those who have received and delivered CBT.

Thank you for taking part in this research.

The aim of this research is to explore people's beliefs about which parts of therapy are more important than others. We are specifically interested in the following:

The beliefs of those who have received therapy, to see if their beliefs are similar or different to those of therapists. The beliefs of people who deliver therapy (i.e. therapists), as what they believe to be important is likely to impact the therapy they deliver. Whether therapists are able to accurately predict which parts of CBT people who have received therapy believe to be important. Whether believing some parts of therapy to be more important than others is associated with specific characteristics or demographic factors.

You will need to provide us with your unique ID code if you wish to withdraw your data from the study. You are able to withdraw your data up to two weeks after study completion.

To withdraw your data, or ask any further questions regarding the study, please contact the principal researcher (details given below). If you wish to withdraw your data, remember to quote your unique ID code in your email, as this allows your data to be identified. This code should consist of the first two letters of your mother's surname, the day of the month that you were born (01 - 31) and the last two letters of your own first name.

Project contact details for further information:

Principal Researcher: Ian Johnson (ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk)

Supervisor and Head of Department: Professor Glenn Waller

(g.waller@sheffield.ac.uk)

Clinical Psychology Unit

University of Sheffield

Cathedral Court

Floor F

1 Vicar Lane,

Sheffield,

S1 2LT

dclinpsy@sheffield.ac.uk

Appendix E: Study Advertisements

Online advert for service users:

Email subject head / title of online post:

What's important in therapy? Research study for people who have had Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT).

Text of email / online post:

What's important in therapy? Research study for people who have had Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT).

I am looking for people who have had Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) therapy in the last 2 years to take part in a research project. Participating will help us to understand your views and preferences for CBT and could help us to improve the delivery of CBT in the future.

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy is a talking therapy that aims to improve how people feel and reduce distress and mental health difficulties. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy involves helping people challenge and change their patterns of thinking and/or behaviour. The research project will examine people's beliefs regarding the importance of different parts of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. Participation will involve completing some online questionnaires and will take approximately 10 minutes. The ethics of this research has been reviewed and approved by The University of Sheffield's Research Ethics Committee.

If you are interested, please could you click on the link below:

[Online Qualtrics link to information sheet, consent form, screening questionnaire, study questionnaire and debrief information]

Please also pass this message on to anyone else who you think may be willing to participate.

Thank you very much for your time,

Ian Johnson

Trainee Clinical Psychologist

Online advert for CBT therapists:

Email subject head:

What's important in therapy? Research study for therapists who use CBT

Text of email / online post:

What's important in therapy? Research study for therapists who use CBT

I am looking for people who deliver CBT therapy to take part in a research project. It is well established that CBT requires a balance of different skills and methods. Participating will help us to understand your views and preferences for CBT and could help us to improve the delivery of CBT in the future.

We are interested in your experience and opinions regarding the balance of those components that works best. Participation will involve completing some online questionnaires and will take approximately 15 minutes. The ethics of this research has been reviewed and approved by The University of Sheffield's Research Ethics Committee.

If you are interested, please could you click on the link below:

[Online Qualtrics link to information sheet, consent form, screening questionnaire, study questionnaire and debrief information]

Please also pass this message on to any colleagues who you think may be willing to participate.

Thank you very much for your time,

Ian Johnson

Trainee Clinical Psychologist

University of Sheffield

Supervised by Professor Glenn Waller

University of Sheffield

Appendix F: Screening Questionnaires

Service users screening questionnaire:

Please complete the following questions to determine your suitability for this study:

	Yes	No
I have received at least one course of individual (one-to-one) cognitive		
behavioural therapy (CBT) within the previous 2 years.		
I completed the full course of this therapy (i.e. I did not drop out of		
therapy before its completion).		
I was told that CBT was the main focus of this therapy, rather than		
another type of therapy with CBT elements.		

Therapists screening questionnaire:

Please complete the following questions to determine your suitability for this study:

	Yes	No
I have routinely delivered individual (one-to-one) cognitive		
behavioural therapy (CBT) within the previous 2 years.		
CBT was the main focus of this therapy, rather than another type of		
therapy with CBT elements.		
I have received training and qualification(s) in the delivery of CBT		

Appendix G: CBT Component Importance Questionnaire for Service Users

Within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), people meet with their therapist for a number of sessions. Together, these sessions make up a course of treatment. Throughout treatment, a number of different things will take place.

Below is a list of six common therapy experiences that take place in cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT). You may have experienced these when meeting with your therapist for your course of CBT treatment.

Please rate how important you believe each experience to be in order for therapy to have successful results. Please rate the importance of each item **during the first part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e. within the first third of a course of treatment).

Please give an importance rating for each experience, from 'No importance' to 'Crucial importance'

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	ο	ο	0	ο	0	ο	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	ο	ο	0	ο	0	ο	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ο
The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0

Now rate how important you believe each experience to be **during the middle part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e. within the middle third of a course of treatment)

	(No	(Very low	(Low	(Moderate	(High	(Very high	(Crucial
	importance)						
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	0	ο	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	0	ο	ο	ο	ο	0	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ο

The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)



Now rate how important you believe each experience to be **during the latter part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e. within the final third of a course of treatment)

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0

The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)

The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)

0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Finally, please provide the following demographic information

[Insert demographic questions; see Appendix J]

Appendix H: CBT Component Importance Questionnaire for Therapists

Below is a list of six common therapy experiences that take place in cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT).

Please rate how important you believe each experience to be in order for therapy to have successful results. Please rate the importance of each item during the first part of cognitive behavioural therapy (i.e. within the first third of a course of treatment).

Please give an importance rating for each experience, from 'No importance' to 'Crucial importance'

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	ο	ο	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	ο	ο	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0

Now rate how important you believe each experience to be **during the middle part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e. within the middle third of a course of treatment)

			~	~ ~ ~		~~	
	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
	importance)	importanec)	importanec)	importance)	importanec)	importune()	importanee)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	0	0	0	0	0	0	ο
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0	0

The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)



Now rate how important you believe each experience to be **during the latter part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e. within the final third of a course of treatment)

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	Ο	ο	Ο	Ο	Ο	0
The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0

Next we want to know what you believe service users think is important in CBT.

Please rate how important you believe **service users who have received CBT** would consider each experience to be for successful therapy results, **during the first part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e., within the first third of a course of treatment).

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	ο	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	0	Ο	Ο	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)	о	ο	ο	0	0	0	0

Please rate how important you believe **service users who have received CBT** would consider each experience to be for successful therapy results, **during the middle part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e., within the middle third of a course of treatment).

	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)	0	ο	0	0	ο	0	0

The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)	Ο	ο	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)	0	0	0	0	Ο	0	0

Now please rate how important you believe **service users who have received CBT** would consider each experience to be, **during the latter part of cognitive behavioural therapy** (i.e., within the final third of a course of treatment).

or cognitive behavioural therapy (i.e., within the inflatith of a course of treatment).								
	(No importance)	(Very low importance)	(Low importance)	(Moderate importance)	(High importance)	(Very high importance)	(Crucial importance)	
The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared goals for therapy (e.g. agreeing upon what the service user would like to get from therapy and/or how they would like things to be different by the end of therapy)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

The use of techniques to help service users notice and change patterns of behaviour they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a weekly diary of activities, planning new activities and noting how they impact mood, completing an anxiety-provoking experience to see how distressing this is, stopping previous unhelpful or troubling behaviours/actions and using relaxation techniques and/or controlled breathing)

The therapist and service user jointly agreeing upon shared tasks for treatment (e.g. planning out specific activities that are needed to reach goals)

The use of techniques to help service users identify and change patterns of thinking they find unhelpful or troubling (e.g. keeping a record of negative or distressing thoughts, considering the evidence for and against thoughts, thinking about more positive alternative thoughts, rating self and others using scales and/or using charts to decide how responsibility for events may be shared)

The therapist and service user developing and maintaining a positive emotional bond (e.g. development of mutual trust, respect and/or understanding between the therapist and service user)

The therapist and service user discussing and setting homework for the service user to carry out between therapy sessions (e.g. the use of previously mentioned techniques to notice and change patterns of behaviour or thinking outside of therapy)

0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	Ο	Ο	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Now, we would like to ask you a few questions about your own personal style

[Insert the Toronto Empathy Questionnaire (Sprens, McKinnon, Mar, & Levine, 2009; see Appendix H)][Insert the Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale Short Form (Carleton, Norton, & Asmundson, 2007; see Appendix I)]

[Insert demographic questions; see Appendix J]

Appendix I: The Toronto Empathy Questionnaire

[Removed for copyright reasons]

Appendix J: The Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale – Short Form

[Removed for copyright reasons]

Appendix K: Demographic and CBT Improvement Questions

Demographic and CBT improvement questions for service users:

Finally, please provide the following demographic information:

Your gender:

□ Male
□ Female
□ Other
□ Prefer Not To Say

Your age:

What impact do you believe CBT had on your symptoms/difficulties?

- □ CBT made my symptoms/difficulties worse
- □ CBT had no impact on my symptoms/difficulties
- □ CBT helped my symptoms/difficulties to improve a little
- □ CBT helped my symptoms/difficulties to improve moderately
- □ CBT helped my symptoms/difficulties to improve a large amount
- □ CBT helped me to recover from my symptoms/difficulties

Demographic questions for therapists:

Finally, please provide the following demographic information:

Your gender:

 \square Male

 \square Female

 \Box Other

 $\hfill\square$ Prefer Not To Say

Your age:

The number of years' experience you have delivering CBT:

Your professional qualifications (select all that apply):

- □ Doctorate in clinical psychology
- □ Doctorate or qualification in counselling psychology
- □ Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) qualification
- $\hfill\square$ Post-graduate diploma/certificate in CBT

 \Box Other

Appendix L: Normality Data and Plots for Aims One and Two

Kolmogorov-Smirnov, skewness and kurtosis statistics for alliance and adherence importance ratings:

Stage of	Alliance / adherence	Type of ratings	Kolmogorov-	Skewness	Kurtosis
therapy			Smirnov statistic	(Standard error)	(Standard error)
Early therapy	Average alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	0.165**	-1.717 (0.193)	4.528 (0.384)
		Therapist self-ratings	0.154**	-0.956 (0.243)	1.01 (0.481)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.136**	-0.438 (0.267)	-0.070 (0.529)
	Average adherence importance	Service user self-ratings	0.114**	-0.956 (0.193)	1.584 (0.384)
	ratings	Therapist self-ratings	0.127**	-0.432 (0.243)	-0.135 (0.481)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.118*	0.333 (0.267)	0.040 (0.529)
Mid therapy	Average alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	0.140**	-1.272 (0.201)	2.828 (0.400)
		Therapist self-ratings	0.124**	215 (0.251)	-0.903 (0.498)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.120*	-0.197 (0.274)	0.046 (0.541)
	Average adherence importance	Service user self-ratings	0.103**	-1.159 (0.201)	2.492 (0.400)
	ratings	Therapist self-ratings	0.140**	-0.739 (0.251)	-351 (0.498)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.130*	-0.262 (0.274)	-0.141 (0.541)

Stage of	Alliance / adherence	Type of ratings	Kolmogorov-	Skewness	Kurtosis
therapy			Smirnov statistic	(Standard error)	(Standard error)
Late therapy	Average alliance importance ratings	Service user self-ratings	0.089*	-0.596 (0.205)	0.902 (0.407)
		Therapist self-ratings	0.118*	-0.168 (0.254)	-1.198 (0.503)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.127*	0.142 (0.274)	-0.404 (0.541)
	Average adherence importance	Service user self-ratings	0.114**	-0.915 (0.205)	1.682 (0.407)
	ratings	Therapist self-ratings	0.113*	-0.346 (0.254)	-0.663 (0.503)
		Therapist-predicted service user ratings	0.098	-0.065 (0.274)	-0.649 (0.541)

Key: * = p < 0.05, ** = $p \le 0.001$



Early therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Early therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Early therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Early therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Early therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Early therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Mid therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Mid therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Mid therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Mid therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Mid therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Mid therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Late therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Late therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:





Late therapy, mean alliance importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Late therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, service user self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:




Late therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist self-ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:

Late therapy, mean adherence importance ratings, therapist-predicted service user ratings, histogram and Q-Q plot:



Appendix M: Multicollinearity, Variance, Homoscedacity, Linearity, Residual

Normality and Outlier Data and Plots for Aim Three

Service user data, bivariate Pearson correlations of predictors:

	Mean alliance	Mean adherence
	importance	importance
CBT improvement score	0.201 (p=0.02)	0.310 (p<0.001)

For all correlations, N=140

Service user data, collinearity statistics:

Response variable	Predictor variable	Tolerance	Variance
			inflation factor
Mean alliance importance	Mean adherence	0.96	1.04
	importance		
	CBT improvement score	0.96	1.04
Mean adherence	Mean alliance	1	1.01
importance	importance		
	CBT improvement score	1	1.01

Model variable	Range	Mean	Standard	Variance
			deviation	
Mean alliance	1-7	5.38	1.02	1.03
importance				
Mean adherence	1-7	5.28	1.08	1.17
importance				
CBT improvement	1-6	3.74	1.30	1.69
score				

Service user data, descriptive statistics:

Service user mean alliance importance residual scatterplot:



Scatterplot minus three outliers:



Service user mean alliance importance standardised residual histogram and Q-Q

plot:



Service user mean adherence importance residual scatterplot:



Scatterplot minus three outliers:



Service user mean adherence importance standardised residual histogram:





	TES Total	IUS Total	Years of	Age	Gender*	Mean alliance	Mean
			experience			importance	adherence
							importance
TES Total	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
IUS Total	-0.17 (p=0.16)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Years of experience	-0.13 (p=0.28)	-0.21 (p=0.07)	-	-	-	-	-
Age	-0.50 (p=0.67)	-0.28 (p=0.01)	0.63 (p<0.01)	-	-	-	-
Gender	-0.19 (p=0.10)	0.14 (p=0.23)	0.17	0.11	-	-	-
			(p=0.14)	(p=0.35)			
Mean alliance	0.19 (p=0.11)	-0.27 (p=0.02)	0.12	0.14	-0.04	-	-
importance			(p=0.31)	(p=0.22)	(p=0.74)		
Mean adherence	-0.19 (p=0.10)	-0.23 (p=0.047)	0.03	-0.06	0.01	0.65	-
importance			(p=0.82)	(p=0.61)	(p=0.94)	(p<0.01)	

Therapist data, bivariate Pearson correlations of predictors:

KEY: TES = Toronto Empathy Scale, IUS = Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale, Gender: 0=female, 1=male; For all correlations, N=140

Response variable	Predictor variable	Tolerance	Variance
			inflation factor
Mean alliance importance	TES Total	0.90	1.12
	IUS Total	0.81	1.23
	Years of experience	0.58	1.74
	Age	0.56	1.78
	Gender*	0.91	1.10
	Mean adherence	0.90	1.12
	importance		
Mean adherence importance	TES Total	0.90	1.11
	IUS Total	0.82	1.22
	Years of experience	0.58	1.73
	Age	0.58	1.73
	Gender	0.92	1.09
	Mean alliance importance	0.90	1.12
Mean predicted service user	TES Total	0.90	1.11
alliance importance	IUS Total	0.81	1.23
	Years of experience	0.58	1.74
	Age	0.56	1.77
	Gender	0.91	1.10
	Mean adherence	0.90	1.12
	importance		
Mean predicted service user	TES Total	0.90	1.11
adherence importance	IUS Total	0.82	1.22
	Years of experience	0.58	1.73
	Age	0.58	1.73
	Gender	0.92	1.09
	Mean alliance importance	0.90	1.12

Therapist data, collinearity statistics:

KEY: TES = Toronto Empathy Scale, IUS = Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale, Gender:

0=female, 1=male

Model variable	Range	Mean	Standard	Variance
			deviation	
Mean alliance importance	4.44-7	5.98	0.73	0.53
Mean adherence	3.44-7	5.83	0.79	0.63
importance				
Mean predicted service user	3.67-7	5.47	0.78	0.62
alliance importance				
Mean predicted service user	2.67-7	4.97	0.90	0.81
adherence importance				
TES total	42-61	50.12	4.89	23.86
IUS total	12-39	21.83	7.03	49.39
Years of experience	2-45	12.61	7.69	59.13
Age	25-73	47.08	11.45	130.99
Gender*	0-1	0.31	0.46	0.22

Therapist data, descriptive statistics:

KEY: TES = Toronto Empathy Scale, IUS = Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale, Gender:

0=female, 1=male

Therapist mean alliance importance residual scatterplot:



Scatterplot minus one outlier:



Therapist mean alliance importance standardised residual histogram and Q-Q

plot:





Therapist mean adherence importance residual scatterplot:



Scatterplot minus two outliers:



Therapist mean adherence importance standardised residual histogram and Q-Q

plot:



Regression Standardized Residual



Therapist mean predicted service user alliance importance residual scatterplot:



Therapist mean predicted service user alliance importance standardised residual histogram and Q-Q plot:



Therapist mean predicted service user adherence importance residual scatterplot:



Therapist mean predicted service user adherence importance standardised residual histogram and Q-Q plot:





Appendix N: Research Contract



Department Of Psychology. Clinical Psychology Unit.

Doctor of Clinical Psychology (DClin Psy) Programme Clinical supervision training and NHS research training & consultancy.

Clinical Psychologist in Training Research Contract (DClin Psy)

This contract is to be completed by the trainee, academic supervisor(s), clinical supervisor(s) and other significant individuals (including collaborating clinicians and service users) directly involved in the proposed study. All parties should retain a copy for their records and a copy should be included as a permanent part of the site file held by the principal researcher. The initial contract should be attached to the research proposal.

This contract covers the responsibilities of all involved in the undertaking of the proposed project and is open to amendment following the review and agreement of all parties concerned. In any event the contract would normally be reviewed annually until submission of the thesis and then quarterly until successful publication.

Precise details of research responsibilities and requirements should be obtained through consulting the Course Handbook, the University of Sheffield Guidebook for Research Students and Supervisors, and local NHS Research Governance documentation¹

Researcher Details

The principal researcher should be indicated by an asterisk and will normally be the academic supervisor as this is required by ethics. However, it should be clear that the trainee holds the primary responsibility for all aspects of the research. Each supervisor's designation should be described in terms of their occupational title and their role in the proposed study (i.e. academic supervisor, clinical supervisor, collaborator etc.). Continue on a separate sheet if necessary.

Address: Clinical Psychology Unit, University of Sheffield

Cathedral Court, Floor F, 1 Vicar Lane,

1. Trainee Details

Name: Ian Johnson

Date: 17/08/18

Signature: hellelan

Sheffield, S1 2LT

Telephone: 07925176839

Email: ijohnson1@sheffield.ac.uk

¹ This is not an exhaustive list and it is the researchers' responsibility to consult additional documentation relating to local responsibilities/requirements.

2.	Academic Supervisor Details

	Name: Professor Glenn Waller Add	ress: Department of Psychology, University of Sheffield
	Designation: Head of Department	Cathedral Court, Floor G, 1 Vicar Lane,
	Date: 17th August 2018	Sheffield, S1 2LT
	Signature: Clem Walle	
		Telephone: (+44) 0114 222 6568
		Email: g.waller@sheffield.ac.uk
3.	NHS/Clinical Liaison Supervisor Details	
	Name: Ad	dress:
	Designation:	
	Date:	
	Signature:	
		Telephone:
		Email:
4.	Additional Supervisor Details	
	Name: Add	dress:
	Designation:	
	Date:	
	Signature:	
		Telephone:
		Email:

Collaborator Details (continue on a separate sheet if more than one person is involved)

Name:	Address:
Designation or role:	
Date:	·····
Signature:	
	Telephone: Email:

Key responsibilities of all involved in the project

1. Trainee

5.

During the course of the research the trainee is responsible for:

- The overall development of the research
 - All practical aspects of the study (including recruitment, data management, analysis, budgeting.)
- Arranging and attending regular meetings with supervisors (It is helpful to arrange in advance a set of meetings for each stage of the research)
- · Preparing all research documentation (i.e. the research proposal, ethics form, indemnity forms, etc.)
- Submitting accurate expense claim forms.
- · Maintaining and updating the site file and this contract
- Ensuring that the academic supervisor has seen and commented upon all drafts or versions of the proposal prior to it being submitted to the research tutors.
- Ensuring that all supervisors and collaborators are kept informed of the progress of the research. It is envisaged that the trainee will prepare and circulate minutes of key research meetings indicating any actions that have been agreed and the date/s of forthcoming meetings. The trainee should ensure that copies of key documents and correspondence are forwarded to all supervisors. The trainee should take responsibility for liaising between supervisors and provide written updates to the research tutors as requested
- Reviewing and updating the research timetable as necessary and planning a research block that enables satisfactory completion of other aspects of the course.
- Ensuring that any documents as required by the course (see course handbook) are submitted to the course administrator in full and on time.
- To ensure that they comply with ethical and professional codes of conduct in carrying out the project including adhering to appropriate personal safety guidelines.
- Ensuring that any data containing personally identifiable information is stored securely.
- Ensuring that any drafts of work that have been agreed to be circulated are provided to supervisors
 within a sufficient time period to allow a realistic time for review (not usually less than 14 days)

Additional responsibilities agreed with the supervisors:

- •
- •
- •

Following completion of the research the trainee is responsible for:

- Ensuring that the site file and other documentation/data as necessary are lodged with the supervisor/course.
- Ensuring that local ethics/NRES and governance instructions relating to the completion of the research project are complied with.
- Ensuring that all supervisor(s) are offered a bound copy of the final thesis and appropriate feedback is provided to the collaborating service and if appropriate participants. The nature of the feedback required by the participating service should be negotiated prior to the trainee completing the course.
- Ensuring that data are stored securely, data files are backed up on computer and access to data for publication has been agreed with supervisors.
- Preparing manuscripts for publication in the target journals identified in the thesis²

Additional responsibilities agreed with the supervisors:

•

2. Academic Supervisor

During the research the academic supervisor is responsible for:

- Attending regular meetings with the trainee (It may be helpful to arrange in advance a set of meetings for each stage of the research)
- Advising the trainee in developing a psychologically relevant research proposal and ensuring that this
 complies with the department's/NHS research plan and is likely to lead to research of a publishable
 standard.
- Advise the trainee in considering ethical and professional concerns that may relate to the project including any relevant personal safety issues.
- Supporting the trainee in the preparation of all necessary research documentation.
- Advising the trainee on developing a realistic timetable and planning a research block that enables satisfactory completion of other aspects of the course.
- · Monitoring progress and if necessary advising on the revision of the timetable.
- Advising the trainee in addressing any methodological problems as they arise.
- Reading and commenting on a draft (it may be helpful to discuss the format and number of drafts that will be reviewed).

² Preliminary order of authorship should be indicated in the relevant section of this contract.

Additional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:

٠	
•	
•	а

Following completion of the research the academic supervisor is responsible for:

- Advising the trainee in preparing manuscripts for publication in the target journals identified in the thesis
- · Ensuring the site file and data is stored in a secure place and is accessible for any future audit process.

Additional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:

•

3. Clinical supervisor:

During the research the clinical supervisor is responsible for:

- Attending meetings with supervisors as needed (It may be helpful to arrange in advance a set of meetings for each stage of the research)
- Advising the trainee in developing a realistic timetable for the research and monitoring progress and if
 necessary assisting in revising the timetable.
- Advise the trainee in considering ethical and professional concerns that may relate to the project.
- · Supporting the trainee in being aware of and complying with appropriate local R & D procedures.
- Supporting the trainee in accessing participants.

Additional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:

•	•	
•	•	
•	•	ал. М

Following completion of the research the clinical supervisor is responsible for:

- Advising the trainee in preparing manuscripts for publication in the target journals identified in the thesis
- · Advising on the nature of the feedback required by the participating service.

Additional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:

.•)	
4.	Additional supervisor:
Durin	g the research the supervisor is responsible for:
•	Attending regular meetings with supervisors (It may be helpful to arrange in advance a set of meetings for each stage of the research) Advising the trainee in developing a realistic timetable for the research and monitoring progress and if necessary assisting in revising the timetable.
•	Supporting the trainee in considering entrear and professional concerns that may relate to the project. Supporting the trainee in being aware of and complying with appropriate local R and D procedures. Supporting the trainee in accessing participants.
Addit	ional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:
•	
•	
٠	······
Follow	ving completion of the research the supervisor is responsible for:
٠	Advising the trainee in preparing manuscripts for publication in the target journals identified in the thesis
•	Advising on the nature of the feedback required by the participating service.
Addit	ional responsibilities agreed with the trainee or other supervisor/s:
•	
5.	Additional collaborators:
Durin	g the research the supervisor is responsible for:
٠	
٠	
•	
	6

Following completion of the research the supervisor is responsible for:

•

7

Continue on a separate sheet if there are additional supervisors.

Authorship & dissemination

Please indicate a working title (or thesis section) for each planned publication and significant presentation/s relating to the thesis. Indicate the rationale for authorship. It is envisaged that the trainee will be the first author on all publications directly arising from the thesis. Additional collaborative publications arising in part from the thesis or data derived from the thesis may have another individual as the first author. It is envisaged that the two primary papers arising from the thesis would normally be submitted by the trainee within 18 months of submission. If this is not the case, the trainee should agree an alternative strategy (e.g. supervisor responsible for publication) with the supervisors concerned.

1. Proposed title or thesis section (i.e. literature review, empirical study etc.)

An investigation into the assumed value of the alliance relative to adherence within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A comparison of therapists' and service users' beliefs.

An investigation into the assumed importance of the alliance relative to adherence within Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: A comparison of therapists' and service users' beliefs.

Proposed order of authorship Ian Johnson, Glenn Waller

Rationale for authorship (including order)

As stated - "It is envisaged that the trainee will be the first author on all publications directly arising from the thesis"

Proposed submission date To be confirmed

2. Proposed title or thesis section (i.e. literature review, empirical study etc.)

Proposed journal / conference presentation / book chapter

.....

Proposed order of authorship

Rationale for authorship (including order)

.....

Proposed submission date
3. Proposed title or thesis section (i.e. literature review, empirical study etc.)
Proposed journal / conference presentation / book chapter
Proposed order of authorship
Rationale for authorship (including order)
Proposed submission date

9

Continue on a separate sheet if necessary.

Please update this contract at least once a year and at other times as necessary.